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EXPLANATORY NOTE
Currency and Exchange Rate Information

Unless otherwise indicated, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) to “$” or “dollars” are
expressed in U.S. dollars (US$). References in this Annual Report to Canadian dollars are noted as “C$.”

Our consolidated financial statements that are included in this Annual Report are presented in U.S. dollars. Unless otherwise
stated, all figures presented in Canadian dollars and translated into U.S. dollars were calculated using the daily average exchange rate
as reported by the H.10 statistical release of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System on December 31, 2022 of
C$1.3532 = US$1.00.

Market and Industry Data

Certain market and industry data contained in this Annual Report, including Item 1. “Business” and Item 7. “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” are based upon information from government or other
third-party publications, reports and websites or based on estimates derived from such publications, reports and websites. Government
and other third-party publications, reports and websites do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of their information. While
management believes this data to be reliable, market and industry data are subject to variations and cannot be verified with complete
certainty due to limits on the availability and reliability of raw data, the voluntary nature of the data-gathering process, and other
limitations and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey.



SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of “safe harbor”
provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws. All
statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this Annual Report, regarding without limitation our strategy, future
operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are
forward-looking statements. When used in this Annual Report, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “estimate,” “intend,”
“plan,” “project,” “outlook,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “can,” the negatives thereof, variations thereon and other
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such
identifying words. In particular and without limitation, this Annual Report contains forward-looking information pertaining to the
effect of our strategic priorities on increasing value creation; the application of our processes and technology and the benefits
therefrom, forecast operating and financial results, including 2023 revenue, and the impact of certain cost-saving measures, the
development, timing and success of strategic accounts, the outcome of non-dilutive strategy initiatives, the competitiveness of the
Company’s solutions, the liquidity and capital resources of the Company, current claims against the Company and expiring patents
will have on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects; our executive management team
and the effect the rating systems established by the U.S. Green Building Council will have on demand for products, systems and
services in the U.S. market. Forward-looking statements are based on certain estimates, beliefs, expectations and assumptions made in
light of management’s experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as
other factors that may be appropriate.
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Forward-looking statements necessarily involve unknown risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results or outcomes
to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. Due to the risks, uncertainties and assumptions inherent in
forward-looking information, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Factors that could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects include, but are not limited to, the
severity and duration of the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic and related economic repercussions and other risks described in
Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and
elsewhere in this Annual Report. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:

e the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and any strain variants or resurgences thereof on our business;
e general economic and business conditions in the jurisdictions in which we operate, including inflation;

e our ability to implement our strategic plan, including realization of benefits from certain cost-optimization
initiatives undertaken in 2022;

o the availability of capital or financing on acceptable terms, or at all, which may impact our liquidity and impair our
ability to make investments in the business;

e turnover of our key executives and difficulties in recruiting or retaining key employees;

o the ability of our reconstituted board of directors ("Board of Directors") to successfully implement its transformation
plan;

e we have a history of negative cash flow from operating activities;

e  our ability to attract, train and retain qualified hourly labor on a timely basis to increase overall productive capacity
in our manufacturing facilities to enable us to capture rising demand as the construction industry recovers from the
COVID-19 pandemic;

e our ability to achieve and manage growth effectively;

e competition in the interior construction industry;

e competitive behaviors by our co-founders and former executives;

e the condition and changing trends of the overall construction industry;

e our reliance on our network of construction partners ("Construction Partners"), which we have previously referred to
as our Distribution Partners, for sales, marketing and installation of our solutions;

e our ability to introduce new designs, solutions and technology and gain client and market acceptance;

e defects in our designing and manufacturing software and warranty and product liability claims brought against us;



¢ inflation and material fluctuations of commaodity prices, including raw materials and our ability to set prices for our
products that satisfactorily adjust for inflation and fluctuations in commodity prices;

o the effectiveness of our manufacturing processes and our success in implementing improvements to those processes;
o the effectiveness of certain elements of our administrative systems and the need for investment in those systems;

e shortages of supplies of certain key components and materials or disruption in supplies due to global events;

e global economic, political and social conditions and financial markets, such as the war in Ukraine;

e our exposure to currency exchange rates, tax rates, interest rates and other fluctuations, including those resulting
from changes in laws or administrative practice;

e legal and regulatory proceedings brought against us;

e infringement on our patents and other intellectual property;

e  cyber-attacks and other security breaches of our information and technology systems;

e damage to our information technology and software systems;

e our requirements to comply with applicable environmental, health and safety laws;

e the impact of increasing attention to environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters on our business;

e our ability to generate sufficient revenue to achieve and sustain profitability and achieve positive cash flows;
e periodic fluctuations in our results of operations and financial conditions;

e  volatility of our share price;

e our ability to maintain our listing on Nasdaq (as defined herein);

o the effect of being governed by the corporate laws of a foreign country, including the difficulty of enforcing civil
liabilities against directors and officers residing in a foreign country;

e the availability and treatment of government subsidies (including any current or future requirements to repay or
return such subsidies);

o future mergers, acquisitions, agreements, consolidations or other corporate transactions we may engage in; and

e other factors and risks described under the heading “Risk Factors” in Item 1A. of this Annual Report.

These risks are not exhaustive. Because of these risks and other risks and uncertainties, our actual results, performance or
achievement, or industry results, may be materially different from the anticipated or estimated results discussed in the forward-looking
statements in this Annual Report. New risk factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict all
risk factors nor can we assess the effects of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors,
may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in, or implied by, any forward-looking statements. Our past results
of operations are not necessarily indicative of our future results. You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking
statements, which represent our beliefs, assumptions and estimates only as of the dates on which they were made, as predictions of
future events. We undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, even though circumstances may change in the
future, except as required under applicable securities laws. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary
statements.



PART I

Item 1. Business.

Overview

DIRTT is an interior construction company whose system of physical products and digital tools empowers design freedom,
drives efficiency, supports sustainability goals, and readily adapts to change. Since 2004, DIRTT has grown to become a leader in
industrialized construction for dynamic interior spaces, translating unique visions into compelling spaces where people work, learn,
and heal.

DIRTT’s construction system offers unrivaled design freedom, accuracy, and quality assurance together with greater certainty in
cost, schedule, and outcomes. By empowering faster decision making, rapid manufacturing, and efficient installation, DIRTT can
reduce construction timelines by as much as 30% compared to conventional construction methods.

DIRTT spaces are built for change and ready to adapt as organizational needs evolve. Design for disassembly ensures
components are interchangeable and can be repurposed for small updates or full reconfigurations without major renovation, cost, or
waste.

Our approach to industrialized construction combines a sophisticated product infrastructure with a dedicated team of
construction experts and advanced digital tools. DIRTT’s first-of-its-kind software called ICE® (“ICE” or “ICE Software”) serves as
the engine for our industrialized construction system, enabling solutions to be designed, visualized, organized, configured, priced, and
manufactured off-site, with final assembly and installation completed at the job site. Our clients’ design visions are translated into the
intelligent software platform, empowering faster decision making during design with real-time changes, visualization, and pricing
information. ICE connects directly to DIRTT manufacturing facilities for end-to-end integration, precise manufacturing, production
management, and coordination of the DIRTT scope. In addition to the core ICE platform, our cloud-based virtual reality tool and app,
called ICEreality, connects teams from anywhere in the world to walk through their virtual space together, while design changes can
be made with real-time feedback on pricing.

We work with some of the most innovative clients, design teams, and construction professionals. We reach our clients through
an internal sales team and international network of independent DIRTT Construction Partners (“Construction Partners” or “Partners”).
Their DIRTT expertise makes them trusted professionals in their regions for pre-construction, order, installation, and adaptation of
interior spaces. DIRTT Construction Partners work with clients and construction teams, ensuring effective management and execution
of the DIRTT scope on every project. Long term, they support reconfigurations, adaptations, and adjustments, continuously protecting
our clients’ investments in DIRTT while ensuring their spaces stay relevant.

DIRTT was incorporated in Alberta, Canada, under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) (“ABCA”) on March 4, 2003. Our
headquarters are located at 7303 30 Street SE, Calgary, Alberta, T2C 1N6, Canada, and our telephone number at that address is 403-
723-5000. Our manufacturing facilities are in Calgary, Alberta and Savannah, Georgia.

We completed our initial public offering in Canada in November 2013 and listed our common shares on the Nasdaq Global
Select Market (“Nasdaq”) in October 2019. Our common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol
“DRT” and on Nasdaq under the symbol “DRTT.”

Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “its,” “the Company” or “DIRTT”
mean DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and, where the context so requires, includes our subsidiaries.

Available Information

We file or furnish annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the Exchange Act. The SEC maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy
and information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including DIRTT, that file electronically with the SEC. We are
also subject to requirements of applicable securities laws in Canada, and documents that we file with the securities commissions or
similar regulatory authorities in Canada may be found at www.sedar.com.



We make available free of charge through our website (www.dirtt.com) our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable, amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section
13(a) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC or
the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in Canada. In addition to the reports filed or furnished with the SEC and
the securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in Canada, we publicly disclose information from time to time in our press
releases, investor presentations posted on our website and at publicly accessible conferences. References to such information,
including references to our Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Report, and references to our website in this Annual Report
are provided as a convenience and do not constitute, and should not be deemed, an incorporation by reference of the information
contained on, or available through, the website, and such information should not be considered part of this Annual Report.

We will provide without charge to you, upon your request, a copy of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022 filed with the SEC and the applicable securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in Canada. Requests
for copies should be addressed to 7303 30 Street SE, Calgary, Alberta, T2C 1N6, Canada, Attention: Investor Relations.

Our Solutions

Our ever-expanding array of products and integrations give our clients the tools to create high-performing interiors that stay
relevant into the future. Unlike conventional prefabricated products, our solutions do not have predetermined shapes, sizes, or
configurations, empowering clients with design freedom to meet their needs. The core of our product philosophy is a construction
system that uses a universal interface. By allowing interchangeable parts, DIRTT can maximize the life cycle for most of our products.
Committed to sustainability, we subscribe to non-obsolescence, where new DIRTT components work with DIRTT products that came
before. Our solutions can be disassembled and reconfigured with minimal waste. With both design freedom and adaptability benefits,
client spaces are tailored to their unique needs on Day One and can be more easily reconfigured or adapted to stay relevant on Day
Two and beyond.

Our solutions are typically able to address over 90% of an interior space. Components are manufactured in DIRTT facilities and
shipped to site for installation. The following table provides a brief description of our primary solutions:

DIRTT Solution Description

[DIRTT’s solid walls offer extensive options with 4”, 6”, and 2” furring wall offerings. Solid walls connect seamlessly to other
Solid Walls roducts in the DIRTT construction system and enable unique finishes, colors, and configurations. Wall cavities support
electric, network, and technology integrations.

IDIRTT’s glass walls are available as double pane, classic center-mount, or Inspire™ profiles. DIRTT glass walls can

Glass Walls accommodate base building variance and acoustic requirements.
. Solid and glass walls can be combined for a mix of privacy and transparency. Combination walls can be customized and
Combination Walls . .
configured to fit any design with the benefits of the DIRTT system.
Leaf Folding The retractable modular wall system adds functionality with an effortless solution to quickly adapt space. Like other walls in the
Walls® IDIRTT portfolio, dimensions and finishes of Leaf™ can be customized.
This modular, multi-trade healthcare headwall system is an efficient, adaptable approach to healthcare construction. With
Headwalls extensive customization options and integrations, DIRTT Headwalls are an efficient way to meet unique healthcare compliance
Jrequirements.
Doors IDIRTT doors integrate seamlessly with DIRTT solid and glass wall assemblies. A wide range of types and styles are available,
including swing doors, sliding doors, and pivot doors. Door options can meet smoke-rating and acoustic requirements.

IDIRTT offers custom cabinets, closets, and storage solutions with consistent quality and efficient installation. Precision-

Casework manufactured casework is delivered with predictable lead times.

Traditional craftsmanship meets advanced, custom manufacturing to create striking designs and structural elements. Engineered
Timber to meet local requirements, DIRTT Timber integrates with broader DIRTT scopes to bring natural elements to spaces with rapid
assembly on-site.

[DIRTT’s modular electrical system supports connected infrastructure needs. The pre-wired, modular distribution system
Electrical includes pre-mounted and terminated device boxes installed at the factory to reduce project time and cost on-site. Plug-in
connections allow for quick installations and easy modifications.

IDIRTT’s Fiber to the Edge networks deliver unlimited bandwidth capability and longer-reaching signal strength while reducing
Networks supporting infrastructure needs and material costs. Industry-leading technology and future-ready infrastructure empowers smart
uilding benefits. Copper-based network options reduce install time and increase flexibility.

[Low-profile, fixed-height access floor provides an adaptable foundation for connected infrastructure with long-term

Access Floors - I
accessibility for easy moves, additions, and changes.



In addition to our core product offering, DIRTT enables integrations with technology, custom graphics, writable surfaces, and
Breathe® Living Walls. Further product information can be found on dirtt.com.

Sustainability and Environmental Matters

DIRTT aims to minimize the environmental impact of interior construction through careful material selection, efficient
operations, a system designed for future adaptability, and long product lifecycles. We work with clients to understand their unique
sustainability goals and identify how building with DIRTT can support LEED, WELL, Living Building Challenge, and other green
building standards they may be targeting. Our sustainability team helps to calculate various elements of the DIRTT scope that support
certification.

Approximately 40% of solid waste in the United States derives from construction and demolition. In contrast, DIRTT’s agile
construction system makes it quick, easy, and cost effective to evolve interior spaces through future reconfigurations and relocations,
while minimizing waste. Our agile system is designed for disassembly to reduce the carbon footprint of new construction and future
changes. We further reduce waste through efficient manufacturing and pre-assembled solutions.

We continuously evaluate the environmental impact of our materials, considering impact on the wellness of the occupants using
the spaces we build and life cycles of the products we make. DIRTT endeavors to use materials with high recycled content, bio-based
content, and low or no volatile organic compounds (VOCs). Most DIRTT assemblies are certified through Science Certification
Systems (SCS) Indoor Advantage Gold, recognizing their low-emitting properties. DIRTT wall panel and casework facilities are
certified to handle materials with FSC® certification (FSC-C006900), ensuring FSC certified products may be specified.

We recognize the vital importance of reducing embodied carbon within DIRTT products. Our environmentally conscious
production facilities are continuously evaluated by cross-functional teams who assess and implement energy efficiency strategies. For
example, to further reduce our operational carbon footprint, DIRTT’s US factories are powered by renewable energy through our
purchase of Green-e® certified renewable energy credits (RECs). We further reduce the impact of our operations with recycling and
waste diversion programs.

DIRTT releases an annual Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) report outlining our commitments to sustainability
and the environment. It also provides disclosure of our current environmental and sustainability impacts. By 2025, DIRTT has
committed to reducing our landfill waste from 2021 levels by 35% and sourcing or producing renewable energy to cover 100% of our
factory operations.

Further information about DIRTT’s sustainability practices can be found at dirtt.com/sustainability.

Our Business Strategy

Our goal is to help clients envision and design interior construction projects and then build and deliver those projects faster,
cleaner, more efficiently and with a better overall client experience and satisfaction than conventional construction methods. The
modular aspect of our DIRTT construction system allows them to be easily reconfigured with a minimal amount of waste as client
space needs change. Our innovative, technology-driven approach includes outstanding product design that is customized for each
client application and delivered on time and on budget.

Our strategy is founded on the following priorities:
. The identification and pursuit of client segments that benefit most from DIRTT’s value proposition;

. Client-centric, continuous innovation in DIRTT construction systems and our technology to enhance product
differentiation and drive market penetration and growth;

. Technology-enabled manufacturing processes that facilitate short lead times, a reliable client service platform, and
outstanding quality on a cost-effective basis; and

. Ongoing development and support of our Construction Partners to ensure flawless execution and a superior end client
experience.

In combination with a focus on cost-discipline, a continuous improvement philosophy, and a focused approach to capital
investment, we believe these strategic priorities will drive increased value creation for our employees, clients, Construction Partners,
and shareholders.



Our Competitive Strengths

We believe the following attributes provide us with competitive strengths in the industrialized construction industry:

Leader in Integrated Design and Manufacturing Technology. We believe our ICE Software is the only interior
construction technology that efficiently integrates the design, configuration, and virtual reality visualization processes
with the manufacturing process. The use of 3D technology in a design environment, utilizing video game technology for
real time decision making, is an approach pioneered by DIRTT.

Easy and Intuitive Software Interface. Our ICE Software is a fast, powerful tool with an intuitive user interface. Our
software’s ease of use enables rapid time-to-value for our clients and collaboration among all the stakeholders involved in
the design, reconfiguration, budgeting and manufacturing processes. Our use of 3D virtual reality and augmented (mixed)
reality technologies enables clients to visualize and modify their designs before manufacturing begins, thereby reducing
cost and time to completion.

Proprietary Solutions Components. The physical components that comprise our DIRTT construction system have been
designed to provide clients with numerous options and full modularity. As a result, we are able to create interior
environments that are fully customizable and not limited by a pre-set product list. The modular nature of our components
allows them to be reconfigured or adapted easily, with minimal disruption to the occupants of the space and with minimal
job site waste.

Strong Construction Partner and Sales Network. Our strong network of Construction Partners and DIRTT sales
representatives allows us to maximize our geographic reach, helps build brand awareness in the interior construction
market, and enhances our positioning in our target markets.

Superior Results Compared to Conventional Design and Construction. We believe we produce superior client results as
compared with conventional design and construction methods in sequencing, certainty, budget allocation, and outcome.

Effective Sequencing. Conventional construction generally follows a rigid sequencing process. Typically, wall framing is
constructed first, followed by floors and electrical and data networks. This process is then followed by drywall
installation, painting, and flooring, and then installation or building of casework (millwork) and fixtures. These steps
generate significant waste and create opportunities for delay, change orders, cost overruns and rework. In contrast,
DIRTT's approach integrates various product applications as tailored to specific project needs. They are manufactured off-
site and arrive on-site organized, labeled and ready to be installed. This enables the interior solutions to be produced
concurrently with on-site construction work, thereby reducing on-site time and the overall construction schedule.

Certainty. Our technology-based design and manufacturing solutions address changes in design, communications with
clients, and material costs with more certainty than conventional construction methods, which often involve retrofitting
electrical and data networks, change orders, uncertain timelines, and costly rework. Our controlled manufacturing
environment reduces deficiencies and errors and produces more consistent solutions in predictable time frames.

Budget. Because of our integrated design, visualization and manufacturing technologies, we can price the effect of design
choices and changes immediately and deliver the fully designed, manufactured interior solutions ready to install. This
provides budget certainty both in the cost of our DIRTT Solutions as well as in on-site labor for the installation process.

Outcome. Our interior spaces look like the images our clients expect from the design drawings and virtual visualizations,
because those same drawings and visualizations drive the manufacturing process. Plumbing, electrical, A/V and data
networks are integrated into the architecture of our DIRTT Solutions. For example, DIRTT Walls carry an aesthetic of
permanent walls, but if an IT or facilities team needs to get inside the wall for any reason, they can use a tool to remove
the surface of the wall to examine the wall cavity quickly, cleanly and quietly. This eliminates the need to knock down,
and then patch and repaint, drywall or reconfigure fixtures and cabinetry. Our modular designs offer flexibility and
interconnectivity with any technology, furniture, casework (millwork) or DIRTT Solutions that were previously used or
that may be used in the future, allowing clients to reconfigure and repurpose their space while reducing disruptive and
time-consuming demolition and waste removal.

Construction Partners and Sales Network

We primarily sell DIRTT Solutions through a network of independent DIRTT Construction Partners working in conjunction
with local DIRTT sales representatives, as well as internal DIRTT industry specialists, business development professionals and a
dedicated Construction Partner support team. Construction Partners and local sales representatives are located in cities throughout the
United States and Canada, with additional locations in Singapore and the United Kingdom. The use of a dispersed network of
Construction Partners greatly enhances our ability to drive awareness of the DIRTT brand and understanding of our approach to
construction throughout our markets.



As part of our distribution agreements, our Construction Partners are typically required to invest in their own DIRTT Experience
Center (“DXC”) so that they are able to effectively showcase DIRTT Solutions. These DXCs are showrooms that provide mock-ups of
DIRTT Solutions and related product offerings. As well, DIRTT maintains DXCs in Calgary, Chicago, New York City, and Dallas.

Our Construction Partners operate under agreements that outline sales goals and marketing territories which are generally non-
exclusive. We expect our Construction Partners to build regional DIRTT-dedicated teams (sales, design and project management) and
to use our ICE Software in the sales process. In addition to sales and marketing, our Construction Partners provide value throughout
the construction process. At the pre-construction stage, Construction Partners provide design assistance services to the architect and
designer; throughout the construction process, Construction Partners act as a specialty subcontractor to the general contractor and
provide installation and other construction services. Post-move in, Construction Partners provide warranty work, ongoing maintenance
and reconfiguring support. Local DIRTT sales representatives work closely with the Construction Partners throughout the process to
ensure successful project implementation and the highest client satisfaction. Construction Partners generally place orders for DIRTT
Solutions directly with us and pay us directly for such orders.

We have the ability to bring on new Construction Partners in a wide range of geographic areas, which permits us to quickly
establish a presence in new market areas. Our Construction Partners also scale our virtual reality technology, such as our smart phone-
and tablet-based applications, to fit their capacity and needs.

At December 31, 2022, we had a total of 67 Construction Partners and 46 sales representatives across North America. We are
not dependent on any one Construction Partner or sales representative.

Strategic accounts are a cornerstone in our strategy to drive long-term sustainable and predictable growth. These types of clients
manage large real estate footprints in numerous locations. For these clients it is advantageous and important to establish consistency in
design and execution, repeatability, and speed to market. While these relationships can take time to develop, once they are established,
the time and resources required to execute additional projects is reduced, which we believe will create profitable, predictable revenue
streams. In return, clients benefit from a single point of accountability at DIRTT, a strong network of partners, full lifecycle support
from established design standards and pre-construction expert support for their architects, designers and general contractors from field
work to post installation support.

Manufacturing and Properties

Our DIRTT Solutions are currently manufactured at our facilities in Calgary, Alberta and Savannah, Georgia. On February 22,
2022 we announced the closure of our Phoenix Facility in Arizona. On August 23, 2022, we announced the temporary suspension of
operations at our Rock Hill, South Carolina Facility as the Calgary and Savannah Facilities can meet current demands. Currently our
wall surfaces (which we call panels), casework and timber solutions are manufactured in Calgary, while aluminum, glass and power
components are manufactured in Calgary and Savannah. Through distributed manufacturing we can shift production of some
components among our manufacturing sites, reduce transportation times and costs, and meet targeted lead times. Our Rock Hill
Facility has capabilities to produce panels. If we experience additional growth, we may need to add or expand additional
manufacturing facilities and resume operations at the Rock Hill Facility.

Suppliers and Raw Materials

Our inventory balances consist primarily of raw materials, which are kept on hand as components of our custom manufacturing
process. Managing our raw material inventory is essential to our business, given our short lead times from order to shipment and our
high level of order customization. Our key manufacturing materials are aluminum, hardware, wood and glass. For the twelve months
ended December 31, 2022, aluminum accounted for approximately 35% of our purchased materials, while hardware, wood and
finishing powder & paint accounted for approximately 12%, 12%, and 9%, respectively. While we maintain multiple suppliers for key
materials, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, (i) two suppliers accounted for approximately 38% and 24% of our
aluminum supply, respectively, and two additional suppliers providing approximately 14% each (ii) two suppliers accounted for
approximately 33% and 37% of our wood supply (iii) one supplier accounted for approximately 94% of our paint & powder and (iv)
one supplier accounted for approximately 38% of our hardware supply.

Materials are sourced domestically and, to a much lesser extent, overseas. Approximately 93% of our materials are
manufactured and purchased in North America. Purchase decisions are made on the basis of quality, cost, and ability to meet delivery
requirements. We do not typically enter into long-term agreements with suppliers. In general, adequate supplies of raw materials are
available to all our operations and to date we have not been materially impacted by supply chain disruptions due to the COVID-19
pandemic, other than inflationary price pressures across substantially all of our raw material requirements, although aluminum
purchases may be subject to market capacity constraints.
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Technology and Development

We continue to focus on developing client-centric innovations and enhancements of both ICE Software and DIRTT Solutions
with a primary focus on improving client experience, increasing market penetration and growing key markets. At December 31, 2022,
we employed 90 employees within our technology and development groups and, including capitalized amounts, invested $10.3
million, $11.1 million and $11.6 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, in innovation activities.

Clients

DIRTT’s principal geographic markets are the United States and Canada. Our revenue is derived almost entirely from projects
in North America sold by our North American Construction Partners.

Our revenue opportunities primarily come from commercial projects, including both new construction projects and renovations
of existing buildings. Clients range from small owner-managed businesses to multinational Fortune 500 companies across a variety of
industries, including healthcare, education, financial services, government and military, manufacturing, non-profit, energy,
professional services, retail, technology, and hospitality. We view DIRTT Solutions as generally industry agnostic, with applications
in many different industries with minimal adjustments. We are not dependent on any one client or industry segment. No single client
represented more than 10% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, or 2020.

Competition

The overall market for interior construction is fragmented and highly competitive. The principal competitive factors in the
interior construction industry include price (including cost certainty), speed, quality, customization, and service. Our main competitors
are comprised primarily of conventional construction firms, individual tradespeople (including framers, drywall installers, and interior
product designers) and modular systems manufacturers. Additionally, conventional construction firms are beginning to develop
customizable wall paneling and other interior construction solutions and may directly compete with our DIRTT Solutions. We also
compete with commercial furniture manufacturers, such as Teknion Corporation, Haworth Inc. and Allsteel Inc., who offer a variety
of prefabricated interior wall solutions. We expect competition to increase as new entrants or solutions enter the interior construction
market. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors”.

Seasonality

The construction industry has also historically experienced seasonal slowdowns related to winter weather conditions and holiday
schedules, which affect shipping and on-site installation dates, in the fourth and first quarters of each calendar year. Our business has
generally, but not always, followed this trend with a slight time lag, leading to stronger sales in the second half of the year versus the
first half. Weather factors can also influence third-party exterior construction schedules and site conditions, which may in turn affect
timing of interior builds.

Due to the fixed nature of certain of our manufacturing costs, such as our facilities leases and related indirect operating costs,
periods of higher revenue volume tend to generate higher gross profit and operating income margins while periods of lower volume
tend to result in lower gross profit and operating income margins. Quarters that contain consistent monthly manufacturing volumes
tend to generate higher gross profit than those where manufacturing levels vary significantly from month to month.

Patent and Intellectual Property Rights

Our success depends, in part, upon our intellectual property rights relating to our products, production processes, our
technology, including our ICE Software, and other operations. We rely on a combination of trade secret, nondisclosure and other
contractual arrangements, as well as patent, copyright and trademark laws, to protect our proprietary rights and competitive advantage.
We register our patents and trademarks as we deem appropriate and take measures to defend patents where we deem others are
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infringing on our patents. The following table presents the status as of December 31, 2022 of our issued and pending patents relating
to various aspects of DIRTT Solutions and ICE Software:

Granted Applications

Jurisdiction Patents Pending

Canada 67 47
United States 126 16
European Union 48 28
Singapore 22 4
Patent Cooperation Treaty - 8
Other 87 4
Total 350 107

Our issued patents expire between 2024 and 2039. We do not believe that the expiration of any individual patent will have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. As we develop innovations and new technology,
we expect to file additional and supplemental patents to protect our rights in those innovations and new technology.

Government Regulations

The operation of our business is subject to stringent and complex laws and regulations pertaining to health, safety, and the
environment. As an owner or operator of various manufacturing facilities, we must comply with these laws and regulations at the
federal, state, provincial and local levels in both the United States and Canada. Failure to comply with environmental laws and
regulations may trigger a variety of administrative, civil, or criminal enforcement actions, including the assessment of monetary
penalties, the imposition of investigative or remedial requirements, or the issuance of orders limiting current or future operations.
Certain environmental statutes impose strict, joint and several liability for costs required to clean up and restore sites where hazardous
substances or industrial wastes have been mismanaged or otherwise released.

While we do not believe that compliance with federal, state, provincial, or local environmental laws and regulations will have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial position or results of operations, we cannot provide any assurances that future
events, such as changes in existing laws or regulations, the promulgation of new laws or regulations, or the development or discovery
of new facts or conditions related to our operations will not cause us to incur significant costs.

Legal and Regulatory Proceedings

We may be involved from time to time in various lawsuits, claims, investigations, and other legal matters that arise in the
ordinary course of business, including matters involving our products, intellectual property, relationships with suppliers, relationships
with Construction Partners, relationships with competitors, employees, and other matters. We may, for example, be a party to various
litigation matters that involve product liability, tort liability, and claims under other allegations, including claims from our employees
either individually or collectively. We do not believe that any current claims, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. For additional information regarding our current legal
proceedings, see Item 3. “Legal Proceedings.”

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act enacted in April 2012. Certain
specified reduced reporting and other regulatory requirements are available to public companies that are emerging growth companies.
These provisions include:

. an exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal controls over financial reporting
required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;

. an exemption from the adoption of new or revised financial accounting standards until they would apply to private
companies;
. an exemption from compliance with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to
provide additional information about our audit and our financial statements; and

. reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements.
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We will continue to be an emerging growth company until the earliest of:

. the last day of our fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion (as such amount is indexed for
inflation every five years by the SEC to reflect the change in the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers
published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, setting the threshold to the nearest $1 million) or more;

. December 31, 2024,
. the date on which we have, during the prior three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt; or

. the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” under the rules of the SEC, which means the market
value of our common shares that is held by non-affiliates (or public float) exceeds $700 million as of the last day of our
second fiscal quarter in our prior fiscal year.

We have elected to take advantage of certain of the reduced disclosure obligations in this Annual Report and may elect to take
advantage of other reduced reporting requirements in future filings. As a result, the information that we provide to our shareholders
may be different than what you might receive from other public reporting companies in which you hold equity interests. However, we
have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting
standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2022, DIRTT employed 934 employees, 99% full time, 1% part time. We had 922 full-time employees
consisting of 595 employees in production, 74 employees in sales and marketing, 90 employees in technology and development, 90
employees in operations support, and 73 general and administrative employees. At year-end, approximately 50% of our workforce are
salaried employees and approximately 50% are compensated on an hourly basis. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 28% of our
workforce was based in the United States, and approximately 72% was based in Canada. Our 2022 hiring efforts were directed
towards both our manufacturing and non-manufacturing functions. This reflects the streamlining of our operations space, accounting
for 79% of our hiring activities. The Company’s recent gender diversity data shows that 25% (2021 — 28%) of our employees are
female company wide. In 2022 we hired 213 employees, with 29% of new employees being female.

Diversity & Inclusion

DIRTT recognizes the importance of progressing conversations and initiatives around diversity and inclusion. “Grow through
diversity” is one of our core values. Our strategy encompasses leadership training around key topics related to unconscious bias,
allyship, and the value of attracting and retaining a diverse and inclusive organization. The strategy further focuses on the
establishment and deployment of learning streams, mentoring circles, and incorporation of inclusive language into our offer packages
and benefit materials. Our efforts begin at the early stages of the employee life cycle, where diversity candidates are highlighted and
presented to hiring managers for review. We seek to hire based on talent, skill, capability needs, and fit. DIRTT has also incorporated
diversity into various internal programs including succession planning and risk profiles.

Culture & Engagement

DIRTT has put measures in place to assess and enhance the level of engagement and satisfaction of our employees. Specific
activities include the deployment of a performance management tool, catered to drive discussions around team goals, performance and
development opportunities, and greater transparency around policy and procedures, tied to cost and risk mitigation.

In the fourth quarter of 2022, we began the implementation of a new employee engagement platform called Employee Voice
that will deploy company-wide surveys focused on core themes of workplace civility, communication, work-life balance, retention,
job satisfaction, employee engagement and diversity and inclusion. The platform and targeted initiatives are being put in place
company-wide to assess the progression of themes from the survey on overall employee engagement and experience.

Additional initiatives that we attribute to the progression of culture and engagement include launching learning and
development opportunities, enhanced communication platforms, employee recognition programs, a company-wide philanthropic
organization, and a strong focus on virtual social events to further support engagement and connection of remote employees.

Connecting to our community is a critical piece of the DIRTT story. We continue to focus on establishing a stronger
community investment program that demonstrates our drive to put community at the center of the business. This involves developing a
strategy, carving out a roadmap of initiatives, and establishing a committee of employees across the organization. As part of our
strategy, we are focusing our efforts on establishing meaningful engagement opportunities, creating inclusive giving campaigns,
driving sustainable impact, and enabling our employees to connect on philanthropic efforts. In the fourth quarter of 2022, we
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successfully completed our holiday giving campaign which was a coordinated in-person and virtual effort in support of food banks
across North America, focusing on the cities in which we operate. The support for this campaign helped to reconnect DIRTT
employees’ desire to give back with tangible outcomes for their communities. We take measures to address the mental health of our
employees through a variety of company-wide initiatives.

Our core commitment to organizational safety resulted in a Total Recordable Incident Frequency (“TRIF”) of 0.1 in 2022, more
than 97% below the industry average and a significant improvement from 0.5 TRIF in 2021. Our enhanced health and safety protocols
have been effective thus far in mitigating the spread of COVID-19 infections within our facilities and have helped us to avoid any
material production disruptions.

We use a range of compensation incentives which vary by role, including annual variable compensation determined based on a
combination of achieving team objectives and financial targets for the Company; quarterly bonuses for our manufacturing personnel
paid on adherence to targets related to safety, quality, delivery, inventory and productivity; and commissions based on sales. We also
use various forms of stock-based compensation as a retention tool and to further align employee interests with the interests of our
shareholders. We monitor our retention by way of voluntary turnover, which was 17% in 2022.

None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. We have never experienced labor-related work
stoppages or strikes, and we believe we currently have a positive relationship with our employees.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our common shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well
as the other information in this Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and Part I, Item
7. entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and in any documents
incorporated in this Annual Report by reference, before deciding whether to invest in our common shares. The occurrence of any of
the events or developments described below could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.
In such an event, the market price of our common shares could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. Although we
have discussed all known material risks, the risks described below are not the only ones that we may face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations. Certain
statements below are forward-looking statements. See also “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this Annual
Report.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth could be harmed by the effects of the COVID-19
pandemic and related government measures.

The COVID-19 pandemic has created significant volatility, uncertainty, and economic disruption. The extent to which COVID-
19, or other public health pandemics or epidemics, impact our employees, operations, customers, suppliers, and financial results will
depend on numerous evolving factors that we may not be able to accurately predict, including: the duration and scope of the COVID-
19 pandemic (and whether there is a resurgence or multiple resurgences of the virus in the future, including as a result of strain
variations); the actions taken by governments and public health officials in response to the pandemic; the availability and effectiveness
of vaccines, approvals thereof and the speed of vaccine distribution; the impact on construction activity (including related supply
chain and labor shortages and their effects on construction schedules and timing); the effect on our customers’ demand for our DIRTT
solutions; our ability to manufacture and sell our products; and the ability of our customers to pay for our products. For example,
while many of our products support life sustaining activities and essential construction, we, and certain of our customers or suppliers,
may be impacted by state or provincial actions, orders and policies regarding the COVID-19 pandemic, including temporary closures
of non-life sustaining businesses, shelter-in-place orders, and travel, social distancing and quarantine policies, the implementation and
enforcement of which may vary by individual jurisdictions. On September 9, 2021, President Biden issued executive orders
establishing, among other things, new vaccination requirements applicable to U.S. federal workers and contractors, large employers
and healthcare workers. As a federal contractor, we are subject to the executive order. Although the Biden administration later updated
its guidance to indicate that it will not enforce this vaccination requirement, additional vaccine mandates may be announced in
jurisdictions in which our businesses operate. Our implementation of these rules may result in attrition, including attrition of skilled
labor, and difficulty securing future labor needs. Additionally, our implementation of these rules may impact our ability to maintain
satisfactory arrangements with third-party vendors and service providers, to the extent they are subject to vaccination requirements
and they or their employees are unable or unwilling to comply. Any of the foregoing events could have a material adverse effect on
our business, liquidity or results of operations.

We are under the leadership of a reconstituted Board of Directors who are in the process of implementing a variety of
operational, organizational, cultural and other changes to our business, and we may not be able to achieve some or all of the
anticipated benefits of this transformation plan. We are also undergoing changes at a senior management level, including the
appointment of a new Chief Executive Officer in June 2022.

Our Board of Directors was entirely reconstituted at our annual and special meeting of shareholders held on April 26, 2022 and,
following that meeting, there was significant turnover in the Company's leadership. In addition to overseeing the changes to DIRTT’s
leadership, the reconstituted Board of Directors has undertaken an extensive review of DIRTT’s operations, a process which is still
ongoing (see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Outlook™), and are
in the process of implementing a variety of operational, organizational, cultural and other changes to our business, including plans to
meet pipeline demand and expand revenues. The timely integration of senior management will be critical in the successful
implementation of the Board of Directors' plans. We may not be successful in achieving some or all of the anticipated benefits of these
plans, which may have an adverse effect on our results from operations and financial condition.

The effectiveness of certain elements of DIRTT’s administrative systems:

DIRTT has identified the need to upgrade its inventory management and cost accounting systems at some point in the future to
enable scalable growth. Other information technology may require investment in the future. However, the success, in whole or in part,
of this investment cannot be guaranteed.
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We may not be successful in implementing our strategic plan or managing growth

Implementation of our strategy will require maturity of systems and processes across the organization. There is also no
assurance that successful implementation will lead to sustainable, profitable growth, and may itself be disruptive to the Company.
Failure to implement our strategic plan could materially and adversely affect our near-term sales, commercial activities, and ability to
develop and sustain profitable growth. In addition, the success and timing of our implementation may be dependent upon external
factors outside of our control, including the COVID-19 pandemic and its negative impact on construction activities as a whole.
However, we remain confident that DIRTT’s value proposition will be as or even more relevant in the post-pandemic world.

Our strategy also depends in part on our ability to maintain and manage growth effectively. Growth in our headcount and
operations may place significant demands on our management and operational and financial resources. Additionally, managing growth
of our operations and personnel requires continuous improvement of our internal controls and reporting systems and procedures.
Failure to effectively manage growth could result in difficulty providing current DIRTT Solutions and introducing future solutions,
difficulty in securing clients and Construction Partners, declines in quality or client satisfaction, increases in costs or other operational
difficulties. Any of these difficulties could lead to a loss of investor confidence and adversely affect our business performance,
financial condition and results of operations.

Our industry is highly competitive, and we may not be successful in educating potential clients about the benefits of our
innovative and unique approach to interior construction as compared to conventional interior construction methods.

We operate in the highly competitive interior construction industry that is constantly developing and changing. We compete
against conventional construction firms, individual tradespeople, modular systems, and commercial furniture manufacturers. New
market entrants and conventional construction firms are also beginning to develop customizable wall paneling and other modular
interior construction solutions, and we expect this trend to continue. In addition, we may face pricing pressure from competitors or
new market entrants who take on projects at reduced prices or employ other competitive strategies. While we believe our innovative
design, quality, schedule and cost certainty, and network of Construction Partners makes us well-positioned in the market, increasing
competition could make it difficult to secure new projects at acceptable operating margins.

Our products are unique and offer an alternative to conventional construction techniques. Although offsite construction methods
are gaining market acceptance, this still represents only a fraction of all construction methods and the overall construction market. Our
ability to grow and increase market share depends, in part, on our success in continuing to increase demand for modular construction
methods and products as an alternative to more traditional construction methods. While we intend to follow a strategy of innovative
product development and strategic marketing efforts to enhance our position, there is no assurance that our solutions will attain a
degree of market acceptance sufficient for sustained profitable operations. Failure to compete effectively by, among other things,
meeting consumer preferences, developing and marketing innovative solutions, maintaining strong client service and distribution
relationships, growing market share, and expanding our solutions capabilities could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity,
financial condition, or results of operations.

Our former co-founders’ competitive behavior against us could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our co-founders and former executives, Mogens Smed and Barrie Loberg, have started an interior construction and
manufacturing company that we believe competes with us. They, along with a number of our former employees and Construction
Partners who have joined their company have in-depth knowledge about our business, including our customers, employees, products
and prospects, and we may be adversely affected by increased competition arising out of this business venture. We are engaged in
litigation with Messrs. Smed and Loberg, entities with which they are involved, and other individuals relating to, among other things,
enforcement of non-competition and non-solicitation obligations, and alleged misappropriation of proprietary information by them or
by us. See Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. If Messrs. Smed and Loberg further engage in a competitive business
against us or if we are not successful in litigation, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

We depend heavily on our network of Construction Partners, and the loss or inattention of our Construction Partners, or the
failure of our Construction Partners to meet their obligations to us, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We currently do not engage in many direct sales projects and rely almost exclusively on our network of Construction Partners to
promote brand awareness, sell and market DIRTT Solutions, and provide design, installation, distribution and other services to clients
on each project. While we are not dependent on any single Construction Partner, sales generated by approximately 10% of our
Construction Partners comprised approximately 39% of our total revenues for 2022 (2021 — 40%). The loss of any top performing
Construction Partners, particularly to our competitors, may negatively affect our sales, financial condition or results of operations. It
may further impair our ability to maintain a market presence in a particular geographic region until a new Construction Partner
relationship is established, which would require significant time and resources, given DIRTT is typically a standalone line of business
in their portfolio.
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Although we provide our Construction Partners with training, education, and support, they may be unable to successfully sell
our DIRTT Solutions, execute projects or manage client experiences and relationships. In addition, our Construction Partners and their
clients may face financial difficulties or may become insolvent, which could result in the delay or cancellation of their plans to
purchase DIRTT Solutions or lead to our inability to obtain payment of accounts receivable that they may owe. If we are unable to
maintain a successful Construction Partner network, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially
and adversely affected.

Increasing attention to environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters may impact our business

We have announced various voluntary ESG targets in our annual Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) report outlining
our commitments to sustainability, the environment, health and safety, and diversity and inclusion. However, we may not be able to
meet such targets in the manner or on such a timeline as initially contemplated, including, but not limited to, as a result of unforeseen
costs or technical difficulties associated with achieving such results. Any actual or perceived failure to meet our ESG targets could
adversely impact our reputation and our customers’ image of our products and result in the loss of business or impede our growth
initiatives. Adverse publicity regarding ESG issues and similar matters, whether or not justified, could have a negative impact on our
reputation and may result in the loss of customers and our inability to secure new customer relationships. Further, our customers may
be more selective for products that meet their ESG goals or standards, such as increasing demand for goods that result in lower
emissions, and our products could be less competitive if we are unable to meet these standards. Despite our efforts to adapt to and
address these concerns, our efforts may be insufficient. Additionally, the implementation of these initiatives may increase our costs. It
is difficult to predict how our efforts with respect to social and sustainability matters will be evaluated by current and prospective
investors or by our customers or business partners.

Furthermore, public statements with respect to ESG matters are becoming increasingly subject to heightened scrutiny from
public and governmental authorities related to the risk of potential “greenwashing,” i.e., misleading information or false claims
overstating potential ESG benefits. For example, in March 2021, the SEC established the Climate and ESG Task Force in the Division
of Enforcement to identify and address potential ESG-related misconduct, including greenwashing. Certain non-governmental
organizations and other private actors have also filed lawsuits under various securities and consumer protection laws alleging that
certain ESG statements, goals or standards were misleading, false, or otherwise deceptive. As a result, we may face increased
litigation risk from private parties and governmental authorities related to our ESG efforts. In addition, any alleged claims of
greenwashing against us or others in our industry may lead to further negative sentiment and diversion of investments. Additionally,
we could face increasing costs as we attempt to comply with and navigate further regulatory ESG-related focus and scrutiny.

Risks Relating to Our Products and Software
We may be unsuccessful in designing, introducing, or selling new, innovative solutions, solution features, or software.

Our future success depends in part on our continuing ability to promote and demonstrate the value proposition of DIRTT
Solutions, as well as our ability to develop and sell new, innovative solutions, solution features, or software that differentiate our
solutions and achieve market acceptance in a timely and cost-effective manner. We incur significant costs associated with the
investment in our research and development in furtherance of our strategy that may not result in increased revenue or demand for
DIRTT Solutions and that could negatively affect our results of operations. Rapidly changing technology, evolving regulatory and
industry standards, and changing consumer trends, demands, and requirements require us to continuously innovate and develop new,
high-quality solutions, solutions features and software. Additionally, such rapid technological changes, standards and preferences
could render the complex and proprietary technology of our software and solutions obsolete. We may also be unable to successfully
address these developments on a timely basis, or at all. New solutions, solution features, or software may also be less successful than
we anticipated, and such offerings may fail to achieve market acceptance. If we fail to respond quickly and cost-effectively to a
changing market and changing consumer preferences, our competitive position, financial condition, and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected.

Our software and products may have design defects, deficiencies, or risks, and we may incur additional costs to fix any
defects, deficiencies, or risks, or be subject to warranty or product liability claims.

Our software and solutions are complex and must meet the technical requirements of our clients and applicable building codes
and regulations. Our solutions may contain undetected errors or design and manufacturing defects, and our software may experience
quality or reliability problems, or contain bugs or other defects. Software defects may also cause errors in our manufacturing or
miscalculations in ordering pricing and could lead us to incur losses and lose market share to competitors. Product or software defects
could cause us to incur warranty costs, product liability costs, and repair and remediation costs. Although we maintain warranty
reserves based on production, historical claims, and estimates, future warranty claims may exceed this amount. Similarly, while we
maintain insurance of the types and amounts we consider commercially prudent and consistent with industry practice, such insurance
coverage may not be sufficient to protect us against substantial claims. Such claims can be expensive to defend, could divert the
attention of management and other personnel for significant periods, regardless of the ultimate outcome, and could result in negative
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publicity. Increased costs to address product warranty claims or to defend against product liability claims may result in increased
expenses and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to fluctuations in the prices of raw materials and commodities, which could adversely affect our liquidity,
operating margins and financial condition.

We purchase raw materials, including aluminum, glass, and wood, from a number of local and global suppliers. The costs of
these commodities can fluctuate due to changes in global supply and demand, inflation, peculation in commodities futures, and
changes in tariffs or trade barriers, which can also interrupt supply. In addition, we have not historically entered into long-term
agreements with vendors and may be exposed to short-term and long-term price fluctuations as a result.

Aluminum represents the largest component of our raw materials consumption. We have experienced fluctuations in the price of
aluminum and anticipate that these fluctuations will continue in the future. In particular, during 2021 and 2022 we experienced
significant price inflation across substantially all of our materials, largely due to pandemic-induced supply chain constraints, and it is
unclear whether such price increases will be temporary or permanent in nature. From time to time, the U.S. government has imposed
tariffs on steel and aluminum and limited the amounts of steel and aluminum coming into the United States based on the countries of
origin of those imports. In 2022 and 2021, we sourced the majority of our aluminum from North America and sourced under 10% of
our raw materials from outside North America. Nonetheless, substantial, prolonged upward trends in aluminum and other commodity
prices, along with tariffs and import limitations, could significantly increase our costs and adversely affect our liquidity, operating
margins, and financial condition.

We rely on a limited number of outside suppliers for certain key components and materials, and failure or delay in obtaining
the necessary components or materials could delay or prevent the manufacturing or distribution of our DIRTT Solutions.

We rely on certain key suppliers for raw materials and components, including aluminum, glass, wood, paint, and hardware. We
maintain multiple suppliers for key materials, although for the year ended December 31, 2021, (i) two suppliers accounted for
approximately 38% and 24% of our aluminum supply, respectively, and two additional suppliers provided approximately 14% each,
(i1) two suppliers accounted for approximately 33% and 37% of our wood supply, (iii) one supplier accounted for approximately 94%
of our paint and powder supply, and (iv) one supplier accounted for approximately 38% of our hardware supply. While we believe
there are other vendors for most of our key requirements, certain materials and components meeting our quality standards are available
only through a limited number of vendors. If we are required to obtain another source for these materials or components, we may not
be able to obtain pricing on as favorable terms or on terms comparable to our competitors. Any failure or delay in obtaining the
necessary raw materials or components in the quantities and quality required may result in increased costs and delays in
manufacturing or distributing our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition, or results
of operations. A vendor may also choose, subject to existing contracts, to modify its relationship with us due to general economic
concerns or specific concerns relating to that vendor or us, at any time. These modifications might include additional requirements
from our suppliers that we provide them additional security in the form of prepayments or with letters of credit. Any significant
change in the terms that we have with our key suppliers could materially and adversely affect our liquidity, financial condition, or
results of operations.

Risks Relating to Market Conditions

Global economic, political and social conditions and financial markets may impact our ability to do business and adversely
affect our liquidity, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our industry is cyclical and highly sensitive to macroeconomic conditions. Overall declines or reductions in construction and
renovation due to economic downturns, unemployment and office vacancies, difficulties in the financial services sector and credit
markets, and imposition of trade barriers can impact the demand for our products. Financial difficulties experienced by our suppliers,
Construction Partners or clients could also result in, among other things, inadequate project financing, project delays, inability to pay
accounts receivable or disruptions in our supply chain. Any general economic, political, or social conditions that may contribute to
financial difficulties experienced by us, our suppliers, Construction Partners, or clients may adversely affect our liquidity, financial
condition and results of operations.

We are exposed to currency exchange rates, interest rates, tax rates, and other fluctuations, including those resulting from
changes in laws.

Our revenues and expenses are collected and paid in different currencies, including the U.S. dollar and Canadian dollar.
Fluctuations in the relative values of any such currency expose us to foreign exchange risk and could have a material and adverse
effect on our cash flows, revenues and results of operations. We also have currency exchange exposure to the extent of a mismatch
between foreign-currency denominated revenues and expenditures — in particular, where U.S. dollar revenues do not equal U.S. dollar
expenditures. We are not currently using exchange rate derivatives to manage currency exchange rate risks. There are currently no
significant restrictions on the repatriation of capital and distribution of earnings to foreign entities from any of the jurisdictions in
which we operate. There can be no assurance that such restrictions will not be imposed in the future.
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Most of DIRTT's debt is on fixed interest rates. The Extended RBC Facility is subject to market interest rates. We are not
currently using interest rate derivatives to manage interest rate risks. If interest rates rise this could have a material and adverse effect
on our cash flows, revenues and results of operations and may adversely affect our ability to access financing.

Compliance with new or amended tax laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business. We base our
tax positions upon our understanding of the tax laws (including, applicable tax treaties) of the countries in which we have assets or
conduct business activities. However, our tax positions are subject to review and possible challenges by taxing authorities, including
as to the computation and allocation of income, transfer pricing and other complex issues. This includes adverse changes to the
manner in which Canada, the United States and other countries tax local and foreign corporations and interpret or change their tax
laws and applicable tax treaties, including in light of the increased focus by the U.S. Congress, the Canadian government, the
Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development and other government agencies in jurisdictions where we do business on
issues related to the taxation of multinational corporations. We cannot determine in advance the extent to which such jurisdictions may
amend their tax laws, review our tax positions, or assess additional taxes or interest and penalties on such taxes. In addition, our
effective tax rate may be increased by changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, our cash management strategies,
local tax rates, or interpretations of tax laws.

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property and Information Security

We may be unable to protect our intellectual property adequately from infringement by third parties, and we may also be
subject to claims that we infringe on intellectual property rights of others.

We rely on a combination of contract, copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures and other
measures to protect our intellectual property. There can be no assurance that our various patents, copyrights or trademarks will offer
sufficient protection and prevent misappropriation of our proprietary rights in our products, software or processes. We also may not be
granted patents, copyrights or trademarks on our pending or proposed applications, and granted applications may be challenged,
invalidated or circumvented in the future. Despite our precautions, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy our
applications and use information that we regard as proprietary to create products or services that compete with ours. We enforce our
intellectual property rights where appropriate, but the cost of doing so may be substantial and could outweigh the potential benefits,
and we may be unsuccessful in our enforcement efforts. Failure to protect or maintain the proprietary nature of our intellectual
property could adversely affect our ability to sell original products and materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Additionally, our competitors or other third parties may own or claim to own intellectual property in technology areas relating to
our technology, including ICE Software, manufacturing processes, and DIRTT Solutions. Although we do not believe that our
software or DIRTT Solutions infringe on the proprietary rights of any third parties, claims may arise regarding infringement or
invalidity claims (or claims for indemnification resulting from infringement claims). Such assertions or prosecutions, regardless of
their merit, may subject us to significant liabilities, require us to enter into royalty and licensing arrangements on unfavorable terms,
prevent us from assembling or licensing certain of our products, subject us to injunctions restricting our sale of products, cause severe
disruptions to our operations or the marketplaces in which we compete, or require us to satisfy indemnification commitments with our
clients, including contractual provisions under various license arrangements. A damages award against us could include an award of
royalties or lost profits and, if the court finds willful infringement, treble damages and attorneys’ fees. This may cause us to expend
significant costs and resources, and could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

If we are unable to protect our information systems against data corruption, cyber-based attacks or network security
breaches, our operations could be disrupted and our reputation and profitability could be negatively affected.

In the ordinary course of our business, we generate, collect and store confidential and proprietary information, including
intellectual property and business information. The secure storage, maintenance, and transmission of and access to this information is
important to our operations and reputation. We use automated software and hardware solutions to protect our on-premise and cloud
infrastructure; conduct routine third-party evaluations and vulnerability testing to identify and mitigate risks; and deploy training
programs throughout the company. We have experienced cyber-based attacks, but to our knowledge, we have not experienced any
material disruptions or breaches of our information technology systems or platforms. However, there is no guarantee that our security
systems, processes or procedures are adequate to safeguard against all data security breaches, misuse of data, cyber-attacks, acts of
vandalism, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming or human errors or other similar events. Any security breach
involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized disclosure of confidential information of a client, Construction Partner,
employee, supplier or Company information could result in financial losses, exposure to litigation risks and liability (including
regulatory liability), damage to our reputation, and disruptions in our operations, all of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. While we maintain cybersecurity insurance for the types of coverage and
amounts we consider commercially prudent and consistent with industry practice, such insurance may not be sufficient to cover all
losses relating to an information security breach.
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The regulatory environment related to information security, data collection and use, and privacy is increasingly rigorous, with
new and frequently changing requirements, and compliance with those requirements could result in additional costs. The costs
associated with information security, such as increased investment in technology, the costs of compliance with privacy laws, and costs
incurred to prevent or remediate information security breaches, could be substantial and adversely affect our business. A significant
compromise of sensitive employee, Construction Partner, client or supplier data in our possession could result in legal damages and
regulatory penalties. In addition, the costs of defending such actions or remediating breaches could be material.

Damage to our information technology and software systems could impair our ability to effectively provide DIRTT Solutions
and adversely affect our reputation, relationships with clients, financial condition and results of operations.

Our information technology and software networks and systems, which include the processing, transmission and storage of
information, are integrated with our manufacturing processes and essential to our business operations. These systems are vulnerable
to, among other things, damage or interruption from power outages, network failures or natural disasters, loss or corruption of data,
human error, employee misconduct and difficulties associated with upgrades, installations of major software or hardware, and
integration with new systems. While we maintain retention backups to geo-diverse digital and physical locations and have a recovery
data center, the data center and other protective measures we take could prove to be inadequate. Any disruption in our systems or
unauthorized disclosure of information could result in delayed manufacturing and delivery of our DIRTT Solutions, legal claims, a
loss of intellectual property and a disruption in operations, all of which could adversely affect our reputation, relationships with
clients, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Government Regulations and Enforcement

We may incur significant costs complying with environmental, health and safety laws and related claims, and failure to
comply with these laws and regulations could expose us to significant liabilities, which could materially adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

We are subject to laws, regulations, and other requirements with respect to workers’ health and safety and environmental
matters in the United States, Canada and other countries in which we operate. Environmental laws and regulations impose, among
other things, restrictions, liabilities and obligations in connection with the production, processing, preparation, handling, storage,
transportation, disposal and management of wastes and other substances, and the prevention and remediation of environmental effects.
Health and safety laws and regulations impose, among other things, requirements designed to ensure the protection of workers. New
or more stringent laws and regulations, including those relating to climate change and greenhouse gas emissions, may be adopted in
the future and could impact our facilities, raw material suppliers, the transportation and distribution of our solutions, and our clients,
which could reduce demand for our solutions or cause us to incur additional operating costs. In addition, certain foreign laws and
regulations may affect our ability to export products outside of or import products into the United States or Canada. Failure to comply
with these requirements may result in civil or criminal liability, damages and fines, and our operations could be curtailed, suspended
or shutdown and our reputation, ability to attract employees, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Private lawsuits,
including claims for remediation of contamination, personal injury or property damage, or actions by regional, national, state and local
regulatory agencies, including enforcement or cost-recovery actions, may materially increase our costs.

These factors may materially increase the amount we must invest to bring our processes into compliance with legal requirements
and impose additional expenses on our operations. In addition, any changes in these laws or regulations or changes in our
manufacturing processes may require us to request changes to our existing permits or obtain new permits. We may also be unable to
obtain or maintain, from time to time, all required environmental regulatory approvals. A delay in obtaining any required
environmental regulatory approvals or the failure to obtain and comply with such approvals could materially adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Financial Results
We have had negative cash flow from operating activities.

We had negative cash flow from operating activities for prior years, including the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
Continued negative operating cash flow may compromise our ability to make interest and principal payments on the convertible
unsecured subordinated debentures issued on January 25, 2021 and December 1, 2021 (collectively, the “Debentures’) on a timely
basis, or at all, and to execute our strategic plan. Until we are able to generate positive cash flow from operating activities over a
sustained period, our ability to finance our operations will be dependent on our cash reserves and available credit facilities and, if
required, our ability to obtain additional external financing. Although we had $3.2 million in cash provided from operating activities
during the fourth quarter of 2022 and we anticipate we will have positive cash flow from operating activities over at least the next
twelve months, we cannot guarantee that such future cash flow will be sufficient or other changes to our circumstances will not
necessitate additional financial resources to fund our operating activities.

In response to our negative cash flow from operations, on February 22, 2022, we commenced the process of closing our Phoenix
aluminum manufacturing facility, shifting related manufacturing to both our Savannah and Calgary aluminum facilities. Additionally,
we eliminated approximately 18% of our salaried workforce including manufacturing and office positions in February 2022, with
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further reduction of 36 positions in July 2022. Additionally, to offset cost inflation on our materials, we implemented product price
increases comprised of 5% effective November 1, 2021, 5% effective June 1, 2022, and a further 10% effective July 21, 2022. We
have also undertaken several strategic actions and a Private Placement (as defined herein) to improve our balance sheet in the short
term, see “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital
Resources". Although we anticipate these actions will strengthen our balance sheet and liquidity position, we cannot guarantee that
such future cash flow will be sufficient or other changes to our circumstances will not necessitate additional financial resources to
fund our operating activities.

We have experienced a history of losses, and despite certain periods of profitability in recent years, we may not be able to
generate sufficient revenue to achieve and sustain profitability.

We have incurred significant losses since commencing business. We incurred net losses of $55.0 million, $53.7 million and
$11.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. At December 31, 2022, we had an accumulated
deficit of $166.3 million. These losses and accumulated deficits were due in part to the substantial investments made to grow our
business and acquire clients, to further develop our service offerings through product and software development, to ensure that we
have sufficient production capacity and capability to deliver on our commitment of rapid delivery times and to preserve our
production, innovation and commercial capabilities through the economic disruption caused by the global COVID-19 pandemic in
anticipation of a significant increase in construction activity as the pandemic impacts abate. Net loss for the year ended December 31,
2022 includes $13.5 million of restructuring costs associated with initiatives taken by the reconstituted Board and management to
restructure the business and improve profitability and cashflows. Past results may not be indicative of our future performance, and
there can be no assurance that we will generate net income in the future.

DIRTT's gross margins and resulting profitability have historically been negatively affected by the impacts of material cost
inflation and the increased usage of discounting to drive higher demand. DIRTT has taken steps to improve gross margin by reducing
discounts and increasing prices, including a 5% product price increase in Q4, 2021 and Q2, 2022 and a further 10% price increase in
July 2022. Further, additional procurement and supply chain review procedures were established during the third quarter of 2022 to
better monitor the volatility in our underlying material input costs. While the Company believes its pricing, discount structure and
supply chain monitoring controls are sufficient, if we are unable to maintain or improve upon the gross profit margins delivered in the
fourth quarter of 2022, if inflationary increases continue without corresponding increases in our pricing, or if such reduced discounting
and price increases cause a material impact on demand, DIRTT’s results of operations and financial condition could be adversely
impacted.

We have experienced, and may experience in the future, quarterly and yearly fluctuations in results of operations and
financial condition.

Our results of operations and financial condition may continue to fluctuate from one quarter or year to another due to a number
of factors, some of which are outside of our control. For example, we usually experience seasonal slowdowns in the first and fourth
quarters of each calendar year, leading to stronger sales in the second half of the year versus the first half, and weather conditions may
also delay delivery and installation on some projects. Furthermore, sales that we anticipate in one quarter may be pushed into another
quarter, affecting both quarters’ results, and our actual or projected results of operations may fail to match our past performance.
These events could in turn cause the market price of our common shares to fluctuate. In particular, if our results of operations do not
meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, who may derive their expectations by extrapolating data from recent
historical results of operations, the market price of our common shares will likely decline. Due to our high fixed manufacturing costs
and operating expenses, quarterly volatility in sales volumes could result in periods of low operating cash flow and negatively affect
our liquidity. Due to these risk factors, quarter-to-quarter or year-to-year comparisons of our results of operations may not be an
indicator of future performance.

We have recognized, and may recognize in the future, impairment charges for our goodwill and certain other non-current
assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we impaired the $1.4 million net carrying value of goodwill on our consolidated
balance sheet. Significant negative industry or economic trends, disruptions to our business, planned or unexpected significant
changes in the use of the assets, and sustained market capitalization declines may result in the impairment of non-current assets. For
the past two years we have had an indicator of impairment for our non-current assets. Any further charges relating to impairments
could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations in the period in which the impairment is recognized. We did not
have any impairment charges for non-current assets during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Risks Related to Our Common Shares and Corporate Structure

Our share price has been and may continue to be volatile, which could cause the value of your investment to decline. If we
fail to comply with the continuing listing standards of Nasdagq, our securities could be de-listed.

Our common shares are currently listed on the TSX under the symbol “DRT” and on Nasdaq under the symbol “DRTT.” The
price of our common shares has in the past fluctuated significantly, and may fluctuate significantly in the future, depending upon a
number of factors, many of which are beyond our control and may adversely affect the market price of our common shares. These
factors include: (i) variations in quarterly results of operations; (ii) deviations in our earnings from publicly disclosed forward-looking
guidance; (iii) changes in earnings estimates by analysts; (iv) our announcements or our competitors’ announcements of significant
contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint ventures; (v) general conditions in the offsite construction and manufacturing
industries; (vi) sales of our common shares by our significant shareholders; (vii) fluctuations in stock market price and volume; and
(viii) other general economic conditions.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the trading price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has
been brought against that company. If our share price is volatile, we may become the target of securities litigation in both the United
States and Canada. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources from our
business and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, if the closing bid price of our common shares is below the $1.00 Nasdaq minimum requirement for 30 consecutive
business days, we may become subject to de-listing proceedings. On September 7, 2022, we received a letter from Nasdaq that we
have not been in compliance with the minimum bid price requirement set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5450(a)(1) for a period of 30
consecutive business days. In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we are provided a compliance period of 180
calendar days from the date of the notice to regain compliance with the minimum closing bid price requirement. If we do not regain
compliance during the compliance period, we may be afforded a second 180 calendar day period to regain compliance if, among other
things, we meet certain listing requirements of, and elect to transfer to, the Nasdaq Capital Market. We can achieve compliance with
the minimum bid price requirement if, during either compliance period, the closing bid price per share of our common shares is at
least $1.00 for a minimum of ten consecutive business days. We intend to monitor the closing bid price of our common shares and
assess potential actions to regain compliance, but there is no assurance that we will be able to regain compliance, including under the
specified time frames.

Any de-listing of our securities could have an adverse effect on the market price of, and the efficiency of the trading market for,
our securities, not only in terms of the number of shares that can be bought and sold at a given price, but also through delays in the
timing of transactions and less coverage of us by securities analysts, if any. Also, if in the future we were to determine that we need to
seek additional equity capital, having been de-listed or being subject to de-listing proceedings could have an adverse effect on our
ability to raise capital in the public or private markets.

We are governed by the corporate laws of Alberta, Canada, which in some cases have a different effect on shareholders than
the corporate laws of the United States.

We are governed by the ABCA and other relevant laws, which may affect the rights of shareholders differently than those of a
company governed by the laws of a U.S. jurisdiction, and may, together with our charter documents, have the effect of delaying,
deterring or discouraging another party from acquiring control of our company by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or
otherwise, or may affect the price an acquiring party would be willing to offer in such an instance. The material differences between
the ABCA and Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), that may have the greatest such effect include, but are not limited to,
the following: (i) for certain extraordinary corporate transactions (such as amalgamations or amendments to our articles), the ABCA
generally requires the voting threshold to be a special resolution passed by not less than two-thirds of the votes cast by the
shareholders who voted in respect of the resolution, whereas DGCL generally only requires a majority vote; and (ii) under the ABCA,
registered holders or beneficial owners (as defined in the ABCA) of not less than 5% of our common shares in aggregate can
requisition our directors to call a special meeting of shareholders, whereas such right does not exist under the DGCL. We cannot
predict whether investors will find our company and our common shares less attractive because we are governed by the corporate laws
of Alberta, Canada.

Because we are a corporation incorporated in Alberta and some of our directors and officers are residents of Canada, it may
be difficult for investors in the United States to enforce civil liabilities against us or our directors and officers based solely upon the
federal securities laws of the United States. Similarly, it may be difficult for Canadian investors to enforce civil liabilities against
our directors and officers residing outside of Canada.

We are a corporation amalgamated and existing under the laws of Alberta with our principal place of business in Calgary,
Alberta, Canada. Some of our directors and officers are residents of Canada and a substantial portion of our assets and those of such
persons are located outside the United States. Consequently, it may be difficult for U.S. investors to effect service of process within
the United States upon us or our directors or officers who are not residents of the United States, or to realize in the United States upon
judgments of courts of the United States predicated upon civil liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933. Investors should not assume
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that Canadian courts: (i) would enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained in actions against us or such persons predicated upon the
civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws or the securities or blue sky laws of any state within the United States or (ii)
would enforce, in original actions, liabilities against us or such persons predicated upon the U.S. federal securities laws or any such
state securities or blue sky laws.

Similarly, some of our directors and officers are residents of countries other than Canada and all or a substantial portion of the
assets of such persons are located outside Canada. As a result, it may be difficult for Canadian investors to initiate a lawsuit within
Canada against these non-Canadian residents. In addition, it may not be possible for Canadian investors to collect from these non-
Canadian residents judgments obtained in courts in Canada predicated on the civil liability provisions of securities legislation of
certain of the provinces and territories of Canada. It may also be difficult for Canadian investors to succeed in a lawsuit in the United
States, based solely on violations of federal, provincial or territorial securities laws.

General Risks

Difficulties in recruiting and retaining qualified officers or employees, or experiencing labor shortages or disruptions, could
have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our success will depend in part on our ability to attract, develop, and retain qualified personnel as needed. We have undergone
significant changes at a senior management level during the year as discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report. Although we
anticipate smooth transitions, any changes to members of our senior management may be disruptive to our operations, including by
diverting our Board’s and management’s time and attention and a decline in employee morale. If there are any delays in this process,
our business could be negatively impacted. We may be affected by labor shortages or disruptions, particularly in locations where we
operate manufacturing facilities. If we fail to attract or retain qualified personnel, or experience labor shortages or disruptions, we
could incur higher recruiting expenses, a loss of manufacturing capabilities, or inability to respond to significant increases in demand,
all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We may have additional capital needs in the future and may not be able to obtain additional capital or financing on
acceptable terms.

We plan to continually invest in business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business opportunities, such as
expanding our sales and marketing activities, developing new software, acquiring complementary businesses, products or technology,
and expanding or enhancing our manufacturing capabilities, including factory automation. To the extent that our existing capital is
insufficient to meet our requirements, we may need to undertake equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. Further
issuances of equity or convertible debt securities may result in significant share dilution. Additional new equity securities issued could
have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of our currently issued and outstanding common shares. Additional debt
financings may involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which
may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. We cannot provide any assurance
that sufficient debt or equity financing will be available for necessary or desirable expenditures or acquisitions, or to cover losses, and
accordingly, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly
limited, and our liquidity could be materially and adversely affected.

We may engage in future mergers, acquisitions, agreements, consolidations, or other corporate transactions that could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

While we currently have no specific plans to acquire any businesses, we may, in the future, seek to expand our business and
capabilities through acquiring compatible technology, products or businesses. Additionally, we may explore other corporate
transactions, including mergers, agreements, consolidations, or joint ventures, that we believe may be beneficial to our business or
further specific business goals. Acquisitions involve certain risks and uncertainties, including, among other things, (i) difficulty
integrating the newly acquired businesses and operations in an efficient and cost-effective manner; (ii) inability to maintain
relationships with key clients, vendors and other business partners of the acquired businesses; (iii) potential loss of key employees of
the acquired businesses; (iv) exposure to litigation or other claims in connection with our assumption of certain claims and liabilities
of the acquired businesses; (v) diversion of management’s time and focus; and (vi) possible write-offs or impairment charges related
to the acquired businesses. The occurrence of any of these risks could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive offices are located in Calgary, Alberta, where we lease approximately 73,000 square feet of office and
manufacturing space. Our lease expires in September 2027. Our principal manufacturing facilities are currently located in Calgary,
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Alberta; and Savannah, Georgia. On February 22, 2022 we announced our intention to close the Phoenix manufacturing facility and
DXC and on August 23, 2022 we announced our intention to temporarily suspend operations in Rock Hill, South Carolina as
discussed in Item 1. “Business” in this Annual Report.

Our wall surfaces (which we call panels), casework and timber solutions are manufactured in Calgary, while aluminum, glass
and power components are manufactured in Calgary and Savannah. In Calgary, we lease an aggregate of approximately 400,000
square feet of manufacturing space across three facilities (excluding our principal offices), which leases expire in January 2024 and
January 2026. In Phoenix, we lease approximately 130,000 square feet of manufacturing space across two facilities, which leases
expire in March 2027. We are currently utilizing the Phoenix space as a storage facility and have sub-leased the remaining premises.
In Savannah, we lease approximately 81,000 square feet of manufacturing space, which lease expires in February 2029. In October
2019, we entered into a 15-year lease, which DIRTT may extend for two additional 5 year periods at its option, for a panel factory of
approximately 130,000 square feet in Rock Hill, South Carolina. Should the need arise, we have the expansion rights to lease an
additional 130,000 square feet of space. In March 2020, we entered into an 8 year lease, which DIRTT may extend an additional 5
years at its option, of approximately 18,000 square feet of space for a DXC in Dallas, Texas.

Our ICE development offices are located in Calgary, Alberta and Salt Lake City, Utah. In our Salt Lake City development
office, we lease approximately 6,600 square feet of office space pursuant to a lease that expires in December 2023. In New York City,
New York, we lease approximately 4,100 square feet of space to operate a DXC; this lease expires in February 2024. In Chicago,
Illinois, we own approximately 6,200 square feet of office space, which we use to operate a DXC.

Through distributed manufacturing, we can shift production of some components among our manufacturing sites, reduce
transportation times and costs, and meet targeted lead times. We believe that our current and planned facilities are adequate for our
current needs and that suitable additional or substitute space would be available if needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are pursuing multiple lawsuits against our former founders, Mogens Smed and Barrie Loberg, their new company Falkbuilt
Ltd. (“Falkbuilt”), and other related individual and corporate defendants for violations of fiduciary duties and noncompetition and
non-solicitation covenants contained in their executive employment agreements, and the misappropriation of our confidential and
proprietary information in violation of numerous Canadian and U.S. state, and federal laws pertaining to the protection of our trade
secrets and proprietary information and the prevention of false advertising and deceptive trade practices.

As of December 31, 2022, our litigation against Falkbuilt, Messrs. Smed and Loberg, and their associates was comprised of
three main lawsuits: (i) an action in the Alberta Court of Queen’s Bench instituted on May 9, 2019 against Falkbuilt, Messrs. Smed
and Loberg, and several other former DIRTT employees alleging breaches of restrictive covenants, fiduciary duties, and duties of
loyalty, fidelity and confidentiality, and the misappropriation of our confidential information (the “Canadian Non-Compete Case”);
(i1) an action in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Utah instituted on December 11, 2019 against Falkbuilt, Smed, and
other individual and corporate defendants alleging misappropriation of our confidential information, trade secrets, business
intelligence and customer information (the “Utah Misappropriation Case”); and (iii) an action in the U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of Texas instituted on June 24, 2021 alleging that Falkbuilt has unlawfully used our confidential information in the
United States and intentionally caused confusion in the United States in an attempt to steal customers, opportunities, and business
intelligence, with the aim of establishing a competing business in the United States market (the “Texas Unfair Competition Case”).
We intend to pursue the cases vigorously.

In the Canadian Non-Compete Case, we have conducted extensive document production and questioning of the defendants that
support our claims, as follows: (i) Smed and Loberg, and others, breached their duties owed to DIRTT, including their contractual and
fiduciary duties; (ii) Smed, Loberg, and others began developing the new competing company immediately after Smed’s departure;
(iii) before it was called Falkbuilt, the new competing company operated through a covert group comprised of then-current DIRTT
employees and Construction Partners known as the TTIMit Group (which stands for “This Time I Mean It”); (iv) members of the
TTIMit Group took steps to conceal their communications by creating and using alias names, using private and personal email
addresses and phone numbers, and holding secret meetings and gatherings; (v) the TTMit Group also used then-current DIRTT
employees to build out Falkbuilt's warehouse premises and offices, source and purchase equipment for Falkbuilt, assist with market
research and develop Falkbuilt's products, build vignettes and drawings, address Falkbuilt's software and computer needs, and name
Falkbuilt; and (vi) members of the TTIMit Group conspired together to solicit DIRTT employees and Construction Partners, design
and sell competing products using DIRTT's confidential information, including DIRTT's pricing lists, DIRTT's product designs,
DIRTT's personnel information, and revenue forecast information for DIRTT's Construction Partners. DIRTT is seeking, among other
things, an order stopping the defendants from competing with DIRTT, judgment for damages and losses, and an accounting and
disgorgement of the defendants' gains from their wrongful misconduct. In April 2022, DIRTT filed a summary judgment application
seeking an expedited, pre-trial, final determination of our claims against the defendants. We expect this application to be heard in the
first half of 2023.
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In the Utah Misappropriation Case, the Court dismissed certain of the defendants, Falkbuilt Ltd., Falkbuilt, Inc. and Mogens
Smed without prejudice, finding that Utah was an inconvenient forum. We appealed that ruling and the appeal was heard in November
2022. The remaining portion of the Utah Misappropriation Case is stayed pending resolution of the appeal.

In the Texas Unfair Competition Case, the Court dismissed our complaint finding that Texas was an inconvenient forum. We
disagree with the decision and have filed a notice of appeal with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. The appeal is stayed pending
resolution of the appeal in the Utah Misappropriation Case.

Falkbuilt also filed a lawsuit against us on November 5, 2019 in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, alleging that DIRTT
has misappropriated and misused their alleged proprietary information in furtherance of DIRTT’s product development. Falkbuilt
seeks monetary relief and an interim, interlocutory and permanent injunction of DIRTT’s alleged use of the alleged proprietary
information. We believe that the suit is without merit and filed an application for summary judgment to dismiss Falkbuilt’s claim.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information; Holders of Record

Our common shares are traded on the TSX under the symbol “DRT” and on Nasdaq under the symbol “DRTT.”

As of February 17, 2023, there were 97,961,655 common shares outstanding and 169 shareholders of record.

Dividends

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common shares to date. The declaration and payment of dividends is at
the discretion of the Board, taking into account (i) our earnings, capital requirements and financial condition, (ii) restrictions on our
ability to pay dividends under our RBC Facility (as defined below), and (iii) such other factors as the Board considers relevant. Our
RBC Facility generally limits our ability to pay any dividends or make any other distribution on our outstanding common shares. See
Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Credit Facility” for more
information. If and when our Board declares cash dividends on our common shares, such dividends may be declared and paid in either
U.S. dollars or Canadian dollars.

Performance Graph

The following graph illustrates a comparison of the total cumulative shareholder return of our common shares with the
cumulative return of the S&P/TSX Composite Index and the S&P 600 Materials Index for the period commencing December 31, 2016
and ending on December 31, 2022. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 on December 31, 2016, in our common shares,
the shares comprising the S&P/TSX Composite Index, and the shares comprising the S&P 600 Materials Index The below shareholder
return calculations are based on the exchange rates as reported by the H.10 statistical release of the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System as of the year-end exchange rate for the applicable period. The comparisons in the table are required by the SEC and
applicable securities laws in Canada and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible future performance of our common
shares. This graph and related materials shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of
the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference
into any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general
incorporation language in any such filing.
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$100 Investment in
stock or index
DIRTT Environmental
Solutions Ltd
S&P/TSX Composite
Index

S&P 600 Materials
Index
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DRT
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December 31,
2016

100.00 $
100.00 §

100.00 $

December 31,
2017

11530 $
113.73 $

108.78 $

December 31,

2018

95.89 $
92.19 8

83.65 $§

December 31,
2019

70.21 $
115.61 $

99.55 $§

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Issuer’s Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial
information appearing in this Annual Report. The discussion contains forward-looking statements reflecting our current expectations
and estimates and assumptions concerning events and financial trends that may effect our future operating results or financial
position. Actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements due to
a number of factors, including those described under the headings “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Cautionary Statement
Regarding Forward Looking Statements” appearing elsewhere in the Annual Report.

Summary of Financial Results

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and its subsidiary (“DIRTT”, the “Company”, “we” or “our”) is a leader in industrialized
construction for interior spaces. DIRTT's system of physical products and digital tools empowers organizations, together with
construction and design leaders, to build high-performing, adaptable, interior environments. Operating in the workplace, healthcare,
education, and public sector markets, DIRTT’s system provides total design freedom, and greater certainty in cost, schedule, and
outcomes.

DIRTT’s proprietary design integration software, ICE® (“ICE” or “ICE software”), translates the vision of architects and
designers into a 3D model that also acts as manufacturing information. ICE is also licensed to unrelated companies and Construction
Partners of the Company.

Key Fourth Quarter 2022 Highlights

. The Company announced and successfully implemented a price increase of approximately 6.5% in November 2021. In
addition, price increases of 5% and 10% were announced and implemented during June and July 2022, respectively. As of
the fourth quarter of 2022, our revenue reflects the impact of virtually all of these price increases.

. Revenues for the fourth quarter of 2022 were $42.4 million, a decrease of $0.5 million or 1% from $42.9 million for the
same period in 2021, and a $4.3 million or 9% decrease from the third quarter of 2022. Our fourth quarter of 2021
benefited from the price increases announced in November of that year, which motivated various customers to accelerate
order and deliveries to avoid the price increases. As such, and compared to prior year, the improvement in revenue from
the pricing actions discussed above, was offset by a return to a more seasonal demand pattern and higher incidents of
project push-out rates. Sequentially, this is more pronounced given the increased seasonal demand during the months
within the third quarter of 2022.

. Gross profit and gross profit margin for the fourth quarter of 2022 was $11.6 million or 27.3% of revenue, an increase of
$3.2 million or 38% from $8.4 million or 19.6% of revenue for the same period of 2021, and an increase of $4.6 million or
65% from $7.0 million in the third quarter of 2022.

. Adjusted Gross Profit (see “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) for the fourth quarter of 2022 was $13.6 million. This
represents a $3.4 million or 33.4% increase over the third quarter of 2022 and a $2.7 million or 25.3% increase over the
fourth quarter of 2021. Adjusted Gross Profit Margin (see “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) for the fourth quarter of
2022 was 32.0%, a 1030 bps improvement over the third quarter of 2022 and a 670 bps improvement over the fourth
quarter of 2021. The improved Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Margin were driven by commercial
discipline as well as the realization of most of our price increases discussed above. Beyond the more efficient recovery of
material input costs through the pricing actions taken in 2022, general inflation in services and labor costs have been
offset by the favorable impact from the weakening Canadian dollar.

. Net loss for the fourth quarter of 2022 was $5.9 million compared to $16.0 million for the same period of 2021. The lower
net loss is primarily the result of the higher gross profit margin, explained above, of $3.2 million, a $0.2 million decrease
in foreign exchange loss and a $9.7 million reduction in operating expenses offset by a $1.0 million decrease in
government subsidies, a $0.2 million increase in interest expense, $0.6 million of tax expense and $1.2 million of
reorganization costs. During the fourth quarter we benefited from the weakening Canadian dollar on Canadian dollar
denominated costs.

. Adjusted EBITDA (see “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) for the fourth quarter of 2022 was $0.6 million or 1.4% of
revenue, an improvement of $10.3 million from a $9.7 million loss or (22.7)% of revenue for the fourth quarter of 2021
and an improvement of $6.0 million from a $5.4 million loss or (11.6)% of revenue for the third quarter of 2022.
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On November 30, 2022, the Company issued 8.7 million shares in a private placement to its two largest shareholders and
all of its directors and executive officers for aggregate gross consideration of approximately $2.8 million (the "Private
Placement"). Concurrent with the Private Placement, the Company's two largest shareholders collectively committed to
purchase common shares having an aggregate subscription price of not less than $2.0 million in any rights offering
conducted by the Company on or before November 30, 2023.

The Company generated approximately $3.8 million of cash in the fourth quarter compared to cash used of $21.3 million,
$19.1 million and $12.5 million in the first, second and third quarters of 2022, respectively. Our improved fourth quarter
of 2022 cash flow was driven by proceeds from the Private Placement discussed above, improvement in Adjusted
EBITDA and improved working capital management, offset by approximately $1.2 million ($13.5 million full year) of
reorganization costs.

Key Annual 2022 Highlights

Outlook

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2022 were $172.2 million, an increase of $24.6 million or 17% from $147.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 driven primarily by the pricing actions discussed above and an increase in
demand, primarily from the COVID impacted periods during 2021.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $28.2 million or 16.4% of revenue, an increase of $4.7 million or
20% from $23.5 million or 15.9% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021. Included in gross profit is inventory
write-downs of $1.0 million (0.6% of total revenue), primarily related to the discontinuance of the Reflect and other
product lines and accelerated amortization and depreciation of $2.1 million on discontinued product lines and the closure
of the Phoenix Facility.

Adjusted Gross Profit (see “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $39.0 million,
an increase of $4.9 million or 14.7% of revenue from $34.0 million or 23.1% of revenue for the year ended December 31,
2021. Adjusted Gross Profit Margin (see “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 was
22.6%, a 500 bps decline from 23.1% for the year ended December 31, 2021. 2022 results include certain inventory write-
downs of $1.0 million (0.6% of revenue), primarily related to the discontinuance of the Reflect and other product lines.
The improved Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Margin were driven by a combination of improved
demand for our products and commercial discipline. Beyond the more efficient recovery of material input costs through
the pricing actions taken in 2022, general inflation in services and labor costs have been offset by the favorable impact
from the weakening Canadian dollar.

Management has taken steps to align our manufacturing footprint and salaried workforce with our current activity levels
as well as cost reduction and profitability initiatives. In February 2022, we announced the closure of our Phoenix Facility
and elimination of manufacturing and office positions. In July 2022, we announced a further reduction of salaried
positions and in August 2022, we announced the temporary closure of our Rock Hill Facility as the Calgary
manufacturing facility has sufficient capacity to absorb production and meet expected demand for the near term.

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $55.0 million compared to $53.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2021. The higher net loss is primarily the result of the above noted increase in gross profit offset by a $1.8 million
increase in operating expenses which included $13.5 million of reorganization costs (added back to Adjusted EBITDA), a
$2.0 million increase in interest expense, a $3.7 million decrease of government subsidies and a $0.2 million increase in
income tax expense. These decreases were partially offset by an increase of $1.8 million in foreign exchange gain. The
Company benefited from a weakening Canadian dollar on Canadian dollar denominated costs compared to the prior year.

Adjusted EBITDA (see “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 was a $26.2 million
loss or (15.2)% of revenue, an improvement of $15.1 million from a $41.3 million loss or (28.0)% of revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2021 for the above noted reasons.

The Company continues to evaluate certain non-dilutive, strategic initiatives expected to generate additional cash flows in
the first half of 2023.

Annual revenue of $172.2 million fell just below the low end of the guidance range of $175 million to $185 million set during
the second quarter of 2022, primarily driven by jobsite and project delays.

During 2022, our key focus was on stabilizing the Company’s balance sheet, slowing the pace of cash usage and implementing a
number of initiatives designed to optimize both the cost and pricing structure. As early as the third quarter of 2022, we began seeing
the improved financial effects of these changes. During the fourth quarter, this was even more magnified as Adjusted Gross Profit
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returned to greater than 30% for the first time since 2020. Improvements in operational and supply chain led to reductions in labor and
inventory carrying costs during the fourth quarter. Further, we reduced costs needed to operate our back office and general and
administrative overhead to levels commensurate with our current and expected revenue levels.

We take great pride in our products’ ability to adjust and conform to a changing workplace. Our ability to adapt and respond to
an unknown future is at the core of our value proposition. During 2022, we made adjustments, and in some cases, discontinued certain
product lines that did not align with this value; our Reflect wall line principally among them.

As we shift to 2023, we expect to leverage each of the changes made during 2022, as well as being much more focused on
disciplined spending and continuing to ensure our investments align with our available cash and growth expectations.

As of January 1, 2023, our 12-month forward pipeline, which represents known projects and leads at various stages of
maturation which our sales teams are working to convert into orders, was $391 million, in line with October 1, 2022, and 26% higher
than the $311 million balance as of January 1, 2022. The increase over prior year is driven by a combination of higher pricing and the
volume impact of the higher secured projects where the required shipment dates have pushed out due to stretched construction
schedules, experienced in the fourth quarter of 2022. The pipeline comprises 62% commercial, 20% healthcare, 7% education and
11% government verticals. The relative split between verticals remains consistent with pre-pandemic actual percentage results.

The January 2023 pipeline is not only higher than January 2022, but we also believe it is healthier. The percentage of projects
we believe are at the stage of the project lifecycle where the project has been costed and budgeted for the next twelve months has
increased. Thus, while the macro-economic conditions impacting DIRTT continue to be volatile, we believe we have a better project
outlook today, than one year ago. While we are encouraged by the pipeline growth, our order pace and quarterly revenue and supply
chain forecasting continues to be challenged by the high push out rates and longer than normal engineering and design time associated
with large and complex projects.

Our Construction Partners have been and remain a key element in our go-to-market strategy. Enhancing both partner
effectiveness and accountability will again be a priority in 2023. Our Construction Partners are a direct conduit to many of our end
customers and we recommenced a Partner Advisory Council to elevate partner feedback within our organization and provide further
insight to support our commercial and operational decision making.

We continue to evaluate under-performing Construction Partners and are working to provide additional support and training to
them. We have also placed an emphasis on those Construction Partners that have demonstrated a commitment to growth, commercial
discipline, and collaborative success. We believe this approach will serve to strengthen our pipeline and provide a strong platform in
which to drive better organic growth.

We are closely monitoring our cost structure, including the underlying materials that comprise our products. Although we
believe we are insulated from the near-term effects of a recession in the United States or Canada, we are susceptible to the inflationary
impact of labor and commodity pricing, particularly aluminum and wood.

In response to the risk associated with these items, we have taken additional actions over the past two months that will reduce
annualized overhead costs by approximately $3 million to $5 million. These cost reductions are related to efficiencies and
streamlining our back office and operational support functions, not pursuant to a planned restructuring program. We are also
evaluating certain purchase arrangements that will hedge against inflation and volatility associated with our primary materials.

We believe that the combination of the growth in our sales pipeline, the improved margins from pricing actions already taken
and reduced cost structure set us up well to deliver year over year growth in revenue, gross margin and Adjusted EBITDA during
2023.

The Company’s current and immediate focus continues to be growing revenues, increasing profitability, and managing liquidity.
Moving into 2023, the following items remain the focus of our management team:

. Re-focused training and development of our Construction Partner and employee base surrounding our go-to-market
strategy.
. Continued offering of customer friendly incentives designed to improve volume and price certainty (e.g., price lock

guarantee, quick pay discounts, rebate programs, etc.).

. Establishing customer loyalty programs that will provide concierge level service to Construction Partners and end
customers based on various volume, project, and forecast accuracy metrics.

. Executing upon several supply chain optimization projects designed to improve Sales and Operational Planning and
reduce slow moving and/or obsolete inventory items.

. Tightly managing discretionary spend and overtime during periods of order volatility.
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As many of our end customers continue implementing ‘return to work’ strategies, we have seen many cases where there is a
strong need to modify their workspace to accommodate a more flexible environment in the short-term, which in turn could change
again over the medium- to long-term as post-pandemic requirements continue to evolve. Additionally, many organizations in different
sectors are trying to enhance their physical presence in local communities by adopting a single design model that works in multiple
jurisdictions. We believe we are well-positioned to capitalize on both trends.

In 2023, we expect to deliver low to mid-single digit growth in revenue and see higher gross margins, net income (loss) and
Adjusted EBITDA compared to 2022. We also expect to continue to stabilize the balance sheet and grow unrestricted cash through a
combination of improved financial performance and contribution from our non-dilutive cash initiatives previously discussed.

We may opportunistically take actions to improve our debt and equity structure, though we anticipate that that Company's cash
flows from operations and current financing source will be sufficient for the cash needs of the Company in 2023.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Note Regarding Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”). These GAAP financial statements include non-cash charges and other charges and benefits that we
believe are unusual or infrequent in nature or that we believe may make comparisons to our prior or future performance difficult.

As a result, we also provide financial information in this Annual Report that is not prepared in accordance with GAAP and
should not be considered as an alternative to the information prepared in accordance with GAAP. Management uses these non-GAAP
financial measures in its review and evaluation of the financial performance of the Company. We believe that these non-GAAP
financial measures also provide additional insight to investors and securities analysts as supplemental information to our GAAP
results and as a basis to compare our financial performance period-over-period and to compare our financial performance with that of
other companies. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures facilitate comparisons of our core operating results from period
to period and to other companies by removing the effects of our capital structure (net interest income on cash deposits, interest
expense on outstanding debt and debt facilities, or foreign exchange movements), asset base (depreciation and amortization), the
impact of under-utilized capacity on gross profit, tax consequences and stock-based compensation. We remove the impact of all
foreign exchange from Adjusted EBITDA. Foreign exchange gains and losses can vary significantly period-to-period due to the
impact of changes in the U.S. and Canadian dollar exchange rates on foreign currency denominated monetary items on the balance
sheet and are not reflective of the underlying operations of the Company. We remove the impact of under-utilized capacity from gross
profit, and fixed production overheads are allocated to inventory on the basis of normal capacity of the production facilities. In periods
where production levels are abnormally low, unallocated overheads are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred. In addition, management bases certain forward-looking estimates and budgets on non-GAAP financial measures, primarily
Adjusted EBITDA.

Government subsidies, depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation expense, reorganization expenses, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment expenses are excluded from our non-GAAP financial measures because management
considers them to be outside of the Company’s core operating results, even though some of those receipts and expenses may recur,
and because management believes that each of these items can distort the trends associated with the Company’s ongoing performance.
We believe that excluding these receipts and expenses provides investors and management with greater visibility to the underlying
performance of the business operations, enhances consistency and comparativeness with results in prior periods that do not, or future
periods that may not, include such items, and facilitates comparison with the results of other companies in our industry.

The following non-GAAP financial measures are presented in this Annual Report, and a description of the calculation for each
measure is included.

Adjusted Gross Profit Gross profit before deductions for costs of under-utilized capacity, depreciation and
amortization

Adjusted Gross Profit Margin Adjusted Gross Profit divided by revenue

EBITDA Net income before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

Adjusted EBITDA EBITDA adjusted to remove foreign exchange gains or losses; impairment expenses;

reorganization expenses; stock-based compensation expense; government subsidies; and any
other non-core gains or losses

Adjusted EBITDA Margin Adjusted EBITDA divided by revenue
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You should carefully evaluate these non-GAAP financial measures, the adjustments included in them, and the reasons we
consider them appropriate for analysis supplemental to our GAAP information. Each of these non-GAAP financial measures has
important limitations as an analytical tool due to exclusion of some but not all items that affect the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measures. You should not consider any of these non-GAAP financial measures in isolation or as substitutes for an analysis of
our results as reported under GAAP. You should also be aware that we may recognize income or incur expenses in the future that are
the same as, or similar to, some of the adjustments in these non-GAAP financial measures. Because these non-GAAP financial
measures may be defined differently by other companies in our industry, our definitions of these non-GAAP financial measures may
not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies, thereby diminishing their utility.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2021

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
($ in thousands)
Revenue 172,161 147,593 17
Gross Profit® 28,160 23,460 20
Gross Profit Margin 16.4% 15.9%
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing 26,950 31,041 (13)
General and Administrative 25,462 30,595 a7
Operations Support 9,498 9,372 1
Technology and Development 7,555 8,234 ®)
Stock-Based Compensation 4,277 4,713 9
Reorganization 13,461 - 100
Goodwill Impairment - 1,443 (100)
Total Operating Expenses 87,203 85,398 2
Operating Loss (59,043) (61,938) 5
Operating Margin (34.3)% (42.0)%

(1) Gross Profit for the year ended December 31, 2022 includes $1.0 million primarily related to the write off of inventory of discontinued product lines, and $2.1
million of accelerated depreciation and amortization on software associated with discontinued product lines and the closure of the Phoenix Facility

Revenue

The following table sets forth the contribution to revenue of our DIRTT Solutions and related offerings.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
($ in thousands)
Product 147,448 129,031 14
Transportation 18,030 13,231 36
License fees from Construction Partners 778 738 5
Total product revenue 166,256 143,000 16
Installation and other services 5,905 4,593 29
172,161 147,593 17

In response to significant increases in the costs of raw materials, shipping materials, labor, and freight, effective November 16,
2021, DIRTT increased product and transportation prices on new projects by approximately 6.5%. On February 17, 2022, we
implemented a further price increase of 5% that came into effect June 1, 2022. On June 21, 2022 an additional price increase of 10%
was announced effective July 21, 2022. As of the fourth quarter of 2022, product sales reflect virtually all of these price increases.
The first quarter of 2022 marked the transition of the COVID-19 pandemic to an endemic with the broad easing of health restrictions,
including work-from-home mandates, across North America. While the resurgence in COVID-19 infections due to the Omicron
variant at the beginning of the year temporarily sent many employees back to their home offices and delayed return dates, the
Company and our Construction Partners experienced an uptick in planning activity and opportunity growth in our commercial vertical
which began to translate into an increase in orders beginning in March 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, revenue was $172.2 million, an increase of $24.6 million or 17% from the year
ended December 31, 2021. The improvement in revenue was driven by the pricing actions and increased product demand discussed
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above, offset by secured projects where the required shipment dates have pushed out due to stretched construction schedules
increased. Further, 2021 revenue benefited from the price increases announced in November 2021, which motivated various customers
to accelerate order and deliveries into 2021 to avoid the price increases. During the fourth quarter of 2022, we returned to a
normalized seasonal demand pattern.

Installation and other services revenue was $5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to $4.6 million in the
year ended December 31, 2021. This revenue primarily reflects services performed by our ICE and design teams for third parties.
Except in limited circumstances, our Construction Partners, rather than the Company, perform installation services, and accordingly,
we are not anticipating significant growth in this revenue stream.

Our success is partly dependent on our ability to profitably develop our Construction Partner network to expand our market
penetration and ensure best practices are shared across local markets. At December 31, 2022, we had 67 (December 31, 2021: 69)
Construction Partners servicing multiple locations. In February 2022, we announced the establishment of a Partner Advisory Council
to provide a greater link with Construction Partners and end clients who they service. The Partner Advisory Council will offer advice
on sales and marketing, product issues and new market needs, market conditions, competitive landscape, and other related areas of
mutual interest.

We periodically analyze our revenue growth by vertical markets in the defined markets of commercial, healthcare, government
and education. The following table presents our product and transportation revenue by vertical market.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
($ in thousands)

Commercial 115,102 84,488 36
Healthcare 19,739 30,130 (34)
Government 16,564 16,012 3
Education 14,073 11,632 21
License fees from Construction Partners 778 738 5
Total product revenue 166,256 143,000 16
Service revenue 5,905 4,593 29

172,161 147,593 17

For the Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021
(in %)

Commercial 70 60
Healthcare 12 21
Government 10 11
Education 8 8
Total Product Revenue® 100 100

(O Excludes license fees from Construction Partners.

Commercial revenues increased by 36% in the year ended December 31, 2022 from the prior year, reflecting improving market
conditions as health restrictions and work-from-home requirements ease and include one large customer in the technology sector with
revenue of $8.8 million. Healthcare decreased by 34% in the year ended December 31, 2022 from the prior year. Such sales tend to be
larger individual projects and are subject to timing due to a typically longer sales cycle, resulting in variability in sales levels. In 2021,
we had one large healthcare customer with revenue of $9.6 million which did not recur in 2022.

Education sales in 2022 increased by 21% over the prior year. At the beginning of the pandemic, education spending effectively
paused with many institutions suspending in-person classes. There were no individually significant education projects and the
increases represent higher volumes of projects due to the easing of health restrictions and many students returning to in-person
learning. Government revenues in 2022 increased by 3% over 2021.

Revenue continues to be derived almost exclusively from projects in North America and predominantly from the United States.
The following table presents our revenue dispersion by geography:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
($ in thousands)
Canada 25,477 17,299 47
U.S. 146,684 130,294 13
172,161 147,593 17

Historically, approximately 15-25% and 75-85% of revenues are derived from sales to Canada and the United States,
respectively. In 2020 and 2021, revenues from Canada fell to 11% and 12%, respectively, of total sales while sales to the United States
increased to 89% and 88%, respectively, of total sales. COVID-19 infection rates and resulting regulatory responses by governments
and public health officials have varied significantly by region, impacting the relative contribution of sales from each country. The
geographical split for 2022 returned to historical averages and reflects the easing of health restrictions in Canada which occurred later
than in the United States.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $4.1 million to $27.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 from $31.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease was largely related to a decrease of $3.8 million in salaries and benefits
costs and $0.7 million decrease in depreciation expense. The decreases were offset by $0.6 million increase in travel, meals and
entertainment expenses as business activity has increased with the easing of restrictions during 2022.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative (“G&A”) expenses decreased $5.1 million to $25.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
from $30.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease was related to a $3.3 million decrease in salaries and benefits
costs associated with the planned headcount reductions as part of our cost savings initiatives, a $2.0 million decrease in professional
services costs and a $0.7 million decrease in depreciation expense, offset by a $0.9 million increase in costs incurred associated with
the contested election of directors to $1.8 million in 2022 from $0.9 million in 2021. The decreases were partially offset by increased
office costs as employees returned to work during 2022.

Operations Support Expenses

Operations support is comprised primarily of project managers, order entry and other professionals that facilitate the integration
of our Construction Partner project execution and our manufacturing operations. Operations support expenses of $9.5 million in 2022
increased marginally from $9.4 million in 2021. The increase was due to lower capitalized hours in 2022 compared to 2021 as there
were limited internal design projects compared to the prior year. The increases were offset by lower travel, meals and entertainment
costs compared to 2021.

Technology and Development Expenses

Technology and development expenses relate to non-capitalizable costs associated with our product and software development
teams and are primarily comprised of salaries and benefits of technical staff.

Technology and development expenses decreased by $0.7 million to $7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
compared to $8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily related to decreased salaries and benefits costs and
professional fees in the current year offset by a decrease in capitalized software development costs.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $4.3 million compared to $4.7 million in 2021.
The movement in this expense was largely the impact of grants of RSUs to the Company's employees, including those in lieu of cash
compensation to the Company’s former interim Chief Executive Officer in January 2022 and DSUs granted to the Board of Directors,
lowered by the impact of fair value adjustments on cash settled awards as a result of our share price decreasing during the year ended
December 31, 2022. The Board of Directors receives 100% of their remuneration in DSUs.

Goodwill Impairment

We test goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of the calendar year. Due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on our financial results in 2021, we determined it was necessary to use the quantitative approach to perform our goodwill
impairment test. Based on our testing, the fair value of goodwill did not exceed the carrying value of its net assets and, accordingly,
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the entire $1.4 million balance of goodwill was impaired as at December 31, 2021. There was no impairment charge for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

Reorganization

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we incurred $13.5 million of reorganization costs. Reorganization costs for the year
include insurance costs incurred on change of control of the Board of Directors following the contested director elections, costs
associated with the closure of the Phoenix Facility, costs associated with the temporary suspension of operations at the Rock Hill
Facility and termination benefits associated with these changes, cost reduction initiatives explained below and management changes
that occurred during the year.

We have undertaken several initiatives to align our manufacturing footprint with our current activity levels. This included the
closure of the Phoenix Facility completed in the second quarter of 2022, with related manufacturing to be undertaken by both our
Savannah and Calgary Facilities. Of the initial estimate of cost savings of approximately $2.4 million from this closure, we expect to
realize annualized savings of approximately $1.0 million, as $1.4 million of work force reductions were offset by additions in Calgary
and Savannah due to increased demand. On August 23, 2022, we announced the temporary closure of our Rock Hill Facility, as the
Calgary Facility has sufficient capacity to absorb production and meet expected demand for the near term.

Additionally, in February 2022, we announced a reduction of our salaried workforce including manufacturing and office
positions which, along with other cost reduction initiatives, were expected to yield annualized savings of approximately $13.0 million.
The reductions were followed by a further reduction of salaried positions, as announced in July 2022, and the temporary closure of our
Rock Hill Facility, announced in August 2022, which are expected to result in approximately $5.0 million in annualized savings. Of
these cost reduction initiatives, $15.0 million was implemented during 2022. $3.0 million comprising of certain manufacturing
positions and other cost reductions, has been deferred as we work to increase manufacturing headcount in light of increased demand.

Government Subsidies

Government subsidies for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $7.8 million compared to $11.5 million for the same period of
2021. During the third quarter of 2022, the Company determined it was eligible for the Employee Retention Credit ("ERC") in the
United States. The ERC is a refundable payroll tax credit based on qualified wages paid by an eligible employer between March 12,
2020, and October 1, 2021 for companies experiencing a significant decline in gross receipts during a calendar quarter or having
operations fully or partially suspended during the quarter due to COVID-19. The Company is eligible for ERC for the first three
quarters of 2021 and has filed a claim for $7.3 million in payroll tax credits ($7.1 million net of expenses). As of December 31, 2022
these credits have not been received and are included in other receivables in the balance sheet.

2021 government subsidies related to the Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy ("CEWS") and the Canadian Emergency Rent
Subsidy ("CERS"). At December 31, 2021, all amounts recorded at December 31, 2021 were collected. The last claim period under
the CEWS and CERS programs ended on October 23, 2021. The Company is not eligible for and did not receive any new Canadian
government subsidies in year ended December 31, 2022.

Interest expense

Interest expense increased by $2.0 million from $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to $5.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The increased interest expense is a result of the issuance of C$35.0 million ($27.4 million) of Debentures
in December 2021 and draws on the Leasing Facilities.

Income Tax

The provision for income taxes comprises U.S. and Canadian federal, state and provincial taxes based on pre-tax income.
Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $0.02 million, compared to a $0.2 million recovery for the same
period of 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded valuation allowances of $13.6 million (2021 - $12.0
million) against deferred tax assets due to operating losses-which impacted our ability to generate sufficient taxable income in Canada
and the United States to fully deduct historical losses. As at December 31, 2022, we had C$106.7 million of loss carry-forwards in
Canada and $55.7 million in the United States. These loss carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2032.

Net Loss

Net loss increased to $55.0 million or $0.63 net loss per share in the year ended December 31, 2022 from a net loss of $53.7
million or $0.63 net loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increased loss is primarily the result of a $1.8 million
increase in operating expenses (which includes $13.5 million of reorganization expenses), a $2.0 million increase in interest expense, a
$3.7 million decrease in government subsidies, and a $0.2 million increase in income tax expense. These decreases were offset by a
$4.7 million increased gross profit and $1.8 million increase in foreign exchange gains.
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Three Months Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2021

For the three months ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
($ in thousands)
Revenue 42,427 42,928 (1)
Gross Profit® 11,589 8,416 38
Gross Profit Margin 27.3% 19.6%
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing 5,856 9,271 37
General and Administrative 4,050 8,028 (50)
Operations Support 2,151 2,488 (14)
Technology and Development 1,841 2,229 (17)
Stock-Based Compensation 731 921 (21)
Reorganization 1,180 - NA
Goodwill Impairment - 1,443 (100)
Total Operating Expenses 15,809 24,380 35)
Operating Loss (4,220) (15,964) 74
Operating Margin 9.9% (37.2)%

Annual 2022 Non-GAAP Measures

Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Margin for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

The following table presents a reconciliation for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 of Adjusted Gross Profit
to our gross profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Margin to gross profit, which are the most directly comparable GAAP measures for the
periods presented:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
($ in thousands)
Gross profit 28,160 23,460 53,283
Gross profit margin 16.4% 15.9% 31.1%
Add: Depreciation and amortization expense 10,789 8,808 8,110
Add: Costs of under-utilized capacity - 1,756 2,010
Adjusted Gross Profit 38,949 34,024 63,403
Adjusted Gross Profit Margin 22.6% 23.1% 37.0%

For the year ended December 31, 2022, gross profit and gross profit margin increased to $28.2 million or 16.4% from $23.5
million or 15.9% in the prior year. Adjusted Gross Profit increased to $38.9 million and Adjusted Gross Profit Margin decreased to
22.6% for the year ended December 31, 2022, from $34.0 million or 23.1% for the year ended December 31, 2021. The 0.5% decrease
in Adjusted Gross Profit Margin was a result of increased materials, transportation, packaging and other variable costs incurred prior
to the effect date of the announced price increases, offset by the price actions discussed above. As a result of higher sales activities,
gross profit benefited by 9.2% and 11.9% on utilization of labor and fixed costs, respectively. Labor costs increased $1.5 million for
the year-to-date period as we incurred incremental costs during the second quarter associated with moving production to the Calgary
and Savannah Facilities following the closure of the Phoenix Facility, rate increases, and adding capacity following an improvement in
demand. Fixed costs increased $0.8 million due to cost inflation and the impact of adding the Rock Hill Facility in 2021 to the fixed
cost base. In 2022 we incurred a $0.8 million charge, or 0.5% related to Reflect and other discontinued product lines. 2021 Adjusted
Gross Profit benefited from the removal of $1.8 million, or 1.2% Adjusted Gross Profit impact, on under-utilized capacity not
captured in product costs. 2022 gross profit was impacted by $2.1 million of incremental depreciation and amortization on the
acceleration of useful lives associated with discontinued product lines and the Phoenix Facility. Gross profit for the year ended 2022
benefited by approximately $1.5 million from the impact of the weakening Canadian dollar on U.S. dollar reported results, which is
included in the above variances.

During the first quarter of 2020, we determined that we were carrying abnormal excess capacity in our manufacturing facilities
as a result of the slowdown in sales and determined certain production overheads should be directly expensed in cost of sales,
representing production overheads that were not attributable to production. In the first quarter of 2021, we experienced the full impact
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of the slowdown in non-residential construction activity on our business. In anticipation of a recovery in demand for our products and
services and to preserve our skilled workforce, we deliberately maintained manufacturing headcount, while implementing selective
furlough days, in the first quarter of 2021 despite the shortfall in revenues relative to capacity. As a result, in the first quarter of 2021
we separately classified $1.8 million as costs related to our under-utilized capacity (1.2% of 2021 first quarter gross profit margin) in
cost of sales. For the remaining quarters of 2021 and 2022, we did not have abnormal excess capacity as our workforce was better
aligned with current production volumes.

In August 2022 we announced the temporary suspension of operations at the Rock Hill Facility. Idle facility costs incurred since
suspension of operations of $0.5 million are included in cost of sales.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

The following table presents a reconciliation for the results of 2022, 2021 and 2020 of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to our
net loss, which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure for the years presented:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
($ in thousands)

Net loss for the period (54,963) (53,668) (11,298)
Add back (deduct):
Interest Expense 5,160 3,131 305
Interest Income (51 (77) (238)
Tax expense (recovery) 21 (204) 2,104
Depreciation and Amortization 15,119 14,513 11,706
EBITDA (34,714) (36,305) 2,579
Foreign Exchange Gains (1,445) 335 576
Stock-Based Compensation 4,277 4,713 2,351
Government Subsidies (7,765) (11,455) (12,721)
Reorganization Expense 13,461 - -
Goodwill Impairment - 1,443 -
Adjusted EBITDA (26,186) (41,269) (7,215)
Net Loss Margin® (31.9% (36.4)% (6.6)%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin (15.2)% (28.0)% 4.2)%

(M Net loss divided by revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin increased by $15.1 million to a $26.2
million loss or (15.2)% from $41.3 million loss or (28.0)% in the same period of 2021. This reflects a $4.9 million increase in
Adjusted Gross Profit and $1.8 million in lower costs of underutilized capacity, discussed above, a $7.0 million decrease in salary and
wage expenses reflecting the impact of headcount reductions resulting from restructuring activities during 2022, $1.2 million of
decreased professional fees, as well as the impact of a weakening Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar on Canadian-based
operating expenses, excluding depreciation and stock-based compensation.

Reconciliation of Q4 2022 Non-GAAP Measures

Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Margin for the Three Months Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

The following table presents a reconciliation for the three months ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 of Adjusted Gross
Profit to our gross profit, which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure for the periods presented:

For the three months ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
($ in thousands)
Gross profit 11,589 8,416 11,540
Gross profit margin 27.3% 19.6% 27.4%
Add: Depreciation and amortization expense 1,997 2,425 1,982
Add: Costs of under-utilized capacity - - -
Adjusted Gross Profit 13,586 10,841 13,522
Adjusted Gross Profit Margin 32.0% 25.3% 32.0%
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EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the Three Months Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

The following table presents a reconciliation for the three months ended results of 2022, 2021 and 2020 of EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA to our net loss, which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure for the periods presented:

For the three months ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
($ in thousands)

Net loss for the period (5,906) (16,012) 4,178)
Add back (deduct):
Interest Expense 1,225 1,014 109
Interest Income ) (15) (16)
Tax expense (recovery) 37 (551) (86)
Depreciation and Amortization 2,917 3,875 3,033
EBITDA (1,728) (11,689) (1,138)
Foreign Exchange Gains 425 621 1,450
Stock-Based Compensation 731 921 751
Government Subsidies - (1,021) (3,918)
Reorganization Expense 1,180 - -
Goodwill Impairment - 1,443 -
Adjusted EBITDA 608 (9,725) (2,855)
Net Loss Margin® (13.9)% (37.3)% 9.9%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 1.4% 22.7Y% (6.8)%

(M Net loss divided by revenue.

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021
compared to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 is included under the heading Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021,
as filed with the SEC and applicable securities commissions or similar regulatory authorities in Canada on February 23, 2022.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2022 totaled $10.8 million, an decrease of $49.5 million from December 31, 2021.
The decrease in cash over the year primarily reflects the impact of $44.3 million of cash used in operations, of which $1.8 million
related to one-time costs associated with the contested director elections and $13.5 million of reorganization costs. In addition, capital
expenditures totaled $4.3 million and scheduled leasing repayments totaled $2.5 million.

The impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s sales and operations has been severe, including a contraction of demand since the
beginning of the pandemic and more recently, significant inflation on raw material costs. This has resulted in a significant usage of
cash which we have financed through existing cash on hand and external financings, as described further below. In response, we have
implemented multiple initiatives during 2022 to reduce our overall fixed cost base and pricing actions to better recover the inflationary
impacts to material, labor and transportation input costs, each of which has been discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report. During
the second half of 2022, we began to realize the benefits of these actions. During the fourth quarter of 2022, cash and cash equivalents
increased $4.0 million to $10.8 million from $6.8 million at September 30, 2022. The improved cash flow was driven by a
combination of improved EBITDA from the pricing initiatives, cash flow provided from the working capital initiatives, and
approximately $2.0 million of net proceeds received on the Private Placement during the quarter.

We expect the benefit of the actions discussed above to continue to be realized in 2023 and beyond. While these actions,
combined with and our project pipeline are promising, we continue to see unpredictability in our pace of orders.

Accordingly, we are taking several actions to improve our balance sheet in the short term. First, we have determined our
eligibility for the ERC for the first three quarters of 2021 and have filed a claim for $7.3 million in payroll tax credits ($7.1 million net
of expenses). Second, we have certain properties that are currently owned that we are evaluating for sale and leasing back. We do not
intend to vacate these premises as they still serve a valuable aspect of our value proposition, but we expect to receive a one-time cash
payment, in exchange for future rent payments. Third, we are evaluating initiatives related to the use of ICE software by third parties
to supplement the relatively small revenues we have previously recognized from our licensing of ICE software to certain strategic
partners for use in their businesses and our related licensing and developer software support for these counterparties.
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To finance the Company's short-term cash requirements, the Company entered into irrevocable subscription agreements with its
two largest shareholders, 22NW and 726 and all the directors and officers of the Company on November 14, 2022 to issue 8.7 million
shares for gross consideration of $2.8 million. The Private Placement closed on November 30, 2022. In addition, in connection with
the Private Placement, 22NW and 726, or their principals, have irrevocably committed to backstopping any rights offering occurring
by the Company within twelve months of closing the Private Placement in the aggregate amount of $2.0 million.

We have assessed the Company’s liquidity as at December 31, 2022 using multiple downside and upside scenarios, our sales
outlook for the next twelve months in combination with existing cash balances, available credit facilities, the strategic transactions
being evaluated and the Private Placement discussed previously, and potential equity or debt financing. Based upon this analysis, we
believe the Company has sufficient liquidity to remain a going concern for at least the next 12 months. However, a number of factors,
including our ability to satisfy the expected growth in pipeline demand and those discussed below, could adversely impact our
liquidity over such period.

To the extent that existing cash and cash equivalents, available facilities and any increased liquidity from the aforementioned
strategic actions are not sufficient to fund future activities, we may seek to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings. If
additional funds are raised through the incurrence of indebtedness, such indebtedness may have rights that are senior to holders of our
Debentures and our equity securities or contain instruments that may be dilutive to our existing shareholders. Any additional equity or
debt financing may be dilutive to our existing shareholders. While we believe we can access capital markets when needed or under
acceptable terms, there can be no assurance we will be able to do so.

During 2021, we completed financings to increase our liquidity in light of the highly uncertain economic conditions caused by
the pandemic. In January 2021, we issued C$40.3 million of the January Debentures for net proceeds after costs of C$37.6 million
($29.5 million). The January Debentures accrue interest at a rate of 6.00% per annum and are convertible into common shares of
DIRTT at an exercise price of C$4.65 per common share, or if not converted will mature and be repayable on the January Debenture
Maturity Date. Interest and principal are payable in cash or shares at the option of the Company.

In February 2021, we entered into the RBC Facility, a C$25.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility with RBC. Under
the RBC Facility, the “Borrowing Base” is a maximum of 90% of investment grade or insured accounts receivable plus 85% of
eligible accounts receivable plus the lesser of 75% of the book value of eligible inventory and 85% of the net orderly liquidation value
of eligible inventory less any reserves for potential prior ranking claims. Available borrowings under the RBC Facility at December
31, 2022 were C$7.2 million ($5.3 million). On February 9, 2023, the Company extended the RBC Facility (the “Extended RBC
Facility”). The Extended RBC Facility has an borrowing base of C$15 million and a one year term.

On November 15, 2021, we issued C$35.0 million of the December Debentures for net proceeds after costs of C$32.7 million
($25.6 million). The December Debentures accrue interest at a rate of 6.25% per annum and are convertible into common shares of
DIRTT at an exercise price of C$4.20 per common share, or if not converted will mature and be repayable on the December
Debenture Maturity Date. Interest and principal are payable in cash or shares at the option of the Company.

The Company has a C$5.0 million Canada Leasing Facility of which C$4.4 million ($3.3 million) has been drawn, and a $14.0
million U.S. Leasing Facility of which $13.3 million has been drawn with RBC and one of its affiliates. The Leasing Facilities are

available for equipment expenditures and certain equipment expenditures already incurred.

The following table summarizes our consolidated cash flows for the years indicated:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
($ in thousands)
Net cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities (44,260) (31,210) 12,485
Net cash flows used in investing activities (4,024) (14,138) (19,392)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (874) 62,452 5,724
Effect of foreign exchange on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (11) 458 (145)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (49,169) 17,562 (1,328)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 63,408 45,846 47,174
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period 14,239 63,408 45,846

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents 10,821 60,313 45,846
Restricted cash 3,418 3,095 -
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 14,239 63,408 45,846
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Operating Activities

Net cash flows used in operating activities were $44.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to $31.2 million
used by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021. Included in the $44.3 million used in operating activities in the
year ended December 31, 2022 are $13.5 million of reorganization costs, $1.8 million of professional fees associated with the
contested director elections, and $3.8 million of increased inventory arising from higher raw material prices and taking on incremental
inventory from suppliers to mitigate against potential supply chain disruption, offset by the receipt of a $3.2 million income tax refund
related to 2020. During the third and fourth quarter of 2022 we began to draw down our aluminum supply inventory. In the fourth
quarter of 2022 we achieved positive operating cash flows through the realization of price increases, the implementation of a quick
pay discount program which led to higher collections, and a focus on reduced spending. Apart from the above noted items, working
capital changes primarily reflect government subsidies receivable offset by higher customer deposits.

Investing Activities

We invested $2.4 million in property, plant and equipment during the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to $11.8 million
during 2021. The expenditures for 2022 comprised $1.0 million of working capital changes, $0.8 million of manufacturing upgrades,
$0.3 million related to our website design and $0.3 million related to DXC refreshes and IT equipment. The decrease in investing
activities is largely due to reduced spending as the Rock Hill Facility and Dallas DXC were completed in 2021.

We invested $1.7 million on capitalized software during the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to $2.3 million for the
comparative period in 2021.

Actual capital expenditures of $4.3 million were below our 2022 capital budget of $7.0 million. Our 2022 capital expenditure
program comprised approximately $2.5 million related to refreshes of DXCs, continued enhancement of our customer relationship
management system and website redesign, approximately $2.5 million on software development and approximately $2.0 million on
manufacturing and other capital upgrades of which actual expenditures have been less than budget.

Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2022, $0.9 million of cash was used in financing activities, comprising mainly of $2.5 million
of scheduled payments under the Leasing Facilities and $1.0 million relating to taxes paid on the vesting of RSUs for the year ended
December 31, 2022 offset by the receipt of $2.0 million net proceeds from the Private Placement and a draw of C$0.9 million ($0.7
million) under the Canada Leasing Facility. For the year ended December 31, 2021, $62.5 million of cash was provided by financing
activities, mainly due to the proceeds received from the issuance of C$37.6 million and C$32.7 million of Debentures in January and
December of 2021, respectively, and the receipt of $9.8 million of cash consideration under the U.S. Leasing Facility.

We currently expect to fund anticipated future investments with available cash, which includes the net proceeds from the Private
Placement, and drawings on the RBC Facility. We also expect to pursue additional strategic actions to improve available cash, which
included filing an application for ERC for the first three quarters of 2021 for $7.1 million, net of expenses, evaluating properties we
own for sale and lease back and evaluating multiple initiatives related to the use of our ICE software. Refer to “~Liquidity and Capital
Resources" for further details. Apart from cash flow from operations, issuing equity and debt has been our primary source of capital to
date. Additional debt or equity financing may be pursued in the future as we deem appropriate. We may also use debt or pursue equity
financing depending on the price of our common shares at the time, interest rates, and nature of the investment opportunity and
economic climate. No assurance can be given that any of these actions will be successful, will be sufficient for our needs.

Consolidated cash flows for the quarter as indicated:

For the three months ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
($ in thousands)
Net cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities 3,249 (7,338) 5,090
Net cash flows used in investing activities (429) (1,582) (9,713)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 928 26,369 (258)
Effect of foreign exchange on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 62 (123) 27
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 3,810 17,326 (4,854)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 10,429 46,082 50,700
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period 14,239 63,408 45,846

Credit Facility

On February 12, 2021, the Company entered into the RBC Facility. Under the RBC Facility, the Borrowing Base is up to a
maximum of 90% of investment grade or insured accounts receivable plus 85% of eligible accounts receivable plus the lesser of 75%
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of the book value of eligible inventory and 85% of the net orderly liquidation value of eligible inventory less any reserves for potential
prior ranking claims. At December 31, 2022, available borrowings are C$7.2 million ($5.3 million), of which no amounts have been
drawn. Interest is calculated at the Canadian or U.S. prime rate plus 30 basis points or at the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate or LIBOR
plus 155 basis points. Under the RBC Facility, if the “Aggregate Excess Availability”, defined as the Borrowing Base less any loan
advances or letters of credit or guarantee and if undrawn including unrestricted cash is less than C$5.0 million, the Company is subject
to a fixed charge coverage ratio (“FCCR”) covenant of 1.10:1 on a trailing twelve month basis. Additionally, if the FCCR has been
below 1.10:1 for the three immediately preceding months, the Company is required to maintain a reserve account equal to the
aggregate of one year of payments on outstanding loans on the Leasing Facilities. The Company did not meet the three month FCCR
requirement during the fourth quarter of 2022, which resulted in requiring the restriction of $3.4 million of cash. Should an event of
default occur or the Aggregate Excess Availability be less than C$6.25 million for five consecutive business days, the Company
would enter a cash dominion period whereby the Company’s bank accounts would be blocked by RBC and daily balances will set-off
any borrowings and any remaining amounts made available to the Company. On February 9, 2023, the Company extended the RBC
Facility (the “Extended RBC Facility”). The Extended RBC Facility has an borrowing base of C$15 million and a one year term.
Interest is calculated as at the Canadian or U.S. prime rate plus 75 basis points or at the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate or LIBOR plus
200 basis points. Under the Extended RBC Facility, until such time that the trailing twelve month FCCR is above 1.25 for three
consecutive months, a cash balance equivalent to 1-years worth of Leasing Facilities payments must be maintained.

During 2020, the Company entered into the Leasing Facilities, consisting of the C$5.0 million Canada Leasing Facility and the
$14.0 million U.S. Leasing Facility with RBC, which are available for equipment expenditures and certain equipment expenditures
already incurred. The Leasing Facilities, respectively, have seven and five-year terms and bear interest at 4.25% and 5.59%. The U.S.
Leasing Facility is amortized over a six-year term and is extendible at the Company’s option for an additional year.

The Company has drawn $13.3 million of cash consideration under the U.S. Leasing Facility and commenced the lease term in
2020 for the equipment at the Rock Hill Facility. The Company has drawn C$4.4 million ($3.3 million) of cash consideration under
the Canada Leasing Facility and commenced the lease term for the Canadian equipment expenditures during 2020. C$0.9 million
($0.7 million) of the Canada Leasing Facility was drawn during the year ended December 31, 2022.

We are restricted from paying dividends unless Payment Conditions (as defined in the RBC Facility) are met, including having a
net borrowing availability of at least C$10 million over the proceeding 30-day period, and having a trailing twelve month fixed charge
coverage ratio above 1.10:1 and certain other conditions. The RBC Facility is currently secured by substantially all of our real
property located in Canada and the United States
Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes DIRTT’s contractual obligations at December 31, 2022:

Payments due by period

Less than Greater than
1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years 5 years Total
(8 in thousands)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 19,881 - - - 19,881
Other liabilities 2,056 - - - 2,056
Customer deposits and deferred revenue 4,866 - - - 4,866
Current and long-term portion of long-term debt

and accrued interest! 6,567 13,594 61,507 131 81,799
Lease liabilities (undiscounted) 5,889 8,381 5,615 13,538 33,423
Purchase obligations 2,150 - - - 2,150
Total 41,409 21,975 67,122 13,669 144,175

(M Includes principal and interest. See Note 14 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements appearing elsewhere in this
Annual Report. Our critical accounting estimates include the areas where we have made what we consider to be particularly difficult,
subjective or complex judgments in making estimates, and where these estimates can significantly affect our financial results under
different assumptions and conditions. We prepare our financial statements in conformity with GAAP. As a result, we are required to
make estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are reasonable based upon the information available. These estimates,
judgments and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Actual results could be different from these estimates. Critical
estimates and assumptions made by management include:
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Estimates of liabilities associated with the potential and amount of warranty, legal claims and other contingencies

We have warranty obligations with respect to manufacturing defects on most of our manufactured products. Warranty periods
generally range from one to ten years. We have recorded a reserve for estimated warranty and related costs based on historical
experience and periodically adjust these provisions to reflect actual experience. We assess the adequacy of our warranty accrual on a
quarterly basis, and adjust the previous amounts recorded, if necessary, to reflect the change in estimate of the future costs of claims
yet to be serviced. Typically, product deficiencies requiring our warranty are identified and remediated within a year of production.
The following provides information with respect to our warranty accrual. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had $1.3 million and
$1.5 million, respectively, accrued for warranty and other provisions, and third-party costs associated with remedying deficiencies
were $1.1 million during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to $0.8 million during the fiscal year ended December
31, 2021.

We establish reserves for estimated legal contingencies when we believe a loss on litigation is probable and the amount of the
loss can be reasonably estimated. Revisions to contingent liability reserves are reflected in operations in the period in which there are
changes in facts and circumstances that affect our previous assumptions with respect to the likelihood or amount of loss. Reserves for
contingent liabilities are based upon our assumptions and estimates regarding the probable outcome of the matter. We estimate the
probable cost by evaluating historical precedent as well as the specific facts relating to each contingency (including the opinion of
outside advisors). Should the outcome differ from our assumptions and estimates, or other events result in a material adjustment to the
accrued estimated reserves, revisions to the estimated reserves for contingent liabilities would be required and would be recognized in
the period the new information becomes known. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had $0.05 million and $0.1 million provided for
legal provisions, respectively.

Estimates of useful lives of depreciable assets and the fair value of long-term assets used for impairment calculations

We evaluate the recoverability of our property, plant, and equipment (“PP&E”), capitalized software costs and right of use
assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment exists. If impairment is indicated, the impairment loss
is measured as the amount the assets carrying value exceeds the fair value of the assets.

Our determination of the fair value associated with long-term assets involves significant estimates and assumptions, including
those with respect to the determination of asset groups, future cash inflows and outflows, discount rates, and asset lives. In the current
year, estimates of cash inflows are dependent on the timing and extent of recovery of the slowdown experienced as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic. These significant estimates require considerable judgment, which could affect our future results if the current
estimates of future performance and fair values change.

We estimate the useful lives of PP&E, capitalized software costs and right of use assets based on the period over which the
assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives are reviewed annually and are updated if expectations differ
from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the
relevant assets. In addition, the estimation of the useful lives of the relevant assets may be based on internal technical evaluation and
experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the
estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would
be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the PP&E and capitalized
software assets would increase the recorded expenses and decrease the non-current assets.

We test goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of the calendar year. Due to the ongoing impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on our financial results in 2021, we determined it was necessary to use the quantitative approach to perform our
goodwill impairment test. Based on our testing, the fair value of goodwill did not exceed the carrying value of its net assets and,
accordingly, the entire $1.4 million balance of goodwill was impaired as at December 31, 2021. There was no impairment charge for
the year ended December 31, 2022.

Estimates of future taxable earnings used to assess the realizable value of deferred tax assets

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and
liabilities arise from temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts reported in the
financial statements. Deferred income tax assets also reflect the benefit of unutilized tax losses that can be carried forward to reduce
income taxes in future years. Such method requires the exercise of significant judgment in determining whether or not our deferred tax
assets are probable of recovery from taxable income of future years and, therefore, can be recognized in the financial statements. Also,
estimates are required to determine the expected timing upon which tax assets will be realized and upon which tax liabilities will be
settled. We assess the ability to recover our deferred tax assets every quarter and concluded that a valuation allowance was required
against our deferred tax assets at December 31, 2022 of $29.8 million (2021 - $17.3 million).
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Tax interpretations, regulations, and legislation in the various jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries
operate

The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates and the interpretation
and application of complex tax laws. Our provision for income taxes reflects a combination of income earned and taxed in the various
U.S. federal and state, and Canadian federal and provincial, jurisdictions. Jurisdictional tax law changes, increases or decreases in
permanent differences between book and tax items, accruals or adjustments of accruals for tax contingencies or valuation allowances,
and the change in the mix of earnings from these taxing jurisdictions all affect the overall effective tax rate.

We have no liability for uncertain tax positions. However, should we accrue for such liabilities, when and if they arise in the
future, we will recognize interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as part of our income tax provision.

Estimates of the fair value of stock awards, including whether the performance criteria will be met and measurement of the
ultimate payout amount

We use a fair-value based approach for measuring stock-based compensation and record compensation expense over an award’s
vesting period based on the award’s fair value at the date of grant. Our awards vest based on service conditions, and compensation
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized only for those awards that ultimately
vest.

Estimates of ability and timeliness of customer payments of accounts receivable

Our expected credit loss reflects reserves for customer receivables to reduce receivables to amounts expected to be collected.
Management uses significant judgment in estimating expected credit losses. In estimating the Company’s current estimate of expected
credit losses, management considers historical credit loss experience as well as forward- looking information in order to establish rates
for each class of financial receivable with similar risk characteristics. While we believe these processes effectively address our
exposure for doubtful accounts and credit losses have historically been within expectations, changes in the economy, industry, or
specific customer conditions may require adjustments to the expected credit loss. We have a contract with a trade credit insurance
provider, whereby a portion of our trade receivables are insured. The trade credit insurance provider determines the coverage amount,
if any, on a customer-by-customer basis. Based on our trade receivables balance as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, approximately
77% and 90%, respectively, of that balance was covered by trade credit insurance provider.

At December 31, 2022, we had an allowance for expected credit loss of $0.1 million (2021 - $0.1 million).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Please refer to Note 3 to our Consolidated Financial Statements presented elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our financial assets and liabilities consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and accrued receivables,
other receivables, long-term deposits and long-term receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, other liabilities, lease
liabilities and long-term debt and accrued interest. We are exposed to market, credit and liquidity risks associated with financial assets
and liabilities. We currently do not use financial derivatives to reduce exposures from changes in foreign exchange rates, commodity
prices, or interest rates. We do not hold or use any derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Our Board has
responsibility for the establishment and approval of overall risk management policies, including those related to financial instruments.
Management performs continuous assessments to ensure that all significant risks related to financial instruments are reviewed and
addressed in light of changes to market conditions and operating activities.

Credit risk

Our principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and accrued receivables and other receivables.

Our credit risk is primarily concentrated in our trade and accrued receivables as we do not believe that we are exposed to any
significant credit risk related to our cash and cash equivalents, other receivables (owing from government) and restricted cash
balances. The amounts disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet for trade and accrued receivables and other receivables are net of
allowances for doubtful accounts. Allowances are provided for the Company’s current estimate of all expected credit losses using the
lifetime expected credit loss model. In order to manage and assess our risk, management maintains credit policies that include regular
review of credit limits of individual receivables and systematic monitoring of aging of trade receivables and the financial wellbeing of
our customers. In addition, we acquired trade credit insurance effective April 1, 2020. At December 31, 2022, approximately 77% of
our trade accounts receivable are insured, relating to accounts receivables from counterparties deemed creditworthy by the insurer and
excluding accounts receivable from government entities, that have arisen since April 1, 2020, when the trade credit insurance became
effective. Our trade balances are spread over a broad Construction Partner base, which is geographically dispersed. No Construction
Partner accounts for greater than 10% of revenue. In addition, and where possible, we collect a 50% deposit on sales, excluding
government and certain other clients. In November 2022 we also introduced a quick pay discount program.

The overall change and uncertainty in the economy as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic had caused us to increase our
expectation of credit losses during the first quarter of 2020, and additionally, we believe the COVID-19 pandemic has affected the
ability of certain Construction Partners and other customers to pay amounts owed or owing to DIRTT due to the impact of local
shutdowns on businesses in certain markets. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we decreased our provision for expected
credit losses by $0.5 million to $0.1 million which was related to an uncollectable amount written off during 2021. During 2022 no
revisions to our credit loss estimate was required.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, will affect our
income or the value of the financial instruments held.

Foreign exchange risk

Historically, the majority (approximately 80% to 88%) of our revenue is collected in U.S. dollars, and approximately 40% of
our costs are also incurred in U.S. dollars. Most other revenue and costs are denominated in Canadian dollars. As a result, we are
exposed to fluctuations in the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar, which could have a positive or negative impact on our revenue
and costs. The recent strengthening of the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar in the later half of 2022 has had a positive impact on
results because reported cost reductions are higher than reported revenue reductions.
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Our financial instruments are exposed primarily to fluctuations in the Canadian dollar. The following table details our exposure
to currency risk at the reporting dates and a sensitivity analysis to changes in currency. The sensitivity analysis includes Canadian
dollar-denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at period end for their respective change in the Canadian dollar. For
the respective weakening of the Canadian dollar, there would be an equal and opposite impact on net loss and comprehensive loss.

Effect of net
loss and
comprehensive

loss for the

Amount Change in year ended
(CS$ in thousands) Currency (%) December 31, 2022
Cash and cash equivalents 2,868 10% 287
Restricted cash 1,149 10% 115
Trade and accrued receivables 3,937 10% 394
Other receivables 381 10% 38
Other assets 332 10% 33
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13,349 10% 1,335
Other liabilities 1,896 10% 190
Customer deposits 324 10% 32
Current portion of long-term debt and accrued interest 445 10% 45
Long-term debt 71,619 10% 7,162
Total 96,300 10% 9,631

Commodity price risk

We consume raw materials such as aluminum, hardware, wood and veneer, timber, plastic, electrical wiring and components,
paint and powder, and fabric and vinyl. While aluminum represents the largest component of our raw materials’ expenditures, overall
aluminum spend comprises only approximately 14% of product revenues and, therefore, absolute exposure to price fluctuations has a
minimal impact on profitability.

Interest rate risk

In February 2021, we entered into the RBC Facility. The RBC Facility had no amounts outstanding at December 31, 2020. An
increase in overall interest rates by 0.5% would have increased interest expense related to these items and decreased net loss and
comprehensive loss by $nil for 2022 and 2021. An equal decrease in rates would generate an equal amount of interest savings. On
February 9, 2023, the Company extended the RBC Facility (the “Extended RBC Facility”). The Extended RBC Facility has an
borrowing base of C$15 million and a one year term. Interest is calculated as at the Canadian or U.S. prime rate plus 75 basis points
or at the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate or LIBOR plus 200 basis points.

The Company’s Leasing Facilities and Debentures bear interest at fixed interest rates and are therefore not subject to interest
rate risk.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and its subsidiaries (together,
the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, of
changes in shareholders’ equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, including the
related notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Calgary, Canada
February 22, 2023

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
111-5th Avenue SW, Suite 3100, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 5L3
T: +1403 509 7500, F: +1 403 781 1825

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.
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DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars)

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Trade and accrued receivables, net of expected credit losses of
$0.1 million at December 31, 2022 and at December 31, 2021

Other receivables

Inventory

Prepaids and other current assets

Total Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment, net

Capitalized software, net

Operating lease right-of-use assets, net

Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Other liabilities

Customer deposits and deferred revenue

Current portion of long-term debt and accrued interest

Current portion of lease liabilities

Total Current Liabilities

Long-term debt

Long-term lease liabilities

Total Liabilities

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common shares, unlimited authorized without par value, 97,882,844 issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 85,345,433 at December 31, 2021

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit

Total Shareholders’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

As at As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
10,821 60,313
3,418 3,095
13,930 14,063
7,880 3,477
22,251 18,457
3,825 4,399
62,125 103,804
41,522 51,697
4,406 7,395
30,490 30,880
5,110 5,663
143,653 199,439
19,881 22,751
2,056 2,379
4,866 2,420
3,306 3,323
5,889 6,214
35,998 37,087
62,129 67,319
27,534 27,267
125,661 131,673
191,347 181,782
9,023 13,200
(16,106) (15,916)
(166,272) (111,300)
17,992 67,766
143,653 199,439

Refer to Note 19 for commitments. The prior year comparatives have been revised in line with current year presentation - refer to Note

8.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Product revenue 166,256 143,000 166,689
Service revenue 5,905 4,593 4,818
Total revenue 172,161 147,593 171,507
Product cost of sales 140,058 120,281 115,455
Service cost of sales 3,943 3,852 2,769
Total cost of sales 144,001 124,133 118,224
Gross profit 28,160 23,460 53,283
Expenses
Sales and marketing 26,950 31,041 28,049
General and administrative 25,462 30,595 26,663
Operations support 9,498 9,372 9,381
Technology and development 7,555 8,234 8,111
Stock-based compensation 4,277 4,713 2,351
Reorganization 13,461 - -
Goodwill impairment - 1,443 -
Total operating expenses 87,203 85,398 74,555
Operating loss (59,043) (61,938) (21,272)
Government subsidies 7,765 11,455 12,721
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 1,445 (335) (576)
Interest income 51 77 238
Interest expense (5,160) (3,131) (305)

4,101 8,066 12,078
Loss before tax (54,942) (53,872) (9,194)
Income taxes
Current tax expense (recovery) 21 210 (3,521)
Deferred tax (recovery) expense - (414) 5,625

21 (204) 2,104

Net loss (54,963) (53,668) (11,298)
Loss per share
Basic and diluted loss per share (0.63) (0.63) (0.13)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (in thousands)
Basic and Diluted 87,662 85,027 84,681

2022 reorganization costs include $0.2 million paid to related parties (2021 and 2020 - $nil)

The prior year comparatives have been revised in line with current year presentation - refer to Note 9.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss
For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Loss for the year (54,963) (53,668) (11,298)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (190) 1,102 1,010
Comprehensive loss for the year (55,153) (52,566) (10,288)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars, except for share data)

As at December 31, 2019

Stock-based compensation

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net loss for the year

As at December 31, 2020

Stock-based compensation

Issued on vesting of RSUs

RSUs and Share Awards withheld to settle employee tax
obligations

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net loss for the year

As at December 31, 2021

Stock-based compensation

Issued on vesting of RSUs and Share Awards
RSUs and Share Awards withheld to settle employee tax
obligations

Issued for employee share purchase plan
Issued on private placement

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net loss for the year

As at December 31, 2022

Accumulated
Number of Additional other Total
Common Common paid-in comprehensive Accumulated shareholders’
shares shares capital loss deficit equity
84,681,364 180,639 8,343 (18,028) (45,967) 124,987
- - 1,832 - - 1,832
- - - 1,010 - 1,010
- - - - (11,298) (11,298)
84,681,364 180,639 10,175 (17,018) (57,265) 116,531
- - 4,453 - - 4,453
664,069 1,143 (1,143) - - -
- - (285) - 367) (652)
- - - 1,102 - 1,102
- - - - (53,668) (53,668)
85,345,433 181,782 13,200 (15,916) (111,300) 67,766
- - 3,943 - - 3,943
3,149,061 7,088 (7,088) - - -
- - (1,032) - ) (1,041)
720,901 296 - - - 296
8,667,449 2,181 - - - 2,181
- - - (190) - (190)
- - - - (54,963) (54,963)
97,882,844 191,347 9,023 (16,106) (166,272) 17,992

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss for the period (54,963) (53,668) (11,298)
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization 15,119 14,513 11,706
Stock-based compensation, net of settlements 3,342 4,248 2,351
Foreign exchange loss (gain) (1,813) 112 746
Accretion of convertible debentures 676 352 -
Loss (gain) on disposal of equipment (133) 12 (46)
Deferred income tax expense (recovery) - (414) 5,625
Goodwill impairment - 1,443 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade and accrued receivables (179) (2,118) 11,327
Other receivables (4,432) 3,570 (5,260)
Inventory (4,716) (2,449) 1,638
Prepaid and other assets, current and long term 129 (1,132) (241)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 260 2,702 752
Other liabilities (109) (213) (3,971)
Customer deposits and deferred revenue 2,477 601 (1,754)
Current portion of long-term debt and accrued interest (149) 948 -
Lease liabilities 231 283 910
Net cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities (44,260) (31,210) 12,485
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, net of accounts (2,394) (11,781) (16,597)
payable changes
Capitalized software development expenditures (1,677) (2,340) (2,998)
Other asset expenditures (443) (496) (517)
Proceeds on sales of equipment 227 18 46
Recovery of software development expenditures 263 461 674
Net cash flows used in investing activities (4,024) (14,138) (19,392)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds received on long-term debt 647 64,912 6,130
Repayment of long-term debt (2,470) (1,808) (406)
Proceeds received on private placement 1,990 - -
Employee tax payments on vesting of RSUs (1,041) (652) -
Net cash flows provided by financing activities (874) 62,452 5,724
Effect (?f foreign exchange on cash, cash equivalents and an 458 (145)
restricted cash
Net (deFrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and (49,169) 17,562 (1,328)
restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 63,408 45,846 47,174
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year 14,239 63,408 45,846
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid (4,423) (1,543) (103)
Income taxes received 3,212 433 1,817

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated
balance sheets.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents 10,821 60,313 45,846
Restricted cash 3,418 3,095 -
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 14,239 63,408 45,846

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Amounts stated in thousands of U.S. dollars unless otherwise stated)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and its subsidiary (“DIRTT”, the “Company”, “we” or “our”) is a leader in industrialized
construction. DIRTT's system of physical products and digital tools empowers organizations, together with construction and design
leaders, to build high-performing, adaptable, interior environments. Operating in the workplace, healthcare, education, and public
sector markets, DIRTT’s system provides total design freedom, and greater certainty in cost, schedule, and outcomes.

DIRTT’s proprietary design integration software, ICE® (“ICE” or “ICE software”), translates the vision of architects and
designers into a 3D model that also acts as manufacturing information. ICE is also licensed to unrelated companies and Construction
Partners of the Company.

DIRTT is incorporated under the laws of the province of Alberta, Canada, its headquarters is located at 7303 — 30th Street S.E.,
Calgary, AB, Canada T2C IN6 and its registered office is located at 4500, 855 — 2nd Street S.W., Calgary, AB, Canada T2P 4K7.
DIRTT’s common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “DRT” and on The Nasdaq Global Select Market
(“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “DRTT”.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation
These consolidated financial statements (“Financial Statements”), including comparative figures, have been prepared in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

In these Financial Statements, unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts are expressed in United States (“U.S.”) dollars.
DIRTT’s financial results are consolidated in Canadian dollars, the Company’s functional currency, and the Company has adopted the
U.S. dollar as its reporting currency. All references to US$ or § are to U.S. dollars and references to C$ are to Canadian dollars.

Principles of consolidation

The Financial Statements include the accounts of DIRTT and its subsidiaries. All intercompany balances, income and expenses,
unrealized gains and losses and dividends resulting from intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Basis of measurement

These Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention except for certain financial instruments and
stock-based compensation that are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions
and events as of the date of the Financial Statements. Estimates are based on historical data and experience, as well as various other
factors that management considers reasonable under the circumstances. Actual outcomes can differ from these estimates.

Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include:
. Estimates of ability and timeliness of customer payments of trade receivables;

. Estimates of useful lives of depreciable assets as well as the fair value of long-term assets and future cash flows used for
impairment calculations;

. Estimates of future taxable earnings used to assess the realizable value of deferred tax assets;
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. Tax interpretations, regulations and legislation in the various jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries
operate;

. Estimates of the fair value of stock awards, including whether the performance criteria will be met and measurement of
the ultimate payout amount; and

. Estimates of liabilities associated with the potential and amount of warranty, legal claims and other contingencies.

Segments

Management has determined that DIRTT has one operating segment. The Company’s chief executive officer, who is DIRTT’s
chief operating decision maker, reviews financial information on a consolidated and aggregate basis, together with certain operating
metrics principally to make decisions about how to allocate resources and to measure the Company’s performance.

Foreign currency translation

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. is a Canadian company and its functional currency is the Canadian dollar. DIRTT’s
wholly owned subsidiary is domiciled in the United States and its functional currency is the U.S. dollar.

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, other than those held through foreign subsidiaries, are translated into
the transacting company’s functional currency at the year-end exchange rate for monetary items and at the historical exchange rates
for non-monetary items. Foreign currency revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates in effect on the dates of the
related transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses, other than those arising from the translation of the Company’s net investments
in foreign subsidiaries, are included in income.

The accounts of the Company’s U.S. dollar subsidiary is translated into Canadian dollars, and the Financial Statements are
translated into U.S. dollars for financial statement presentation. Assets and liabilities are translated using year-end exchange rates, and
revenues, expenses, gains and losses are translated using average monthly exchange rates. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising
from the translation of the Company’s assets and liabilities are included in “comprehensive loss for the year”.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand held at banks and cash equivalents, which are defined as highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less. Restricted cash is a reserve account not available for immediate or
general business use and is required when certain requirements are not met under the terms of the Company’s senior secured credit
facility (as defined in Note 14).

Trade and other receivables, net of expected credit losses

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, do not require collateral and do not bear interest. The Company
estimates its allowance for doubtful accounts using the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) methodology, which is designed to
capture the Company’s current estimate of all expected credit losses.

Inventory

Inventory is comprised of raw materials and work in progress. The Company does not typically carry a significant amount of
finished goods inventory. Inventory is valued at the lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is
based on an item’s usability in the manufacturing of the Company’s products. The Company records an allowance for obsolescence
when the net realizable value of inventory items declines below weighted average cost, net realizable value is determined based on
current market prices for inventory less the estimated cost to sell. Work in progress is valued at an estimate of cost, including
attributable overheads, based on stage of completion.

Fixed production overheads are allocated to inventory on the basis of normal capacity of the production facilities. In periods
where production levels are abnormally low, unallocated overheads are separately recognized as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred.

Leases

The Company categorizes leases at their inception as either operating or finance leases. Leases where the Company assumes
substantially all of the rewards or ownership and leases where ownership is transferred at the end of the lease term, or by way of a
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bargain purchase option, are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to
the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease liability, so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the balance of the liability. Finance charges
are recognized in the statement of operations.

The Company’s Leasing Facilities (as defined in Note 7) are accounted for as finance leases as ownership of the equipment is
expected to return to the Company at the end of the lease term. These transactions are not accounted for as a sale of the underlying
equipment as the Company continues to control the equipment.

For leases categorized as operating, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease or contains a lease element at
inception. The arrangement is a lease if it conveys the right to the Company to control the use of identified property, plant, or
equipment for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Operating leases are separately disclosed as operating lease right-of-use
(“ROU”) assets, with a corresponding lease liability split between current and long-term components on the balance sheet. Operating
leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not included on the balance sheet.

The Company recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. ROU assets represent the
right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments
arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of
lease payments over the lease term.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, including direct costs, attributable indirect costs and carrying costs, less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred,
while renewals and betterments are capitalized.

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated statement of operations on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The estimated useful lives of the Company’s property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Building ......ccceveevievieieeieeeeeee 25 years

Manufacturing equipment ............c.c..... 10 years

Leasehold improvements........................ Over term of lease (1 to 10 years)
Office equipment..........ccceveeeveerveerueennnnn 5 years

Tooling and prototypes..........cceeevveeevennee. 4 years

Computer equipment ..........ccceeeeveerveennnenn 3 years

Vehicles ...ooviviiiiiiiiieiecieeceeeeeee 3 years

When assets are disposed of or retired, the cost and accumulated depreciation and impairment losses are removed from the
respective accounts and any resulting loss is reflected in operating expenses.

Capitalized software costs

The Company capitalizes costs related to internally developed software during the application development stage when (i) the
preliminary project stage is completed, (ii) management has authorized further funding for the completion of the project, and (iii) it is
probable that the project will be completed and performed as intended. Capitalized costs includes costs of personnel and related
expenses for employees and third parties directly attributable to the projects. Capitalization of these costs ceases once the project is
substantially complete and the software is ready for its intended purpose. Costs incurred for significant upgrades and enhancements
are also capitalized. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post implementation activities, including training, maintenance
and minor modifications or enhancements are expensed as incurred. Capitalized software costs are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the developed asset, which is generally three to five years. Management evaluates the useful lives of
these assets on an annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the
recoverability of the assets.

Software development is considered internal-use as it is used to design and sell the DIRTT products and is not included in the
end client’s product. Revenues received from Construction Partners for ICE Software are recognized as revenues as they are
considered an element of the product sale. Any incidental third-party revenues received for the ICE Software are credited against
capitalized software costs. The Company follows this accounting policy for cloud computing arrangements that are considered a
service contract, however, these projects are capitalized to prepaids and other assets on the balance sheet and are expensed as an
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operating cost, as opposed to amortization, over the expected term of the software service contract. The Company adopted this
amendment on January 1, 2020 using the prospective transition approach and classified $0.7 million as other assets on the
consolidated balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Management evaluates the recoverability of the Company’s property, plant and equipment, capitalized software costs and ROU
assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment exists. Events and changes in circumstances
considered by the Company in determining whether the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable include, but are not
limited to, significant changes in performance relative to expected operating results, significant changes in the use of the assets,
significant negative industry or economic trends, and changes in the Company’s business strategy. Impairment testing is performed at
an asset level that represents the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets
and liabilities (an “asset group”). In determining if impairment exists, the Company estimates the undiscounted cash flows to be
generated from the use and ultimate disposition of the asset group. If impairment is indicated based on a comparison of the assets’
carrying values and the undiscounted cash flows, the impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.

Convertible Debentures

The Company accounts for convertible debentures as liabilities. Embedded features included in the convertible debentures that
require bifurcation are accounted for separately. Costs incurred directly related to the issuance of convertible debentures are presented
as a direct deduction against the carrying amount of the convertible debentures and are amortized to interest expense using the
effective interest method.

Income taxes

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) except to the extent it relates to items recognized directly in equity.

Current tax

Current tax expense is based on the results for the year, adjusted for items that are not taxable or not deductible. Current tax is
calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted at the end of the reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Provisions are established
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated balance sheet. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based
on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in
effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

The effect of a change in income tax rates on deferred income tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period
during which the change occurs.

When appropriate, the Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets to reflect that these tax assets may not
be realized. In determining whether a valuation allowance is appropriate, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not
that all or some portion of the Company’s deferred tax assets will not be realized, based on management’s judgment using available
evidence about future events.

At times, tax benefits claims may be challenged by a tax authority. Tax benefits are recognized only for tax positions that are
more likely than not sustainable upon examination by tax authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of
benefit that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon settlement. A liability for “unrecognized tax benefits” is recorded for any tax
benefits claimed in the Company’s tax returns that do not meet these recognition and measurement standards.
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Revenue recognition

The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, (“ASC 606”) and
Subtopic 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred Costs — Contracts with Customers. Under ASC 606, an entity recognizes revenue in a
manner that reflects the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of promised goods or services to customers at transaction price, an
amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. Transaction price is
calculated as selling price net of variable consideration which may include estimates for sales incentives related to current period
product revenue. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, after discounts, rebates and sales
taxes or income taxes and duties.

Product sales

The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of products to the customer, which typically occurs upon shipment.
The Company’s main performance obligation to customers is the delivery of products in accordance with purchase orders. Each
purchase order defines the transaction price for the products purchased under the arrangement. Construction Partners typically sell
DIRTT product to end clients and issue purchase orders to the Company to manufacture the product. Construction Partners utilize ICE
licenses to sell DIRTT products, the ICE licenses sold to Construction Partners are not considered a separate performance obligation
as they are not distinct, and ICE license revenue is recognized in conjunction with product sales. The Construction Partner ICE
Software revenue is recognized over the license period.

The Company’s standard sales terms are Free On Board (“FOB”) shipping point, which comprise the majority of sales. The
Company usually requires a 50% progress payment on receipt of certain orders, excluding certain government orders or in some
special contractual situations. Customer deposits received are recognized as a liability on the balance sheet until revenue recognition
criteria is met. At the point of shipment, the customer is generally required to pay the balance of the sales price within 30 days. The
Company’s sales arrangements do not have any material financing components. In addition, the Company’s customer arrangements do
not produce contract assets that are material to its consolidated financial statements.

The Company provides sales commissions to internal and external sales representatives which are earned in the period in which
revenue is recognized.

The Company accounts for product transportation revenue and costs as fulfillment activities and present the associated costs in
costs of goods sold in the period in which the Company sells its product.

Contracts containing multiple performance obligations

The Company offers certain arrangements whereby a customer can purchase products and installation together which are
generally capable of being distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. Where multiple performance obligations
exist, the Company determines revenue recognition by (1) identifying the contract with the customer, (2) identifying the performance
obligation in the contract, (3) determining the transaction price, (4) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
based on the relative standalone selling prices, typically based on cost plus a reasonable margin, and (5) recognizing revenue as the
performance obligations are satisfied.

Installation and other services

The Company provides installation and other services for certain customers as a distinct performance obligation. Revenue from
installation services is recognized over time as the service is performed.

Principal vs Agent Considerations

The Company evaluates the presentation of revenue on a gross vs. net basis based on whether it acts as a principal by controlling
the product or service sales to customers. In certain instances, the Company facilitates contracting of certain sales on behalf of
Construction Partners. The Company records these revenues on a gross basis when the Company is obligated to fulfill the service and
has the risk associated with service delivery. The Company records these revenues on a net basis when the Construction Partner has
the obligation to fulfill the services and has the risk associated with service delivery.
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Construction Partner rebates

Rebates to Construction Partners (“Partner Rebates™) are accrued for and recognized as a reduction of revenue at the date of the
sale to the customer. Partner Rebates include amounts collected directly by the Company owed to Construction Partners in accordance
with their Construction Partner agreements, being the difference between the price to the end customer and the Construction Partners’
price. Other sales discounts are deducted immediately from sales invoices.

Contract balances

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. The Company records an unbilled
receivable when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing. As the Company’s contracts are less than one year in duration, the Company
has elected to apply the practical expedients to expense costs related to costs to obtain contracts and not disclose unfulfilled
performance obligations. As deferred revenue and customer deposits are typically recognized during the year the Company does not
account for financing elements.

Warranties

The Company provides a warranty on all products sold to its clients and Construction Partner’s clients. Warranties are not sold
separately to customers. Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are recognized based on an analysis of historical
costs for warranty claims relative to current activity levels and adjusted for factors based on management’s assessment that increase or
decrease the provision. Warranty provision is recognized in cost of goods sold. Warranty claims have historically not been material
and do not constitute a separate performance obligation.

Stock-based compensation

The Company follows the fair value-based approach to account for options, share awards and restricted share units (“RSUs”).
Compensation expense and an increase in “Additional paid-in capital” are recognized for options and RSUs over their vesting period
based on their estimated fair values on the grant date, as determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model for the majority of
options and the market value of the Company’s common shares on the grant date for share awards and RSUs. Certain executive stock
options and RSUs have performance conditions and are valued using a Monte Carlo model.

On exercise of stock options and RSUs, the recorded fair value of the option or RSU is removed from “Additional paid-in
capital” and credited to “Share capital”. For options, any consideration paid by employees is credited to “Share capital” when the
option is exercised. The Company’s stock options and RSUs are not shares of the Company and have no rights to vote, receive
dividends, or any other rights as a shareholder of the Company.

Stock based compensation expense is also recognized for performance share units (“PSUs”) and deferred share units (“DSUs”)
using the fair value method. Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period and the corresponding amount is recorded as
a liability on the balance sheet.

Technology and development expenditures

Technology and development expenses are comprised primarily of salaries and benefits associated with the Company’s product
and software development personnel which do not qualify for capitalization. These costs are expensed as incurred and exclude certain
information and technology costs used in operations which are classified as general and administrative costs.

Government subsidies

The Company accounts for government subsidies on an accrual basis when the conditions for eligibility are met. The Company
has adopted an accounting policy to present government subsidies as other income. The nature, significant terms and conditions of
government subsidies are disclosed in the financial statements. (Refer to Note 3 on adoption of Accounting Standards Update No.
2021-10,Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government Assistance,)
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Earnings per share (“EPS”)

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method for determining the dilutive impact of stock options. The
Company follows the “if converted” method for accounting for the impact of convertible debentures on earnings (loss) per share,
whereby interest charges applicable to the convertible debentures are added to the numerator and the convertible debentures are
assumed to have been converted at the beginning of the period (or time of issuance, if later), and the resulting common shares are
added to the denominator.

Fair value of financial instruments

ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements,” requires entities to disclose the fair value of financial instruments, both assets and
liabilities recognized and not recognized on the balance sheet, for which it is practicable to estimate fair value. Fair value is defined as
the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.

The Company’s fair value analysis is based on the degree to which the fair value is observable and grouped into categories
accordingly:

. Level 1 financial instruments are those which can be derived from quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
similar financial assets or liabilities.

. Level 2 financial instruments are those which can be derived from inputs that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). Level 2 financial instruments include current and
long-term debt. The carrying amounts of these instruments approximates fair value due to limited changes to interest rates
and the Company’s credit rating since issuance.

. Level 3 financial instruments are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the financial asset or
liability which are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). The Company does not have any Level 3
financial instruments.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash; trade and accrued receivables, other receivables;
accounts payable and accrued liabilities; other liabilities; and customer deposits approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2021-10, Government Assistance
(Topic 832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government Assistance. The ASU provides guidance on required disclosures with
respect to government assistance in a company’s notes to the annual financial statements. The amendments in the ASU are effective
for periods beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company has adopted this standard effective January 1, 2022 and notes there is
no significant impact of this standard on our accounting or disclosures for government assistance.

Although there are several other new accounting standards issued or proposed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board,
which the Company has adopted or will adopt, as applicable, the Company does not believe any of these accounting pronouncements
has had or will have a material impact on its Financial Statements.

4. LIQUIDITY

The Company has been negatively impacted by the effect of COVID-19 on the non-residential construction industry, costs
incurred associated with the Company’s contested director elections, reorganization costs to reconstitute the executive team and align
the Company’s cost structure with current sales activity, and significant inflation on raw materials costs, which have resulted in a
significant usage of cash in recent periods which has been funded through Convertible Debentures and Leasing Facilities entered into
in the prior year (refer to Note 14). As at December 31, 2022, the Company had $10.8 million of cash on hand and C$7.2 million ($5.3
million) of available borrowings (December 31, 2021 - $60.3 million and $10.4 million of available borrowings).

We have implemented a number of restructuring initiatives to create a reduced cost structure moving forward (refer to Note 6)
and have implemented multiple price increases during the year to mitigate the impact of inflation on raw material costs. While these
actions and our project pipeline are promising, we continue to see unpredictability in our pace of orders. As a result, the Company has
initiated certain actions to improve our balance sheet in the short term. First, we are evaluating initiatives related to the use of ICE
software by third parties to supplement the relatively small revenues we have previously recognized from our licensing of ICE
software to certain strategic partners for use in their businesses and our related licensing and developer software support for these
counterparties. Second, we have certain properties that are currently owned that we are evaluating for potential sale and lease back

59



arrangements. We do not intend to vacate these premises as they still serve a valuable aspect of our value proposition, but this type of
arrangement would provide us with a one-time cash payment in the near term, in exchange for future rent payments. We expect these
strategic initiatives to result in positive cash inflows in 2023. As these transactions are awaiting finalization, we completed a Private
Placement (defined in Note 21) of common shares, supported by significant shareholders and directors and officers of the Company to
bridge cash requirements between now and the completion and closing of the noted strategic transactions (refer to Note 21).

We have assessed the Company’s liquidity position as at December 31, 2022 using multiple scenarios taking into account our
sales outlook for the next year, our existing cash balances and available credit facilities and the probability of executing the strategic
transactions noted above. Based on this analysis we believe the Company has sufficient liquidity to support ongoing operations for the
next twelve months. However, should anticipated profitable growth and increased labor headcount and manufacturing capacity not
occur or should there be a delayed recovery of the North American construction activities from the pandemic, a sustained economic
depression and its adverse impacts on customer demand or significant inflationary pressure on raw materials and transportation cost
that we are unable to recover through price increases, the Company will need to identify alternative sources of financing, further
reduce its cost structure, delay capital expenditures, evaluate potential asset sales and potentially curtail or cease certain operations.
While the Company is confident that it will be able to raise additional capital when needed or under acceptable terms, there can be no
absolute assurance it will be able to do so.

5. COVID-19

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our future consolidated results of operations remains uncertain. The extent to which
COVID-19 impacts our employees, operations, customers, suppliers and financial results depends on numerous evolving factors that
we may not be able to accurately predict, including: the duration and scope of the pandemic (and whether there is a resurgence or
multiple resurgences in the future, including the impact of new variants); government actions taken in response to the pandemic,
including required shutdowns or vaccine or testing mandates; the availability, acceptance, distribution and continued effectiveness of
vaccines; the impact on construction activity, including the effect on our customers’ demand for our interior construction systems;
supply chain disruptions; rising inflation; labor shortages; sustained remote or hybrid work models; our ability to manufacture and sell
our products; and the ability of our customers to pay for our products. While many of our products support life-sustaining activities
and essential construction, we and certain of our customers or suppliers may be impacted by national, federal, state and provincial
actions, orders and policies regarding the COVID-19 pandemic, including: temporary closures of non-life-sustaining businesses,
shelter-in-place orders, and travel, social distancing and quarantine policies, the implementation and enforcement of which vary in
each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. We did not record any asset impairments, inventory charges or material bad debt
reserves related to COVID-19 during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, but future events may require such charges which
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Government subsidies

In the United States, the Employee Retention Credit ("ERC") was established by Section 2301 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act") to provide an incentive for employers to keep their employees on their payroll during
COVID-19 closures. The ERC is a refundable payroll tax credit based on qualified wages paid by an eligible employer between March
12, 2020, and October 1, 2021 for companies experiencing a significant decline in gross receipts during a calendar quarter or having
operations fully or partially suspended during the quarter due to COVID-19. During the third quarter of 2022, the Company
determined it was eligible for the ERC for the first three quarters of 2021 and has filed a claim for $7.3 million in payroll tax credits
($7.1 million net of expenses). As of December 31, 2022 these credits have not been received and are included in other receivables in
the balance sheet.

As part of the Canadian federal government’s COVID-19 Economic Response Plan, the Canadian government established the
Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”). The CEWS provided the Company with a taxable subsidy in respect of a specific
portion of wages paid to Canadian employees during qualifying periods extending from March 15, 2020 to October 23, 2021 based on
the percentage decline of certain of the Company’s Canadian sourced revenues during each qualifying period. The Company’s
eligibility for the CEWS was subject to change for each qualifying period and was reviewed by the Company for each qualifying
period, with amounts being received by the Company for various, but not each, qualifying period. Pursuant to amendments enacted as
part of the 2021 Canadian federal budget, the Company is required to repay a portion of the CEWS amounts received for any
qualifying period commencing after June 5, 2021 where the aggregate compensation for “specified executives” (within the meaning of
the CEWS) during the 2021 calendar year exceeds the aggregate compensation for “specified executives” during the 2019 calendar
year. Upon finalization of 2021 compensation to specified executives, approximately C$0.5 million ($0.4 million) of subsidies was
repaid to the Canadian authorities in the second quarter of 2022. The repayment amount was fully provided for in the third quarter of
2021 in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and in the first quarter of 2022 the Company reversed a $0.6 million incremental
provision related to this that is no longer necessary.
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On November 19, 2020, the Canadian government also implemented the Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy (“CERS”). The
CERS provided a taxable subsidy to cover eligible expenses for qualifying properties, subject to certain maximums, for qualifying
periods extending from September 27, 2020 to October 23, 2021, with the amount of the subsidy available to the Company being
based on the percentage decline of certain of the Company’s Canadian-sourced revenues in each qualifying period. The Company’s
eligibility for the CERS was subject to change for each qualifying period and was reviewed by the Company for each qualifying
period.

The last claim period under the CEWS and CERS programs ended on October 23, 2021. The Company is not eligible and did
not receive any new Canadian government subsidies in year ended December 31, 2022.

6. REORGANIZATION

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company undertook a number of reorganization initiatives:

Closure of Phoenix Aluminum Manufacturing Facility (the “Phoenix Facility”)

On February 22, 2022, we commenced the process of closing our Phoenix Facility, shifting related manufacturing to both our
Savannah and Calgary aluminum manufacturing facilities. The closure of the Phoenix Facility was substantially completed in the
second quarter of 2022. The Company entered into a sublease arrangement during the second quarter of 2022, commencing July 1,
2022, which exceeds the contractual lease commitments under the Right of Use assets.

Workforce Reductions, Board and Management Changes

In February and July of 2022, we announced our intention to eliminate a portion of our salaried workforce including
manufacturing and office positions along with other cost reduction initiatives. The Company’s Board of Directors was reconstituted
following a contested proxy contest in April 2022 which was deemed a change of control under the Company’s insurance policy
resulting in additional insurance expenditures. Further, the Company made changes to several executive officer roles during the year
ended December 31, 2022, which resulted in incurring certain termination benefits and recruitment costs.

Temporary Suspension of Operations at Rock Hill, South Carolina (the "Rock Hill Facility")

On August 23, 2022, we announced the temporary suspension of operations at our Rock Hill Facility, shifting related
manufacturing to our Calgary manufacturing facility.

Reorganization costs incurred:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Termination benefits 7,042
Insurance costs on change of control 3,691
Phoenix Facility closure 756
Professional services 1,021
Relocation and other costs 951
Total reorganization costs 13,461

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Opening reorganization costs in accounts payable and accrued liabilities -
Reorganization expense 13,461
Reorganization costs paid (11,184)
Reorganization costs in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at 2277
December 31, 2022 i

Of the $2.3 million payable, $2.1 million relates to termination benefits and $0.2 million relates to other reorganization costs.
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Discontinuation of Reflect Product Line and Other Charges Incurred

In August 2022, the Company discontinued the Reflect and other product lines, resulting in a one time inventory write-down of
$1.0 million, and an acceleration of amortization expense associated with ICE development for Reflect.

Additionally, the Company accelerated the depreciation of certain items of property, plant and equipment associated with the
closure of the Phoenix Facility resulting in additional depreciation incurred in the first quarter of 2022.

These costs were included in cost of sales:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Provision for inventory of discontinued product lines 1,035 -
Accelerated amortization associated with product line discontinuation 1,019 -
Accelerated depreciation and amortization associated with closure of the 1.054 )
Phoenix Facility ’
Incremental cost of sales 3,108 -

7. LEASES

The Company leases office and factory space under various operating leases. As the Company’s leases do not provide an
implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in
determining the present value of lease payments. The Company gives consideration to instruments with similar characteristics when
calculating its incremental borrowing rate. The Company’s operating leases have remaining lease terms of 1 year to 23 years. Lease
terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option.

The weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate at December 31, 2022 were 13 years (2021 - 14
years) and 4.9% (2021 — 5.2%), respectively.

The following table includes ROU assets included on the balance sheet at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

ROU Assets
Accumulated
Cost depreciation Net book value

At January 1, 2021 41,840 (8,197) 33,643
Additions 2,401 - 2,401
Depreciation expense - (4,989) (4,989)
Exchange differences (186) 11 (175)
At December 31, 2021 44,055 (13,175) 30,880
Additions 139 - 139
Modifications 4,809 50 4,859
Depreciation expense - (5,057) (5,057)
Exchange differences (943) 611 (332)
At December 31, 2022 48,061 (17,571) 30,490

62



The following table includes lease liabilities included on the balance sheet at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Lease Liability
2022 2021
At January 1, 33,481 35,284
Additions 139 2,401
Modifications 4,809 -
Accretion 1,722 1,758
Repayment of lease liabilities (6,558) (6,509)
Lease inducements 124 720
Exchange differences (295) (173)
At December 31, 33,423 33,481
Current lease liabilities 5,889 6,214
Long-term lease liabilities 27,534 27,267

The following table includes maturities of operating lease liabilities at December 31, 2022:

2023 6,038
2024 4,630
2025 4,605
2026 4,013
2027 2,826
Thereafter 26,631
Total 48,743
Total lease liability 33,423
Difference between undiscounted cash flows and lease

liability 15,320

8. TRADE AND ACCRUED RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, do not require collateral and do not bear interest. The Company
estimates an allowance for credit losses using the lifetime expected credit loss at each measurement date taking into account historical
credit loss experience as well as forward-looking information in order to establish rates for each class of financial receivable with
similar risk characteristics. Adjustments to this estimate are recognized in the statement of operations.

In order to manage and assess our risk, management maintains credit policies that include regular review of credit limits of
individual receivables and systematic monitoring of aging of trade receivables and the financial wellbeing of our customers. In
addition, we acquired trade credit insurance effective April 1, 2020. At December 31, 2022, approximately 77% of our trade accounts
receivable are insured, relating to accounts receivables from counterparties deemed creditworthy by the insurer and excluding
accounts receivable from government entities.

Our trade balances are spread over a broad Construction Partner base, which is geographically dispersed. For the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021 no Construction Partner accounted for greater than 10% of revenue. In addition, and where possible, we
collect a 50% deposit on sales, excluding government and certain other clients.

As at
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021

Current 12,381 13,572
Overdue 1,675 621

14,056 14,193
Less: expected credit losses (126) (130)

13,930 14,063

During 2021, $0.5 million of receivables for a specific customer balance was written off. No change to our expected credit loss
was required at December 31, 2022. Receivables are generally considered to be past due when over 60 days old unless there is a
separate payment arrangement in place for the collection of the receivable.
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As at December 31, 2022, the Company classified Other Receivables separately from Trade and Accrued Receivables on the
balance sheet, as reconciled below:

As at,
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021
Trade receivables 14,056 14,193
Allowance for doubtful accounts (126) (130)
Accounts receivable 13,930 14,063
Sales tax receivable 251 196
Income taxes receivable 40 3,194
Government subsidies 7,319 -
Other receivables 270 87
Other receivables (reclassified on the balance sheet) 7,880 3,477
Total Trade and other receivables, as previously presented 21,810 17,540

9. INVENTORY

As at December 31,

2022 2021
Raw material 22,218 18,388
Allowance for obsolescence (1,242) (646)
Work in progress 1,275 715
22,251 18,457

In 2022, the Company provided $1.1 million (2021 - $0.6 million) for inventory that is not expected to be used in future
production and the associated expense was recorded to cost of goods sold. During 2022, the Company wrote off $0.5 million of
inventory against the provision (2021 - $0.4 million) and increased the allowance for obsolescence by $0.9 million (2021 -
$0.1 million) mainly related to the discontinuation of Reflect product lines. In addition, the Company recorded direct write offs against
inventory of $0.3 million. Production overheads capitalized in work in progress were $0.2 million at December 31, 2022 (December
31, 2021 - $0.1 million).

Additional costs included in cost of goods sold

During 2021 and 2020, the Company experienced periods where it was operating below normal capacity levels. During that
period, overheads included in inventory were not increased and $1.8 million (2020: $2.0 million) was included in cost of sales.
Previously this was presented as a separate part of cost of sales in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. In 2022, we have
temporarily suspended operations at the Rock Hill Facility. Idle facility costs being incurred at the Rock Hill Facility are included in
cost of sales.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Underutilized capacity - 1,756 2,010
Idle facility costs 506 - -
506 1,756 2,010

Change in presentation in Consolidated Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Product cost of sales, as previously presented 140,058 118,525 113,445
Cost of under utilized capacity, as previously presented - 1,756 2,010
Product cost of sales, per Statement of Operations 140,058 120,281 115,455
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Office and computer

equipment Factory equipment  Leasehold improvements Total

Cost

At December 31, 2020 24,988 66,523 43,105 134,616
Additions 3,422 4,515 4,372 12,309
Disposals - (53) - (53)
Exchange differences 236 499 90 825
At December 31, 2021 28,646 71,484 47,567 147,697
Additions 738 775 341 1,854
Disposals (1,347) (2,983) (6,688) (11,018)
Exchange differences (581) (3,167) (1,457) (5,205)
At December 31, 2022 27,456 66,109 39,763 133,328
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

At December 31, 2020 16,362 35,524 32,883 84,769
Depreciation expense 3,589 3,670 3,817 11,076
Disposals - (23) - (23)
Exchange differences 30 100 48 178
At December 31, 2021 19,981 39,271 36,748 96,000
Depreciation expense 2,355 4,425 3,680 10,460
Disposals (1,272) (2,831) (6,688) (10,791)
Exchange differences (540) (2,044) (1,279) (3,863)
At December 31, 2022 20,524 38,821 32,461 91,806
Net book value

At December 31, 2021 8,665 32,213 10,819 51,697
At December 31, 2022 6,932 27,288 7,302 41,522

As at December 31, 2022, the Company had $0.1 million of assets in progress of completion which were excluded from assets
subject to depreciation (December 31, 2021 — $2.2 million).

During the year ended December 31, 2022, depreciation expense included $1.1 million of incremental depreciation on the
acceleration of useful lives associated with the closing of the Phoenix Facility. Refer to Note 6, Reorganization.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company has incurred negative cash flows from operations and accordingly
management determined that this was an indicator of property, plant and equipment assets. The Company estimated the undiscounted
cash flows to be generated from the use and ultimate disposition of the property, plant and equipment assets. To estimate the
undiscounted cashflows of the reporting unit, the Company applied the income approach. Sales and cost projections were based on
assumptions driven by current economic conditions. The Company considered various scenarios and probability-weighted the
likelihood of each scenario in determining the reporting unit’s fair value. The average compounded annual growth rate of revenues
was 5%- 10%. Other key assumptions used in the quantitative assessment of the reporting unit’s undiscounted cashflows was terminal
growth rate of 2%. The Company estimated the undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the use and ultimate disposition of the
property, plant and equipment assets. The results of the test indicated that the undiscounted cash flows exceeded the carrying values of
property, plant and equipment, therefore, no impairment charge was required at December 31, 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, goodwill was impaired (see Note 12) and determined that this was an indicator of
impairment for property, plant and equipment. The Company estimated the undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the use and
ultimate disposition of the property, plant and equipment assets using the same methodology and assumptions included in the goodwill
impairment test (see Note 12). The results of the test indicated that the fair value exceeded the carrying values of property, plant and
equipment, therefore, no impairment charge was required at December 31, 2021.
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11. CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE, NET

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Cost
As at January 1 37,492 35,480
Additions 1,677 2,340
Recovery of software development expenditures (263) (461)
Disposals (1,990) -
Exchange differences (2,370) 133
As at December 31 34,546 37,492
Accumulated amortization
As at January 1 30,097 27,136
Amortization expense 3,887 2,878
Disposals (1,916) -
Exchange differences (1,928) 83
As at December 31 30,140 30,097
Net book value 4,406 7,395

Estimated amortization expense on capitalized software is $1.6 million in 2023, $1.2 million in 2024, $1.0 million in 2025, $0.5
million in 2026, and $0.1 million in 2027.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, amortization expense was impacted by $1.0 million of incremental amortization on
the acceleration of useful lives associated with discontinued product lines. Refer to Note 6, Reorganization.

12. GOODWILL
For the year ended December 31,
2022 2021
As at January 1 - 1,449
Impairment - (1,443)

Exchange differences - (6)
As at December 31 - -

In 2021, the Company’s goodwill was assessed at the consolidated company level which represents the Company’s sole
operating and reporting unit. The Company tested its goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter of the calendar year.
Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its financial results in 2021, the Company determined it was necessary to use the
quantitative approach to perform its goodwill impairment test. The quantitative impairment test requires estimates to determine the fair
value of the reporting unit, as such, required the Company to make significant assumptions and judgments.

To estimate the fair value of the reporting unit, the Company applied the income approach using discounted future cash flows.
Sales and cost projections were based on assumptions driven by current economic conditions. Due to the uncertainty around the future
impact of COVID-19 at that time, its projections considered various scenarios and the Company probability-weighted the likelihood of
each scenario in determining the reporting unit’s fair value. The average compounded annual growth rate of revenues was 10% and
the Company assumed a 10% - 15% annualized reduction in operating costs in the model. Other key assumptions used in the
quantitative assessment of the reporting unit’s goodwill were the application of a discount rate of 13% and a terminal growth rate of
2%.

Based on its testing, the fair value of goodwill did not exceed the recoverable amount and, accordingly, the entire $1.4 million
balance of goodwill was impaired as at December 31, 2021. The impairment charge on goodwill has been separately classified on the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

As at December 31,
2022 2021
Trade accounts payable 5,562 7,820
Accrued liabilities 8,776 9,649
Wages and commissions payable 3,410 4,275
Rebates accrued® 2,133 1,007
19,881 22,751
M In 2022 $4.8 million of rebates were earned (2021 - $4.1 million) and $3.7 million were paid (2021 - $4.7 million).
Other liabilities
As at,
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Warranty provisions(! 1,278 1,451
DSU liability 594 785
Sublease deposits 139 -
Other provisions 45 143
Other liabilities 2,056 2,379
M The following table presents a reconciliation of the warranty and other provisions balance:
As at,
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
As at January 1 1,451 1,763
Adjustments to timber provision - (500)
Additions to warranty provision 1,134 1,019
Payments related to warranties (1,307) (831)
1,278 1,451
14. LONG-TERM DEBT
Revolving Leasing Convertible
Credit Facility Facilities Debentures Total Debt
Balance on December 31, 2020 - 5,967 - 5,967
Issuances - 9,805 55,107 64,912
Accretion of issue costs - - 352 352
Accrued interest - 556 1,935 2,491
Interest payments - (556) (987) (1,543)
Principal repayments - (1,808) - (1,808)
Exchange differences - (55) 326 271
Balance at December 31, 2021 - 13,909 56,733 70,642
Current portion of long-term debt and accrued interest - 2,386 937 3,323
Long-term debt - 11,523 55,796 67,319
Balance on December 31, 2021 - 13,909 56,733 70,642
Issuances - 647 - 647
Accretion of issue costs - - 676 676
Accrued interest - 735 3,539 4,274
Interest payments - (735) (3,688) (4,423)
Principal repayments - (2,470) - (2,470)
Exchange differences - (274) (3,637) (3,911)
Balance at December 31, 2022 - 11,812 53,623 65,435
Current portion of long-term debt and accrued interest - 2,561 745 3,306
Long-term debt - 9,251 52,878 62,129
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Revolving Credit Facility

On February 12, 2021, the Company entered into a C$25.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility with RBC (the “ RBC
Facility”), replacing the Previous RBC Facility. Under the RBC Facility, the Company is able to borrow up to a maximum of 90% of
investment grade or insured accounts receivable plus 85% of eligible accounts receivable plus the lesser of 75% of the book value of
eligible inventory and 85% of the net orderly liquidation value of eligible inventory less any reserves for potential prior ranking claims
(the “Borrowing Base”). At December 31, 2022, available borrowings are C$7.2 million ($5.3 million), of which no amounts have
been drawn. Interest is calculated at the Canadian or U.S. prime rate plus 30 basis points or at the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate or
LIBOR plus 155 basis points. Under the RBC Facility, if the Aggregate Excess Availability, defined as the Borrowing Base less any
loan advances or letters of credit or guarantee and if undrawn including unrestricted cash, is less than C$5.0 million, the Company is
subject to a FCCR covenant of 1.10:1 on a trailing twelve month basis. Additionally, if the FCCR has been above 1.10:1 for the 3
immediately preceding months, the Company is required to maintain a reserve account equal to the aggregate of one-year of payments
on the Leasing Facilities (defined below). The Company did not meet the 3 month FCCR requirement during the fourth quarter of
2022 which would result in requiring the restriction of $3.4 million of cash at December 31, 2022. Should an event of default occur or
the Aggregate Excess Availability be less than C$6.25 million for 5 consecutive business days, the Company would enter a cash
dominion period whereby the Company’s bank accounts would be blocked by RBC and daily balances will set-off any borrowings and
any remaining amounts made available to the Company.

On February 9, 2023, the Company extended the RBC Facility (the “Extended RBC Facility”). The Extended RBC Facility has
an borrowing base of C$15 million and a one year term. Interest is calculated as at the Canadian or U.S. prime rate plus 75 basis
points or at the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate or LIBOR plus 200 basis points. Under the Extended RBC Facility, until such time that
the trailing twelve month FCCR is above 1.25 for three consecutive months, a cash balance equivalent to 1-years worth of Leasing
Facilities payments must be maintained.

Leasing Facilities

The Company has a C$5.0 million equipment leasing facility in Canada (the “Canada Leasing Facility”’) and a $14.0 million
equipment leasing facility in the United States (the “U.S. Leasing Facility” and, together with the Canada Leasing Facility, the
“Leasing Facilities”) with RBC, and one of its affiliates, which are available for equipment expenditures and certain equipment
expenditures already incurred. The Leasing Facilities, respectively, have seven and five-year terms and bear interest at 4.25% and
5.59%. The U.S. Leasing Facility is amortized over a six-year term and extendable at the Company’s option for an additional year.

During 2022, the Company received $nil (2021 - $9.8 million) of cash consideration under the U.S. leasing facility related to
reimbursements for equipment purchases for its South Carolina Facility. During 2022, the Company received C$0.9 million ($0.7
million) (2021 - $nil) of cash consideration under the leasing facility in Canada. The associated financial liabilities are shown on the
consolidated balance sheet in current other liabilities and long-term debt and other liabilities.

Convertible Debentures

On January 25, 2021, the Company completed a C$35 million ($27.5 million) bought-deal financing of convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures with a syndicate of underwriters (the "January Debentures"). On January 29, 2021, the Company issued a
further C$5.25 million ($4.1 million) of the January Debentures under the terms of an overallotment option granted to the
underwriters. These January Debentures will mature and be repayable on January 31, 2026 (the “January Debentures Maturity Date”)
and will accrue interest at the rate of 6.00% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on the last day of January and July of each
year commencing on July 31, 2021 until the January Debentures Maturity Date, interest and principal are payable in cash or shares at
the option of the Company. These January Debentures will be convertible into common shares of DIRTT, at the option of the holder,
at any time prior to the close of business on the business day prior to the earlier of the January Debentures Maturity Date and the date
specified by the Company for redemption of these January Debentures at a conversion price of C$4.65 per common share, being a
ratio of approximately 215.0538 common shares per C$1,000 principal amount of the January Debentures. Costs of the transaction
were approximately C$2.7 million, including the underwriters” commission.

On November 15, 2021, the Company completed a C$35 million ($27.4 million) bought-deal financing of convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures with a syndicate of underwriters (the “December Debentures” and, together with the January Debentures, the
“Debentures”). These convertible debentures will mature and be repayable on December 31, 2026 (the “December Debentures
Maturity Date”) and will accrue interest at the rate of 6.25% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on the last day of June and
December of each year commencing on June 30, 2022 until the December Debentures Maturity Date, interest and principal are
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payable in cash or shares at the option of the Company. These December Debentures will be convertible into common shares of
DIRTT, at the option of the holder, at any time prior to the close of business on the business day prior to the earlier of the December
Debentures Maturity Date and the date specified by the Company for redemption of the December Debentures at a conversion price of
C$4.20 per common share, being a ratio of approximately 238.0952 common shares per C$1,000 principal amount of the December
Debentures. Costs of the transaction were approximately C$2.3 million including the underwriters’ commission.

15. INCOME TAXES
Reconciliation of income taxes

The following reconciles income taxes calculated at the Canadian statutory rate with the actual income tax expense. The
Canadian statutory rate includes federal and provincial income taxes. This rate was used because Canada is the domicile of the parent
entity of the Company.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Net loss before tax (54,942) (53,872) (9,194)
Canadian statutory rate 24.4% 23.3% 24.2%
Expected income tax (13,406) (12,552) (2,225)
Effect on taxes resulting from:
Valuation allowance 13,590 12,046 5,241
Non-deductible expenses 422 542 261
Non-deductible stock-based compensation 23 189 269
Tax rate impacts (665) (488) (1,288)
Adjustments related to prior year tax filings 57 59 (105)
Other - - (49)
Income tax expense (recovery) 21 (204) 2,104
Current tax expense (recovery) 21 210 (3,521)
Deferred tax expense (recovery) - (414) 5,625
Income tax expense (recovery) 21 (204) 2,104

The provision for income taxes is comprised of federal, state, provincial and foreign taxes based on pre-tax income. In the
United States, the CARES Act of 2020 allows, among other provisions, for the recovery of taxes paid over the preceding five years
from current year losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

At December 31, 2022
Assets Liabilities Net
Operating losses 33,740 - 33,740
Research and development expenditures 336 - 336
Property and equipment - (6,017) (6,017)
Capitalized software and other assets - (1,599) (1,599)
Valuation allowance - (29,812) (29,812)
Other 3,352 - 3,352
Net deferred taxes 37,428 (37,428) -
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Operating losses

Research and development expenditures

Property and equipment

Capitalized software and other assets
Valuation allowance

Other

Net deferred taxes

At December 31, 2021

Summary of temporary difference movements during the year:

Operating losses

Research and development expenditures

Property and equipment

Capitalized software and other assets
Valuation allowance

Other

Net deferred taxes

Operating losses

Research and development expenditures

Property and equipment

Capitalized software and other assets
Valuation allowance

Other

Net deferred taxes

Assets Liabilities Net
24,032 - 24,032
362 - 362
- (7,572) (7,572)
- (2,023) (2,023)
(17,291) - (17,291)
2,492 2,492
7,103 (7,103) -
Balance Recognized Foreign Balance
January 1, 2022 in Income Exchange December 31, 2022
24,032 10,924 (1,216) 33,740
362 3) (23) 336
(7,572) 1,410 145 (6,017)
(2,023) 311 113 (1,599)
(17,291) (13,590) 1,069 (29,812)
2,492 948 (88) 3,352
Balance Recognized Foreign Balance
January 1, 2021 in Income Exchange December 31, 2021
9,528 14,542 (38) 24,032
360 87) 89 362
(4,588) (2,844) (140) (7,572)
(2,218) 209 (14) (2,023)
(5,330) (12,046) 85 (17,291)
1,834 640 18 2,492
(414) 414 - -

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded valuation allowances of $13.6 million against deferred tax assets
(“DTAs”) incurred during the year as the Company has experienced cumulative losses in recent years (December 31, 2021 —$12.0
million). Although earnings were positive in 2019, ongoing near-term uncertainties on the business caused by the COVID-19
pandemic and the related decline in business activity impacted the Company’s ability to generate earnings. Accordingly, it is not more

likely than not that the Company’s DTAs will be utilized in the near term.

The amount shown on the balance sheet as deferred income tax liabilities represent the net differences between the tax basis and

book carrying values on the Company’s balance sheet at enacted tax rates.

On an annual basis the Company and its subsidiaries file tax returns in Canada and various foreign jurisdictions. In Canada, the
Company’s federal and provincial tax returns for the years 2019 to 2021 remain subject to examination by taxation authorities. In the
United States, both the federal and state tax returns filed for the years 2018 to 2021 remain subject to examination by the taxation

authorities.
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Tax loss carryforwards and other tax pools

The significant components of the Company’s net future income tax deductions in these consolidated financial statements are

summarized as follows:

2022 2021 2022 2021
CS CS$ $ $
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 106,730 64,961 55,654 42,220
Undepreciated capital costs 9,207 12,267 9,765 10,268
Share issuance costs 3,603 - - -
Smeqhﬁc rfesearch and experimental development 1,971 1.971 ) )
tax incentives
Total future tax deductions 121,511 79,199 65,419 52,488

16. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

In May 2020, shareholders approved the DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2020 LTIP”) at
the annual and special meeting of shareholders. The 2020 LTIP gives the Company the ability to award options, share appreciation
rights, restricted share units, restricted shares, dividend equivalent rights granted in connection with restricted share units, vested share
awards, and other share-based awards and cash awards to eligible employees, officers, consultants and directors of the Company and
its affiliates. In accordance with the 2020 LTIP, the sum of (i) 5,850,000 common shares plus (ii) the number of common shares
subject to stock options previously granted under the Company’s Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “Stock
Option Plan”) that, following May 22, 2020, expire or are canceled or terminated without having been exercised in full have been
reserved for issuance under the 2020 LTIP. Upon vesting of certain LTIP awards, the Company may withhold and sell shares as a
means of meeting DIRTT’s tax withholding requirements in respect of the withholding tax remittances required in respect of award
holders. To the extent the fair value of the withheld shares upon vesting exceeds the grant date fair value of the instrument, the excess

amount is credited to retained earnings or deficit.

The change of 100% of the Board of Directors combined with the prior Board declining to endorse the incoming board
constituted a Change of a Control, under the terms of the 2020 LTIP, as of April 26, 2022. As a result, all outstanding and unvested
LTIP awards granted under the 2020 LTIP plan for any holder terminated without Cause within twelve (12) months following the

Change of Control vested immediately upon such termination.

The Company also maintains the DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. Deferred Share Unit Plan for Non-Employee Directors
pursuant to which deferred share units ("DSUs") are granted to the Company’s non-employee directors. DSUs are settled solely in

cash.

Prior to the approval of the 2020 LTIP, the Company granted awards of options under the Stock Option Plan and awards of
performance share units (“PSUs”) under the DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. Performance Share Unit Plan (the “PSU Plan”).
Following the approval of the 2020 LTIP, no further awards will be made under either the Stock Option Plan or the PSU Plan, but
both remain in place to govern the terms of any awards that were granted pursuant to such plans and remain outstanding

Stock-based compensation expense

Equity-settled awards
Cash-settled awards
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2022 2021 2020
3,943 4,453 1,832
334 260 519
4,277 4,713 2,351




The following summarizes RSUs (as defined below), Share awards, PSUs, and DSUs activity during the periods:

RSU Time- RSU Performance- Share
Based Based Awards PSU DSU
Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of
units units units units units
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 2,414,063 200,000 - 197,471 363,664
Granted 1,976,697 878,601 - - 144,969
Vested (661,775) (2,294) - (34,635) (147,056)
Withheld to settle employee tax obligations (174,103) (1,960) - - -
Forfeited (338,346) (52,608) - (5,636) -
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 3,216,536 1,021,739 - 157,200 361,577
Granted 2,157,149 863,279 222,170 - 1,305,658
Vested or settled (2,199,034) (796,011) (154,016) - (501,916)
Withheld to settle employee tax obligations (526,346) (242,460) (68,154) - -
Forfeited (762,968) (502,628) - - -
Expired - - - (157,200) -
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,885,337 343,919 - - 1,165,319

Restricted share units (time-based vesting)

Restricted share units that vest based on time have an aggregate time-based vesting period of three years and generally one-third
of the RSUs vest every year over a three-year period from the date of grant (the “RSU’s”). At the end of a three-year term, the
associated RSUs will be settled by way of the provision of cash or shares to employees (or a combination thereof), at the discretion of
the Company. The weighted average fair value of the RSUs granted in 2022 was C$2.37 (2021 — C$2.78) which was determined using
the closing price of the Company’s common shares on their respective grant dates.

Restricted share units (performance-based vesting)

During 2022 and 2021, restricted share units were granted to executives with service and performance-based conditions for
vesting (the “PRSUs”). If the Company’s share price increases to certain values for 20 consecutive trading days, as outlined below, a
percentage of the PRSUs will vest at the end of the three-year service period. All PRSUs awarded in 2020 were awarded to a single
executive who forfeited those awards in January 2022 upon departure from the Company.

The grant date fair value of the 2022 and 2021 PRSUs were valued using the Monte Carlo valuation method and determined to
have a weighted average grant date fair value of C$1.87 and C$3.27, respectively.

Based on share price performance since the date of grant, none of the 2022 PRSUs and 66.7% of the 2021 PRSUs will vest upon
completion of the three-year service period.

% of PRSUs Vesting
33.3% 66.7% 100.0% 150.0%

2022 and 2021 PRSUs $ 3.00  $ 400 S 500 $ 7.00

Share awards

During the first quarter of 2022, certain executives were issued share awards in lieu of cash paid variable incentive
compensation (“Share Awards”). These Share Awards vested upon grant. The fair value of the Share Awards granted was
C$2.40 ($1.88), which was determined using the closing price of the Company’s common shares on the grant date. In the fourth
quarter of 2022, 59,488 Share Awards were issued to employees as a component of their compensation.

During the third quarter of 2022, certain executives were provided a variable compensation plan for the achievement of certain
financial targets payable partially in cash and partially in share awards. Based on the Company's performance to date relative to the
financial targets, no share awards have been recorded under this compensation plan for the year ended December 31, 2022. Under the
plan, 1.3 million shares could have been awarded if the maximum targets were achieved based on the Company's share price at
December 31, 2022.

Deferred share units

The fair value of the liability and the corresponding expense is charged to profit or loss at the grant date. Subsequently, at each
reporting date between the grant date and settlement date, the fair value of the liability is remeasured with any changes in fair value
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recognized in profit or loss for the year. DSUs outstanding at December 31, 2022 had a fair value of $0.6 million which is included in
other liabilities on the balance sheet (2021 — $0.8 million).

Options

The following summarizes options granted, exercised, forfeited and expired during the periods:

Number of Weighted average
options exercise price C$
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 4,774,328 6.52
Forfeited or expired (709,839) 7.07
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 4,064,489 6.64
Forfeited or expired (2,584,420) 6.41
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,480,069 7.03
Exercisable at December 31, 2022 1,480,069 7.03
Range of exercise prices outstanding at December 31, 2022:
Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average average
Number remaining exercise Number remaining exercise
Range of exercise prices outstanding life price C$ exercisable life price C$
C$4.01 — C$6.00 15,025 1.89 4.12 15,025 1.89 4.12
C$6.01 — C$7.00 758,142 1.07 6.33 758,142 1.07 6.33
C$7.01 — C$8.00 706,902 1.37 7.84 706,902 1.37 7.84
Total 1,480,069 1,480,069
Range of exercise prices outstanding at December 31, 2021:
Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average average
Number remaining exercise Number remaining exercise
Range of exercise prices outstanding life price C$ exercisable life price C$
C$4.01 — C$6.00 22,537 2.89 4.12 15,025 2.89 4.12
C$6.01 — C$7.00 3,281,199 1.79 6.38 1,549,301 1.87 6.36
C$7.01 — C$8.00 760,753 2.37 7.84 515,153 2.37 7.84
Total 4,064,489 2,079,479

Dilutive instruments

For the year ended December 31, 2022, 1.5 million options (2021 — 4.1 million, 2020 — 4.8 million) and 2.2 million RSUs and
PRSUs (2021 — 3.4 million, 2020 - 2.7 million) and 109.1 million shares which would be issued if the principal amount of the
Debentures were settled in our common shares at the year end share price (2021- 27.4 million and 2020 - nil) were excluded from the
diluted weighted average number of common shares calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive to the net loss per share.
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17. REVENUE

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by performance obligation and timing of revenue recognition. All revenue
comes from contracts with customers. See Note 18 for the disaggregation of revenue by geographic region.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Product 147,448 129,031 150,004
Transportation 18,030 13,231 15,491
License fees from Construction Partners 778 738 1,194
Total product revenue 166,256 143,000 166,689
Installation and other services 5,905 4,593 4,818
172,161 147,593 171,507

DIRTT sells its products and services pursuant to fixed-price contracts which generally have a term of one year or less. The
transaction price used in determining the amount of revenue to recognize from fixed-price contracts is based upon agreed contractual
terms with each customer and is not subject to variability.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
At a point in time 165,478 142,262 165,495
Over time 6,683 5,331 6,012
172,161 147,593 171,507

Revenue recognized at a point in time represents the majority of the Company’s sales. Revenue is recognized when a customer
obtains legal title to the product, which is when ownership of the product is transferred to, or services are delivered to, the customer.
Revenue recognized over time is limited to installation and ongoing maintenance contracts with customers and is recorded as
performance obligations are satisfied over the term of the contract.

Contract Liabilities
As at December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Customer deposits 4,458 1,959 1,292
Deferred revenue 408 461 527
Contract liabilities 4,866 2,420 1,819

Contract liabilities primarily relate to deposits received from customers and maintenance revenue from license subscriptions.
The balance of contract liabilities was higher as at December 31, 2022 compared to the prior year period mainly due to the timing of
orders and payments. Contract liabilities as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, totaling $2.4 million and $1.8 million were
recognized as revenue during 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Sales by Industry

The Company periodically reviews product revenue by industry vertical market to evaluate trends and the success of industry
specific sales initiatives. The nature of products sold to the various industries is consistent and therefore the periodic review is focused
on sales performance.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Commercial 115,102 84,488 102,245
Healthcare 19,739 30,130 35,400
Government 16,564 16,012 14,128
Education 14,073 11,632 13,722
License fees from Construction Partners 778 738 1,194
Total product and transportation revenue 166,256 143,000 166,689
Installation and other services 5,905 4,593 4,818

172,161 147,593 171,507
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18. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has one reportable and operating segment and operates in two principal geographic locations, Canada and the
United States. Revenue continues to be derived almost exclusively from projects in North America and predominantly from the United
States. The Company’s revenue from operations from external customers, based on location of operations, and information about its
non-current assets, is detailed below.

Revenue from external customers

For the Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Canada 25,477 17,299 18,848
U.S. 146,684 130,294 152,659
172,161 147,593 171,507

Non-current assets

As at December 31,

2022 2021
Canada 28,251 34,912
US. 53,277 60,723
81,528 95,635

19. COMMITMENTS

As at December 31, 2022, the Company had outstanding purchase obligations of approximately $2.2 million related to inventory
and property, plant and equipment purchases (December 31, 2021 — $3.7 million). Refer to Note 7 for lease commitments.

20. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is pursuing multiple lawsuits against its former founders, Mogens Smed and Barrie Loberg, their new company
Falkbuilt Ltd. (“Falkbuilt”), and other related individual and corporate defendants for violations of fiduciary duties and non-
competition and non-solicitation covenants contained in their executive employment agreements, and the misappropriation of
DIRTT’s confidential and proprietary information in violation of numerous Canadian and U.S. state, and federal laws pertaining to the
protection of DIRTT’s trade secrets and proprietary information and the prevention of false advertising and deceptive trade practices.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s litigation against Falkbuilt, Messrs. Smed and Loberg, and their associates was
comprised of four main lawsuits: (i) an action in the Alberta Court of Queen’s Bench instituted on May 9, 2019 against Falkbuilt,
Messrs. Smed and Loberg, and several other former DIRTT employees alleging breaches of restrictive covenants, fiduciary duties, and
duties of loyalty, fidelity and confidentiality, and the misappropriation of DIRTT’s confidential information (the “Canadian Non-
Compete Case”); (ii) an action in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Utah instituted on December 11, 2019 against
Falkbuilt, Smed, and other individual and corporate defendants alleging misappropriation of DIRTT’s confidential information, trade
secrets, business intelligence and customer information (the “Utah Misappropriation Case”); and (iii) an action in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Texas instituted on June 24, 2021 alleging that Falkbuilt has unlawfully used DIRTT’s confidential
information in the United States and intentionally caused confusion in the United States in an attempt to steal customers,
opportunities, and business intelligence, with the aim of establishing a competing business in the United States market (the “Texas
Unfair Competition Case”). DIRTT intends to pursue the cases vigorously.

Falkbuilt also filed a lawsuit against the Company on November 5, 2019 in the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, alleging that
DIRTT has misappropriated and misused their alleged proprietary information in furtherance of DIRTT’s product development.
Falkbuilt seeks monetary relief and an interim, interlocutory and permanent injunction of DIRTT’s alleged use of the alleged
proprietary information. The Company believes that the suit is without merit and filed an application for summary judgment to dismiss
Falkbuilt’s claim.

No amounts are accrued for the above legal proceedings.
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21. PRIVATE PLACEMENT AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On November 30, 2022, the Company closed a private placement of 8,667,449 common shares for aggregate gross
consideration of $2.8 million (the “Private Placement™) with its two largest shareholders, 22 NW Fund, LP (“*22NW”) and 726 BC
LLC and 726 BF LLC (together “726”) and all the directors and officers, including 638,996 Common Shares issued at the deemed per
share price equal to the Subscription Price, as reimbursement for the costs incurred by 726 in connection with the Company’s
contested director elections in 2022. In addition, in connection with the Private Placement, the two shareholders, or their principals,
have irrevocably committed to backstopping any rights offering occurring by the Company in the twelve months following the Private
Placement in the aggregate amount of $2.0 million.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer carried out an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2022. Based
upon their evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were effective.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) under the Exchange Act, as amended. Our management conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the 2013 framework in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO framework) to evaluate the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Management believes that the COSO framework is a suitable framework for
its evaluation of financial reporting because it is free from bias, permits reasonably consistent qualitative and quantitative
measurements of our internal control over financial reporting, is sufficiently complete so that those relevant factors that would alter a
conclusion about the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting are not omitted and is relevant to an evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting.

Based on its evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, our management concluded that the
Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting at a reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2022, based
on those criteria.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) under
the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2022, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our
information circular and proxy statement (“proxy statement”) related to the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to
file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy
statement related to the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our
fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy
statement related to the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our
fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy
statement related to the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our
fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy
statement related to the 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our
fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of the report:

(M

(@)

3

Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets, as at December 31, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted as they are either not required or not applicable or the required information is included in
the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

See Item 15(b)

(b) Exhibits:

Exhibit
No. Exhibit or Financial Statement Schedule

3.1 Restated Articles of Amalgamation of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaw No.1 of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on May 22. 2020).

4.1 Description of Registrant’s Securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on February 26, 2020).

4.2 Base Indenture, dated January 25, 2021, by and among DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd., Computershare Trust
Company of Canada and Computershare Trust Company, National Association as Trustees (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on January 29, 2021).

43 Supplemental Indenture, dated January 25, 2021, by and among the Company, Computershare Trust Company of
Canada and Computershare Trust Company, National Association as Trustees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on January 29, 2021).

4.4 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated December 1, 2021, by and among the Company, Computershare Trust
Company of Canada and Computershare Trust Company, National Association as Trustees (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on December 1, 2021).
4.5 Rights Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2021, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and
Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as rights agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on December 8, 2021).
10.1+# Loan Agreement, dated February 12, 2021, by and among the Royal Bank of Canada, DIRTT Environmental Solutions
Ltd. and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc., as borrowers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K. File No. 001-39061, filed on February 19, 2021).
10.2+# First Amendment and Consent to Loan Agreement, dated November 15, 2021, by and among the Royal Bank of

Canada, as lender, and DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc., as borrowers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed
on November 23, 2021).
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10.8+

10.9+

10.10+
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10.12+

10.13+

10.14+

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

Amended and Restated Incentive Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061. filed on September 20, 2019).

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K. File No. 001-39061, filed on May 22, 2020).

Form of Option Award Agreement Under the DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. Long-Term Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8. File No. 333-238689,
filed on May 26, 2020).

Form of Time-Based Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement Under the DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. Long-
Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8.
File No. 333-238689, filed on May 26, 2020).

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. 2022 Employee Share Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No. 001-39061, filed on May 4, 2022).

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement Under the DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
S-8, File No. 333-238689, filed on May 26. 2020).

Deferred Share Unit Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061. filed on September 20, 2019).

DIRTT Environmental Solutions I.td. Amended and Restated Employee Share Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-234143, filed on October

9,2019).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated September 8, 2018, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
and Kevin O’Meara (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10,
File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated July 4, 2018, by and between DIRTT Environmental
Solutions Ltd. and Geoffrey Krause (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated February 27, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.
and Jeffrey A. Calkins (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated January 15. 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and
Mark Greffen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File
No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Employment Agreement, dated August 31, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Jennifer

Warawa (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No.
001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Employment Agreement, dated March 13, 2020, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc. and Charles R.
Kraus (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061, filed on May 6,

2020).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated May 1., 2019 by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and
Jeffrey Metcalf (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061, filed on

July 27, 2022).
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Executive Employment Agreement, dated June 22, 2022 by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and

Benjamin Urban (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061, filed

on July 27, 2022).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated August 12, 2022, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Inc. and
Richard Hunter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061, filed on
November 14, 2022).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated August 17, 2022, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Inc. and
Bradley Little (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q. File No. 001-39061, filed on
November 14, 2022).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated December 24, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd
and Nandini Somayaji (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q. File No. 001-39061,
filed on November 14, 2022).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated October 19, 2022, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd and
Jeff Dopheide (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061, filed on
November 14, 2022).

Indemnity Agreement, dated August 1, 2020, between the Company and Shauna R. King, together with a schedule
identifying other substantially identical agreements between the Company and each of the other persons identified on
the schedule (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, File No.
001-39061, filed on February 24, 2021).

Indemnity Agreement, dated April 26, 2022, between the Company and Douglas A. Edwards, together with a schedule
identifying other substantially identical agreements between the Company and each of the other persons identified on
the schedule (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q File No.
001-39061, filed on May 4, 2022).

Indemnity Agreement, dated June 22, 2022, between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd and Benjamin Urban,
together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the Company and each of the

other persons identified on the schedule (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q, File
No. 001-39061, filed on July 27, 2022).

Indemnity Agreement, dated August 11, 2022, between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd and Richard Hunter,
together with a schedule identifying other substantially identical agreements between the Company and each of the
other persons identified on the schedule (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q, File
No. 001-39061, filed on November 14, 2022).

Indemnity Agreement, dated November 15, 2022, between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd and Jeff Dopheide

Industrial Lease, dated September 15, 2012, by and between Piret (7303-30th Street SE) Holdings Inc. and DIRTT
Environmental Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Agreement of Lease, dated November 5, 2013, by and between Dundee Industrial Twofer (GP) Inc. and DIRTT
Environmental Solutions Ltd., as amended by the Lease Amending Agreement, dated October 21, 2016, by and
between Dream Industrial Twofer (GP) Inc. (formerly known as Dundee Industrial Twofer (GP) Inc.) and DIRTT
Environmental Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Lease of Industrial Space, dated February 12, 2015, by and between Hoopp Realty Inc./Les Immeubles Hoopp Inc., by
its duly authorized agent, Triovest Realty Advisors Inc., and DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd., as amended by the

Amendment of Lease, dated April 16, 2015, the Lease Modification Agreement, dated October 27, 2015, the Third
Amendment of Lease, dated November 12, 2015, and the Fourth Amendment of Lease, dated January 8, 2016
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061,
filed on September 20. 2019).
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Lease Agreement, dated March 29, 2011, by and between EastGroup Properties, L.P. and DIRTT Environmental
Solutions, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File
No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Lease, dated July 1, 2015, by and between Majik Ventures, L.L.C. and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc., as
amended by the First Amendment to Lease, dated May 11, 2017, by and between CAM Investment 352 LLC and
DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061, filed on September 20, 2019).

Industrial Lease Agreement, dated October 2, 2008, by and between 141 Knowlton Way, LLC and DIRTT
Environmental Solutions, Inc., as amended by the First Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement, dated March 11,
2009, and the Second Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement, dated August 23, 2018, by and between SH7-

Savannah, LLC and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 001-39061. filed on September 20, 2019).

Lease Agreement, dated October 7, 2019, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc. and SP Rock Hill
Legacy East #1, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061,
filed on November 7, 2019).

Second Amendment to Lease made as of the 6th day of July, 2020, by and between SP ROCK HILL LEGACY EAST
#1, LLC, an Indiana limited liability company, and DIRTT ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS, INC., a Colorado
corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061, filed on July

29, 2020).

Lease Agreement between Tennyson Campus Owner, LP and DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc. dated March 4,
2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q, File No. 001-39061, filed on May 6,

2020).

Lease Amending Agreement, dated April 6, 2022, by and between Piret (7303 - 30th Street SE) Holdings Inc. and

DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 10-Q, File No.
001-39061, filed on July 27, 2022).

Letter Agreement, dated as of January 18, 2022, by and between Todd W. Lillibridge and DIRTT Environmental
Solutions Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on
January 19, 2022).

Letter Agreement, dated January 7, 2021, by and among DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd., DIRTT Environmental
Solutions, Inc. and Royal Bank of Canada (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K., File No. 001-39061, filed on January 13, 2021).

Indemnification Agreement, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions [.td. and James A. Lynch, dated March

22,2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-
39061, filed on March 23, 2021).

Indemnification Agreement, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions I.td. and Diana R. Rhoten, dated March
22,2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, File No. 001-

39061, filed on March 23, 2021).

Subscription Agreement, dated November 14, 2022, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and 22NW
Fund, LP, together with a schedule identifying substantially identical agreements between DIRTT Environmental
Solutions Ltd. and each sharcholder and U.S. director and executive officer listed on the schedule and identifying the
material differences between each of those agreements and the filed Subscription Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on November 18, 2022).

Subscription Agreement, dated November 14, 2022, by and between DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd. and Mark
Greffen, together with a together with a schedule identifying substantially identical agreements between DIRTT
Environmental Solutions Ltd. and each shareholder and Canadian executive officer listed on the schedule and
identifying the material differences between each of those agreements and the filed Subscription Agreement
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(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Form 8-K. File No. 001-39061, filed on November 18,
2022).

Release, dated November 30, 2022, by and among DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd., 726 BC LLC and 726 BF
LLC ((incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Form 8-K, File No. 001-39061, filed on November

30, 2022).

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated February 9, 2023, by and among DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.,

DIRTT Environmental Solutions, Inc. and Royal Bank of Canada.

Subsidiaries of DIRTT Environmental Solutions Ltd.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers, L.L.P., independent registered public accounting firm.

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer required by 18 U.S.C. 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer required by 18 U.S.C. 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Inline XBRL Instance Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.

+ Compensatory plan or agreement.

# Information in this exhibit identified by brackets is confidential and has been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation
S-K because it is not material and is the type of information that the Company customarily treats as private or confidential. An
unredacted copy of this exhibit will be furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission on a supplemental basis upon request.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

DIRTT ENVIRONMENTAL SOLUTIONS LTD.

Date: February 22, 2023 By: /s/ Benjamin Urban

Name: Benjamin Urban
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Benjamin Urban Chief Executive Officer and Director February 22, 2023
Benjamin Urban (Principal Executive Olfficer)
/s/ Bradley S. Little Chief Financial Officer February 22, 2023
Bradley S. Little (Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Olfficer)
/s/ Ken Sanders Director February 22, 2023
Ken Sanders
/s/ Douglas Edwards Director February 22, 2023
Douglas Edwards
/s/ Aron English Director February 22, 2023
Aron English
/s/ Cory Mitchell Director February 22, 2023
Cory Mitchell
/s/ Shaun Noll Director February 22, 2023
Shaun Noll
/s/ Scott Ryan Director February 22, 2023
Scott Ryan
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